TORBAY COUNCIL

Tuesday, 27 February 2024
Meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board

Thursday, 7 March 2024

2.00 pm

Banking Hall, Castle Circus entrance on the left corner of the Town Hall, Castle Circus,
Torquay, TQ1 3DR

Members of the Board

Councillor David Thomas (Chairman)

Councillor Hayley Tranter

Councillor Nick Bye

Pat Teague, Ageing Well Assembly

Alison Brewer, Primary Care Representative

Tara Harris, Divisional Director of Community and Customer Services
Pat Harris, Healthwatch Torbay

Matt Fox, NHS Devon Clinical Commissioning Group

Jo Williams, Director of Adults Services

Adel Jones, Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust

Nancy Meehan, Director Children's Services

Lincoln Sargeant, Director of Public Health

Chris Forster, Torbay Community Development Trust

Tanny Stobart, Imagine This Partnership (Representing the Voluntary Children and Young
People Sector)

Anthony Reilly, Devon NHS Partnership Trust

Paul Northcott, Adult Safeguarding Board

Roy Linden, Devon and Cornwall Police

Paul Phillips, Department for Work and Pensions

Download this agenda via the free modern.gov app on your iPad, Android Device
or Blackberry Playbook. For information relating to this meeting or to request a
copy in another format or language please contact:

Governance Support, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR

Email: governance.support@torbay.gov.uk - www.torbay.gov.uk

(1)



https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB
mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk
http://www.torbay.gov.uk/

3(a)

3(b)

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
AGENDA

Apologies
To receive any apologies for absence, including notifications of any
changes to the membership of the Committee.

Minutes
To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the Health and
Wellbeing Board held on 14 December 2023.

Declaration of interest

To receive declarations of non pecuniary interests in respect of
items on this agenda

For reference: Having declared their non pecuniary interest
Members may remain in the meeting and speak and, vote on the
matter in question. A completed disclosure of interests form should
be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting.

To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in
respect of items on this agenda

For reference: Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary
interest he/she must leave the meeting during consideration of the
item. However, the Member may remain in the meeting to make
representations, answer questions or give evidence if the public
have a right to do so, but having done so the Member must then
immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and must not
improperly seek to influence the outcome of the matter. A
completed disclosure of interests form should be returned to the
Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting.

(Please Note: If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on any
potential interests they may have, they should contact Governance
Support or Legal Services prior to the meeting.)

Urgent items
To consider any other items that the Chairman decides are urgent.

Devon, Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Annual
Assurance Report 2022/23

To consider the Devon, Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Health
Protection Annual Assurance Report 2022/23.

(Note: to be presented by Julia Chisnell, Consultant in Public

Health, Torbay Council and Mandy Guy, Public Health Specialist,
Torbay Council).

(2)

(Pages 4 - 11)

(Pages 12 - 80)



10.

1.

12.

Torbay Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
To consider the Torbay Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 6

monthly monitoring reports.

(Note: to be presented by Julia Chisnell, Consultant in Public

Health, Torbay Council).

Greener Way for Our Bay - consultation on new Torbay
framework and action plan to tackle climate change

To receive a verbal update and presentation provided by Andrew
Gunther, Principal Planning and Public Health Officer, Torbay
Council and Jacqui Warren, Principal Climate Emergency Officer,

Torbay Council.

A Greener Way for Our Bay Framework and Action Plan and the
Consultation Website and Survey Response form can be found at:

https://torbaycouncil.ntropydata.co.uk/project/159b27a9-7fd1-489f-

9678-f2bd8921c561

Joint Forward Plan Update

To receive a presentation and update on the Joint Forward Plan.

(Note: to be presented Jenny Turner, Programme Director, NHS

Devon).

Integrated Care Board and Local Care Partnerships Business

Programme update

To receive a verbal update provided by Derek Blackford, Locality

Director (South and West), NHS Devon.

Establishment of Devon LCP South Engagement Sub-Group
"Community and Development Learning"

To receive a verbal update provided by Chris Winfield, Associate
Director for Strategy and Provider Partnerships, Torbay and South
Devon NHS Trust and Kevin Dixon, Chairman, Healthwatch.

Turning the Tide on Poverty/Cost of Living update

To receive a verbal update provided by Lincoln Sargeant, Director
of Public Health, Torbay Council and Jo Williams, Director of Adult
and Community Services, Torbay Council.

Risk Register

To receive an update on the Risk Register.

(Note: presented by Lincoln Sargeant, Director of Public Health,

Torbay Council).

®3)

(Pages 81 - 137)

(Pages 138 - 238)

(Pages 239 - 241)


https://torbaycouncil.ntropydata.co.uk/project/159b27a9-7fd1-489f-9678-f2bd8921c561
https://torbaycouncil.ntropydata.co.uk/project/159b27a9-7fd1-489f-9678-f2bd8921c561

Agenda Item 2
TORBAY COUNCIL

Minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board
14 December 2023
-: Present :-

Pat Harris, Matt Fox, Jo Williams, Lincoln Sargeant, Tanny Stobart, Paul Northcott, Roy
Linden, Councillor Nick Bye, Councillor David Thomas and Councillor Hayley Tranter

35. Apologies

Apologies for absence were received from Adel Jones, Torbay and South Devon
NHS Trust who was represented by Chris Winfield and Sarah Newham,
Department for Work and Pensions, who was represented by Paul Phillips.

36. Minutes

The Minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board held on 28 September 2023 were
confirmed as correct and signed by the Chairman.

37. Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme 2024

The Director of Public Health, Torbay Council introduced the submitted report which
outlined the Work Programme and workshops for the Health and Wellbeing Board
for 2024.

The Board was informed that the work programme currently set out five areas of
focus across the Health and Wellbeing Strategy which also included cross cutting
themes. In addition, the programme included statutory reports for endorsement by
the Board. Additional items could be added to the work programme if necessary
during the year. In addition, development workshops would be held to spotlight
progress and activity around key areas from the Joint Health and Wellbeing
Strategy.

Members resolved by consensus that the Health and Wellbeing Board:

1. endorse the Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme for 2024 as set
out in the submitted report.

38. Suicide Action Prevention Plan
Rachel Bell, Public Health Specialist, Torbay Council outlined the submitted report
which sought to provide a summary of the new National Suicide Prevention
Strategy 2023 — 2028 together with local intelligence and a summary of the new
local Suicide Prevention Action Plan 2024 — 2027.

The Board was informed that there was a large difference between male and
female rates of suicide and that during the pandemic, there was not an increase but

Page 4



Health and Wellbeing Board Thursday, 14 December 2023

we had now returned to pre-pandemic levels. However, despite seeing a stabilising
of rates in recent years, Torbay remains the fourth highest Local Authority area for
suicide rates.

The aim of the national Strategy 2023-28 was to:

e reduce the suicide rate over the next 5 years;
e improve support for people who have self-harmed;
e improve support for people bereaved by suicide.

The priority areas for action were identified as:

e improving data and evidence to ensure that effective, evidence-informed and
timely interventions continue to be adapted;

e providing tailored, targeted support to priority groups, including those at
higher risk;

e addressing common risk factors linked to suicide at population level by
providing early intervention and tailored support;

e promoting online safety and responsible media content to reduce harms,
improve support and signposting and provide helpful messages about
suicide and self-harm.

It was explained that the priority groups related to children and young people;
people who have self-harmed; people in contact with mental health services; those
in contact with the justice system; autistic people and pregnant women and new
mothers. Common risk factors had been identified such as physical illness;
financial difficulty; gambling; alcohol and drug misuse; social isolation and
loneliness and domestic abuse.

The Board was informed that it was essential to provide effective crisis support to
help those individuals who had reached crisis point and it was also important to
reduce access to the means and methods of suicide. Effective bereavement
support to those affected by suicide was also identified as significant and to make
suicide everyone’s business so that the collective impact could be maximised to
prevent suicides.

In terms of the Suicide Action Prevention Plan, a local priority setting event had
been held in July 2023 which had proven very successful with over fifty multi-
agency partners in attendance. The Torbay Mental Health and Suicide Prevention
Alliance and multi-agency partners agreed the draft Suicide Prevention Action Plan,
the main aim of which was to continue the consistent downward trajectory towards
the regional average with action areas concentrated on ensuring mental health and
emotional support was accessible to all together with acknowledging and working
with Torbay’s risk factors for suicide and pooling resources to reduce suicide. The
approach going forward was to establish Task and Finish Groups who would
prioritise collaborative actions to take forward and report to the Torbay Suicide
Prevention Plan Group quarterly. The Action Plan would be refreshed and refined
in the later part of 2024.

Page 5



Health and Wellbeing Board Thursday, 14 December 2023

39.

The Board was also informed that:

e there was close work underway with the voluntary and community sector
through the Suicide Prevention Alliance, including community builders;

e support was available to schools for prevention work and in managing any
cases that may arise;

e the disparity between risk factors for Torbay when compared with Plymouth
may be due to the fact that Plymouth’s prevention plan had been in place for
longer, but that Torbay and Plymouth were working closely to share learning;

e a multi-organisational approach, sharing information was essential;

e currently a trauma informed approach is being adopted by the suicide
prevention plan and this feeds into the broader focus area the Strategy of
Mental Health with work carried out around the positive aspects of
prevention and wellbeing.

By consensus the Board resolved that:

1. the progress since last year’s Suicide Prevention Action Plan be noted;
2. the new multi-agency Suicide Prevention Action Plan be endorsed; and
3. Board members’ respective organisations be invited to contribute towards

the multi-agency actions as set out in the Local Suicide Prevention Action
Plan 2024 — 2027.

Torbay and South Devon Adult Safeguarding Partnership Annual Report

Paul Northcott, Chair of Torbay and South Devon Safeguarding Adults Board
introduced the submitted report and explained that the Care Act 2014 required the
Safeguarding Adults Board (“SAB”) to publish an annual report detailing work
carried out by the SAB during the year to achieve its main objective and implement
its strategic plan together with details of what each member had done to implement
the strategy and the findings of any safeguarding adults’ reviews and subsequent
actions.

Members were informed that the report covered the period 2022 — 2023 and had
been submitted to the Board for information; had already been sanctioned by the
Partnership Board and would also be submitted to other forums for information.

It was explained that the report was split into ten sections covering purpose; scope;
membership and key data relating to adult safeguarding, for example. The report
illustrated the progress made over the last 12 months and highlighted the value of
the partnership and work undertaken. Priorities would be renewed in the coming
year and on an annual basis. For this year the partnership had made a conscious
decision to focus on the progression and completion of safeguarding adult reviews
which played an integral part of the assurance process and allowed the partnership
to work with frontline staff, managers and families to identify areas of improvement
and best practice.

The Board was informed that the strong local partnership between Torbay and
Devon had resulted in sharing best practice and learning.

Page 6



Health and Wellbeing Board Thursday, 14 December 2023

40.

By consensus the Board resolved that:

1. The Torbay and South Devon Adult Safeguarding Partnership (“TDSAP”)
Annual Report 2022/23 and the requirement to publish the report be noted.

Children's Safeguarding Partnership Annual Report

Shaun Evans, Head of Service, Safeguarding, Early Help and Business Intelligence
and Neil Cotton Business Manager Torbay Safeguarding Children Partnership
introduced the submitted report which provided an annual update for 2022—2023. It
was a statutory requirement for the report to be submitted to the Health and
Wellbeing Board, although it had already been sanctioned by the Partnership’s
Executive.

The report concentrated upon the following areas:

the current governance arrangements and structure of the partnership;

the role of the independent scrutineer;

e the priority areas of focus for the partnership;
¢ the financial arrangements;

¢ the local background and context;

e any statutory reviews and audits that have taken place and the impacts of
these;

e child death overview arrangements;
e learning and development; and
o allegations that have taken place against people that work with children.

Members were informed that due to the date range, the report also contained an
update on the impact of Covid-19 on Torbay Safeguarding Children Partnership
activity that took place during this time.

It was explained that the four key priority areas were:

e to reduce the level of child neglect in the Torbay areas and challenge the
causes of local neglect to prevent re-occurrences;

e to prevent child exploitation and sexual harm within the Torbay area and to
ensure the safety of all children, resident or visiting Torbay, from these forms
of abuse;

e to prevent children in Torbay from being harmed by the effects of domestic
abuse;

e to ensure that children in Torbay receive appropriate mental health support
at their time of need and that this support dovetails with any other care
planning needs of the child.

Page 7



Health and Wellbeing Board Thursday, 14 December 2023

41.

Whilst a lot of progress had been made against the key priorities, it was
acknowledged that there was still progress to be made in respect of the mental
health priority.

The Board acknowledged the importance of both statutory and non-statutory
agencies working in partnership together across Local Authority boundaries and
welcomed the news that more non-statutory agencies were becoming involved with
the Torbay Safeguarding Children’s Partnership.

By consensus the Board resolved that:

1. The contents of the Torbay Safeguarding Children Partnership (“TSCP”)
Annual Report 2022 — 2023 be noted and endorsed.

Torbay Drug and Alcohol Partnership Report

The Director of Public Health presented the Torbay Drug and Alcohol Partnership
(“TDAP”) Report which provided a progress update against three priority areas:

e breaking drug supply chains;
e delivering a ‘world-class’ treatment and recovery system;
e achieving a shift in the demand for drugs.

It was explained that the three key priorities were underpinned by eighteen
commitments, for example, around ensuring better integration into family hubs to
provide mental health support; employment opportunities; good recovery pathways
and better integration with schools, utilising existing relationships particularly
through the Local Education Board and promoting life skills in schools. Funding
was in place for more dedicated outreach work, particularly for those individuals not
engaging with the system. There was also a pilot of an opiate replacement
modality (Buvidal) which offered another option to methadone to support recovery
in cohort of people who may have more complex needs. It was acknowledged that
there was still further work to be done around drug and alcohol related deaths.

Members were informed that there had been an increase in the number of
individuals treated for alcohol misuse and continuity of care, for example,
individuals leaving prison and connecting with Drug and Alcohol Services and that
there had been a reduction in the reported use of substances by young people.
There had been an assurance that capacity for young people accessing treatment
would improve and the Partnership had highlighted mental health and the unmet
need for adults and children in that respect.

Members were informed that the key milestones achieved to date had been:

« the formalisation of how TDAP operates, including membership, terms of
reference, it's governance as well as outlining the roles and responsibilities
of the group;

Page 8



Health and Wellbeing Board Thursday, 14 December 2023

42.

« completion of the partnership’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. This
document was being used to identify key TDAP priorities for action which
informs the TDAP Delivery Plan;

« establishing TDAP’s outcome metrics, identifying areas of improvement and
best practice. These metrics would help steer the delivery plan and identify
subsequent task and finish groups;

o completion of TDAP’s annual membership review, ensuring the right
individuals were present and could contribute to TDAP’s progress;

e a mapping exercise had identified 17 existing groups currently working in
some way towards the commitments outlined within the drug strategy, whilst
also highlighting current system gaps;

« the creation of task and finish groups focused on the gaps identified from the
mapping exercise;

» the successful completion of all national audit requirements for the 2022/23
reporting period.

By consensus the Board resolved that:

1. The Torbay Drug and Alcohol Partnership Report be noted;

2. The Director of Public Health provides the Board with data and information to
establish the level of performance against the key milestones and
demonstrate the progress achieved against the three priority areas as
outlined within the Government’s 2021 drug strategy “From Harm to Hope”.

Director of Public Health Annual Report

The Director of Public Health introduced the Annual Public Health Report 2023 and
explained that preparation of the report was a statutory requirement under the
National Health Service Act 2006. The content of the report had been developed in
partnership with wider colleagues with contributions from primary and secondary
care clinicians, Torbay Happy Hearts support group, voluntary sector organisations
and Your Health Torbay (healthy lifestyles provider).

Members were informed that this year’s report focussed on cardiovascular disease
which remained one of the biggest causes of premature death and disability, with
an impact worsened by the Covid-19 pandemic. The Annual Report discussed the
risk factors for cardiovascular disease and looked at promotion of prevention, early
detection and how to optimise treatment and support.

It was explained that prevention measures included:

healthy eating;

getting more active;

spatial planning and environment;

reducing smoking and alcohal,

getting a good start to life and accessing information and advice.

Page 9



Health and Wellbeing Board Thursday, 14 December 2023

43.

In terms of detection, there were Devon-wide targets to identify and treat three
cardiovascular disease risk factors early, such as atrial fibrillation, high blood
pressure and high cholesterol. Outreach health checks in the community assisted
those underserved and daily blood pressure checks were available at the Paignton
Community Hub.

Members were informed that in relation to optimisation, there was strong evidence
for medications such as statins and holistic interventions such as support groups
and that optimising treatment for 80% of people with high blood pressure could
prevent 158 heart attacks and 235 strokes and save up to £4.5 million. The South
West Innovation Partnership worked with GP practices to identify patients who
could benefit from improved treatment and the Lipid project improved the treatment
pathway for high cholesterol. Peer groups such as ‘Torbay Happy Hearts’ also
helped in terms of optimisation.

The Annual report contained six recommendations and implementation of those
recommendations would be overseen by the Torbay Healthy Heart Partnership.
Progress would be monitored during the year and reported formally in the 2024
Annual report.

In addition, Members were informed that funding was now available around
highlighting the message of “stop smoking” and supporting people to quit. The risks
of vaping in young people were recognised and enforcement of underage sales
was a feature of national policy. It was important to work with partners to achieve a
coordinated approach. Torbay Council have recently awarded a new contract for
lifestyle services including smoking cessation and so support would not be reduced.

By consensus Members resolved that:
1. The contents of the Annual Public Health Report 2023 be noted.
Local Care Partnership Business Programme

The Board noted a verbal update provided by Justin Wiggins, Head of Integrated
Care (South and West), NHS Devon who informed the Board that the South Local
Care Partnership (“LCP”) continued to develop its programme delivery structure to
progress the implementation of the Joint Forward Plan and that the current delivery
and pace of LCP development was in the context of urgent and emergency care,
winter pressures and system financial pressures. It was explained that the South
Unscheduled Programme Board was focussing on a range of priorities to alleviate
urgent emergency care pressures, for example, high intensity users of the
emergency department; discharge delays; admission avoidance; coordination of
care; falls and frailty; urgent community response and end of life. Population health
remained a key focus working with Public Health to build on the Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment and one Devon Data Set to better understand the South
population to support the identification of priorities; launch and fund organisations to
focus on population health and prevention needs and to develop support for
individuals waiting for surgery who were most impacted by health inequalities and
wider determinants.

Page 10



Health and Wellbeing Board Thursday, 14 December 2023

44,

Turning the Tide on Poverty/Cost of Living update

The Board noted a verbal update provided by the Director of Public Health who
advised that there had been improvements compared to last winter in terms winter
planning in the NHS. With the opening of the acute medical unit at Torbay Hospital
and other developments in the Emergency Department reports of ambulance
turnaround times had improved, for example. In terms of Torbay Council, much of
what was in place would continue. The Council would not be funding warm banks
directly but it was likely that some voluntary sector organisation may offer these. It
was acknowledged that the economic situation was slightly different and that
inflation was coming down. The issues flagged as concerns related to housing
(people maintaining tenure) and with the expectation that as people saw the ending
of fixed-rate mortgages it was recognised that this could present an acute ‘pinch
point’ with new mortgages being unaffordable for many households. Ongoing
sustainability of food banks and social supermarkets was being monitored, since
both relied upon people’s donations. As a system there remained a drive towards
looking at the longer term and developing a better understanding of what was
currently available in terms of employment and skills opportunities and how those
opportunities might be increased and better targeted.

Page 11



Agenda Iltem 5
TORBAY COUNCIL

Meeting: Health and Wellbeing Board Date: 7 March 2024
Wards affected: All

Report Title: Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance
Report 2022/23

When does the decision need to be implemented? Report for information

Cabinet Member Contact Details: Hayley Tranter, Cabinet Member Adult & Community
Services, Public Health & Inequalities Hayley.Tranter@torbay.gov.uk

Director Contact Details: Lincoln Sargeant, Director of Public Health
Lincoln.Sargeant@torbay.gov.uk

Authors: Mandy Guy, Public Health Specialist Mandy.Guy@torbay.gov.uk, Julia Chisnell,
Consultant in Public Health Julia.Chisnell@torbay.gov.uk

1. Purpose of Report

1.1  The purpose of this report is to share with members the Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly
Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23.

2. Reason for Proposal and its benefits
2.1  The Devon, Plymouth, Torbay and Cornwall & Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee

prepares an annual assurance report for the constituent Health and Wellbeing Boards,
detailing progress against statutory duties and strategic priorities during the previous year.

2.2 The report describes how partners, including Torbay Public Health, work together to protect
our population from infectious disease and environmental hazards.

3. Recommendation(s) / Proposed Decision

3.1  Members are asked to note the content of the annual assurance report.

Page 12


mailto:Hayley.Tranter@torbay.gov.uk
mailto:Lincoln.Sargeant@torbay.gov.uk
mailto:Mandy.Guy@torbay.gov.uk
mailto:Julia.Chisnell@torbay.gov.uk

Appendices

Appendix 1: The annual assurance report of the Devon, Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Health
Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

Supporting Information

1.

11

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

Introduction

Devon, Plymouth, Torbay and Cornwall & Isles of Scilly Local Authority Public Health teams
are partners in the Devon and Cornwall Health Protection Committee which provides
assurance that health protection functions are being effectively discharged across the
Peninsula.

The Committee prepares an annual assurance report for the constituent Health and
Wellbeing Boards, detailing progress against statutory duties and strategic priorities during
the previous year.

The report considers the key domains of Health Protection:

Communicable disease control and environmental hazards
Immunisation and screening

Health care associated infections and antimicrobial resistance
Emergency planning and response.

The report sets out for each of these domains:

Assurance arrangements

Performance and activity during 2022/23

Actions taken against health protection priorities identified for 2022/23
Priorities for 2023/24.

There is a delay between the reporting period and the preparation of the report due to the
timetable for publication of annual performance data. Because of this time lag, the report
also contains some information in relation to activities undertaken during 2023/24, to
provide a timelier picture of progress.

Page 13



2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

3.1

4.1

5.1

7.1

8.1

Key points from the report for Torbay

Post pandemic, the system responded to a number of infectious outbreaks or particular
high levels of disease during the year including Avian influenza, Mpox, Gonorrhoea, Group
A strep and Scarlet fever.

The Public Health team worked with partners to maintain and strengthen resilience
planning, and infection prevention and control arrangements across local settings including
care, education, and refugee / asylum.

There was a focus on supporting immunisation, health screening and response for refugee
and asylum seekers, with two asylum hotels in the Bay.

A new action programme was established with partners across Devon to increase the
uptake of vaccinations, with specific focus on MMR, school based vaccines, flu and Covid.
Uptake data is shown in the report at Appendix 1.

Priorities identified for 2023/24 included: tackling the climate emergency, infection
prevention and management, vaccine uptake, pandemic preparedness, inclusion and
inequalities.

Financial Implications

None.

Legal Implications

None.

Engagement and Consultation

Key stakeholders have contributed to the assurance report.

Tackling Climate Change

A new chapter was added to the report in 2022/23 focusing on Climate and Environment
(see pages 35-36) and sustainability remains one of the priorities for the Committee. Health
protection is critically affected by climate change, in particular flooding, heatwave, cold
weather, and risk of increased infection / vector transmission.

Associated Risks

No risks associated with the assurance report.

Page 14



9. Equality Impacts - Identify the potential positive and negative
Impacts on specific groups

Positive Impact

Negative Impact &
Mitigating Actions

Neutral Impact

Older or younger
people

Positive (particularly
vulnerable to certain
health risks or hazards
and a focus of support)

People with caring
Responsibilities

Positive (as above)

People with a disability

Positive (as above)

Women or men

No differential impact
although some
infections or
conditions affect one
sex more than
another.

People who are black
or from a minority
ethnic background
(BME) (Please note
Gypsies / Roma are
within this community)

Positive (as above)

Religion or belief
(including lack of belief)

No differential impact

People who are lesbian,
gay or bisexual

No differential impact

People who are
transgendered

No differential impact

People who are in a
marriage or civil
partnership

No differential impact

Women who are
pregnant / on maternity
leave

Positive (a focus for
particular vaccine
programmes)

Socio-economic
impacts (Including
impact on child poverty
issues and deprivation)

Positive (a focus for
support and
intervention for
disadvantaged

opulations
pop ) Page

15




Public Health impacts Positive
(How will your proposal
impact on the general
health of the population
of Torbay)

10. Cumulative Council Impact

10.1 The health protection agenda should have positive impacts on the work of the Education
and Adult Social Care sectors through infection prevention and disease control.

11. Cumulative Community Impacts

11.1 None.

Page 16



Agenda Iltem 5

Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual A{D@r@tﬂ@“%t 1022/23

: Devon -
PUbIIC Health County Council /™

Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection
Committee

Annual Assurance Report

2022/23
published 06 February 2024

for the Health and Wellbeing Boards of Devon County Council,
Torbay Council, Plymouth City Council, Cornwall Council, and
the Council of Isles of Scilly

TORBAY COUNCIL

3

=
PLYMOUTH

CITY COUNCIL

Council of the
ISLES OF SCILLY
If you need more information or a different format please phone
0345 155 1015, email customer@devon.gov.uk , text 80011

(start your message with the word Devon), or write to Devon
County Council, County Hall, Topsham Road, Exeter EX2 4QD

0
Page 17


mailto:customer@devon.gov.uk

Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

Contents

167 01 (=T 01 (PPN
N ) { oo [¥ Tt d o] o PSSP PRSP PPOPPOPPRRT
1.1 P o To 10 o o1 E Yo Yo SRRSOt
1.2 Acronyms and definitioNs ......oiiiiiee e

P XU = g Tol I AN = g F=d=T 0 g =1 o1 N
2.1 ASSUIANCE FOI@..eeiieiieeeetet ettt ettt ettt e bt e s bt e sae e st e b b e ns
2.2 LAY == o ¥ LN
2.3 [0=T 0 T0 ] A1 -5 N
2.4 Local Health Protection StrUCLUIES ......ccc.uiiiieeriieieiee ettt et e
25 National Health Protection StruCtUIe ........occueiiiiiiiii e
2.6 System Developments Following the Health and Care Act ......c.cceeeecvieeeeciiee e,
2.6.0 [DT=3V 70 A IRV £5) €= o ¢
2.6.1 Cornwall and Isles of SCilly SYySteM.......cooviiiiiiiiie e

3 Prevention and Control of INfectious DiSEASE ......cc.eeevveerriiiniiieriieeriee ettt ettt
3.1 SUNVEIIANCE AITaNGEMENTS ..eiiiiiie e ettt eetee e e rtre e e e stee e e s sabee e e esabeee e essbeeesssnbeeeeennrenas
3.2 ACHIVITY IN 2022723 ..ttt ettt st eh et bt et be st et naeeaean
3.2.0 COVID-19 PANEMIC . .cciueiiuiieiieieeniee ittt ettt ettt st sttt e bt e s bt e saeesaee e b e esbeesaeesaneeas
3.21 INTTUBNZA ettt e s b e e s b e s bt e e sab e e s baeesaree s
3.2.2 AVIAN INTIUBNZA .ottt st e st e e e e sabe e sneeesabeeenes
3.2.3 Y0 Tl DT T 1Y DU PP PPPRPPTTPP 10
3.24 GONOITNOEA ...ttt ettt sttt et e b e s bt e sat e sat e s abe e be e beenbeesbeesaeesaeeeneean 10
3.2.5 V7o o N 10
3.2.6 Group A Streptococcal INfECHION ......cvviiiiiiiie e 11
3.2.7 SCAMIET FRVET ...ttt st st sttt r e b s saeeeaee s 11
3.2.8 ESChErichia COli....eiuiiiieieeeeee ettt et 12

33 Infection Management and Outbreak Prevention..........ccccoeccieeeicciiec e, 12
3.4 Public Health Advice, Communications, Engagement, and Prevention Messaging ............. 12
3.5 Safe EVENtS ManN@ZEMENT ....cciiiiiiiiiciiiee ettt e st e e s st e e e s ebte e e s sbeeeeesbteeessbeaeessnnes 13
3.6 Work with Specific Settings and Populations .........ccccveiiiciiii i 13
3.6.0 Supporting Migrant Health and Resettlement ...........cccovveeeeiiiecciieeee e, 13

Yol €= Y=Y 1o =4 e o T =4 =1 0 ] 4 L= 16
4.1 28T =4 Lo ¥ Vo IR RSP 16
4.2 0= Tolo ) V= YRR 16

5 IMMUNISALION PrOGramMMES. e e e e e e e e e e s e e e e s e e e e e s e e s s e sasesesasssasansasennnns 20

5.1 IMMUNISATION PeITOIMMANCE ..uvueiiieiiiiiiie e asasr e aasaaasrasassaasaassssssssssnsssssssssssssnnes 20



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

5.2 PrOZramME SUMIMAIY ...uuuueiuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiite e ababaaaaaeaeaeaaaesaaassassesssesensnsasssnssnns 20
5.3 COVID-19 Vaccinations Supported by Local SyStems ........ccooevieeiiiiiee et 24
54 COVID-19 Health Inequalities and Vaccination Qutreach.........ccccccceeeeeeeicciiieee e, 25
5.4.0 Vaccination Programme commendation .........coccieiiiciiieiiiiieee e sseeee 25
54.1 NATIONAT WOTK ..ttt st st s be e s e s 25
5.4.2 Key Outcomes of the Health Inequalities Cell ...........ooeviieieiiiiie e, 25
543 Use of a Flexible, Bespoke Delivery Model........couuiiiiiiiiieiiiiieecnieec e 25
5.4.4 Working with Peer-to-peer NetWOIKS.......c.uviiiciiiiiriiiee ettt seee e e 26

6  Health Care Associated Infections & Antimicrobial Resistance........c.ccocvevieiiiiincncneeneeeene 27
6.1 A 2T o o 4 = Vol TSP 27
6.1.0 INFRCTIONS. ..ttt ettt ettt st b e she e e 27
6.1.1 Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) WOIKING Sroups ........ccveeeveeriieeeiieerciee e esreeseveeeseneen 28
6.1.2 Healthcare WOIrKfOrCe ....coovii it 28
6.2 Progress on Key Health Care Associated Infection & AMR Challenges ........cccceeeevvvveeeeeennnn. 29
6.2.0 Continuing to support the COVID-19 r@SPONSE ....cccecuveeeeeciieeeeeitieeeeecrteeeeecrreeeeecreeeeeeanes 29
6.2.1 Implementing E. coli & C. difficile reduction strategies.........ccccceeeciveeeecieeeeccieee e, 29
6.2.2 Ensuring consistent information and analysis from community infections ................. 29
6.2.3 Strengthening Antimicrobial ReSIStanCe.......ccovciiiiiiciiiiicee e 29

7  Emergency Planning, Resilience and RESPONSE .......uuviiieiiieeeciiee ettt ettt e e e 30
7.1 [0 Fo N0 =T 0T £ =N 30
7.1.0 INAUSTFIAL ACTION ..ttt sttt e sae e sane e 30
7.2 Devon EPRR RESPONSE ACTIVITY .ivviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiiiiiiiiteee e ettt e e e s s sssiieree e e e s s sssaebeneeeeesssnnes 30
7.3 Cornwall and Isles of Scilly EPRR Response ACLIVILY .....cccceiiieieeeiiiiieee et 31
7.3.0 V7T o0 )l 2T o Yo o 11N 31
7.3.1 F NV o I (U 2 U=T o oY Y < IR 31
7.3.2 Cornwall Drought CoNditioNS........ccovcuiiiiiiciiie e e e e e 31
7.3.3 Large SCale PUDBIIC EVENTS ..ccivuiiiieciiee ettt ettt e s arae e e naee s 31
7.3.4 COVID-19 PUBIIC INQUITY ..ttt s 32
7.4 Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Exercises & Planning.........ccccccoeeeeeciieececiiee e, 32
7.4.0 Regional Mass Casualty Exercise of the Casualty Distribution Plan............ccccceeeennneee. 32
7.4.1 Vulnerable People FrameWOr K ........ccccuiiiiiciiieeeiiee et sctre e s esvre e s snae e e e saaeeeeas 32
7.4.2 EXEICISE AMOIE coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiic e 32
7.4.3 EXErCiSe ArtiC WIllOW ... .ceieiiieiieeee et 32
7.4.4 Chemical, Biological, Radiological, NUCIEAr ........ccceeveeiiiiiiiie e 32
7.4.5 National POWET QULAZE.........uiiiiieee ittt e e ettt e e e e e st rre e e e e e e e enrrae e e e e e s e s nnnreneeeeas 33
7.4.6 High Consequence Infectious Diseases (HCID) plan .....c.ccccveecieeecieeecieecciee e 34

2
Page 19



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

747 Severe Weather Plans ... oot 34
7.5 ASSUTANCE 1.ttt ettt ettt e e s s et e e s b st e s s b et e s s et e s s et e e s b e e e s rae e e e 34
7.6 TPAININE ceeiieiieeie ettt e ettt e e e e e e st bttt e e e e s s e e aareeeeeeee e s assbeaeeeeeeesaanrbeaeeeeeeasanrrnes 34
8  Climate and ENVIFONMENT .......eiiiiiiiee ettt ettt et st sbe e e sbe e et e e sneeesaree s 35
9  Progress on Work Programme Priorities for 2022/23 .........cooveeieeeciieeeiee ettt e 37
0.1 COVID19 ittt ettt ettt e b e sttt et e b e s bt e s he e et st e b e bt e b e e nbeesneeeaeeenrean 37
9.2 [ T o Y=o [ =T RSP SPR 37
9.3 Screening and IMMUNISALION ......viiiiiiiiie e e e s st e e s sbeeeeesanes 38
9.4 Infection Prevention CONLIOl ..........ooiii ittt s 38
9.5 Health Protection IMpProVemMENT..........ccciei et e e e e s ree e e are e e e e areeas 39
9.6 (@[T g =Y =l o o V=T =0T o Vo SRR 39
9.7 Health Protection GOVEINANCE .......cocueiiiiiiiiiee ettt ettt ettt et e svee e sbee e 40
9.8 Continuous Professional DevelopmENT ........occuieiiiciiie e 40
10 0Ongoing Work Programme Prioriti€S......ccuuiiiiciiieiiiiiieicciiee et e s s sare e e saee e e e snaeaeeas 41
10.1 Priorities agreed by Health Protection Committee members ........cccccceecvveeevcieeeccciee e, 41
11 AULhOrs @nd CONTIIDULOIS.....coiiiiiiiiiieee ettt ettt st e bee s 42
12 PN ] 0 =Y o Vo Lo TSRS 43
12.1 Appendix 1 — Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee - Summary
terms of reference & affiliated BroUPS .....c.ueeieieiii e e e 43
12.2 Appendix 2 - Roles in relation to delivery, surveillance, and assurance.........cccceceeevveeeennnenn. 44
12.2.0  Prevention and control of infectious diSEAse .........ccceevvverriiiiniiicniiie e 44
12.2.1  Screening and IMMUNISALION ....cciiciiiiiiiiiie e e e e sree e e s abe e e e e aaeeas 44
12.2.2  Healthcare associated iNfECLIONS .......cocuiiiiiiie e 46
12.2.3  Emergency planning and rE@SPONSE ......cc.uuieeeiiieeeeeireeeeeireeeeeree e e erireeeeeeree e e eearaeeeeenneeas 47
12.3  Appendix 3 —links to Strategies and Plans ..........cccceeieeiiie e 48
12.4 Appendix 4 - Counts of Situations by Principle Contexts and Infectious Agents.................. 49
in DCloS 01 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 from Field Services, UKHSA ........cccoiiicieiiicieieeccieee e 49
12.5 Appendix 5 - Screening coverage (Latest available publicly available published data)
2022/23 et h bt h bbbt a e a e bt e bR e bbb e e ntea e bt b e b e 50
12.6  Appendix 6 - Immunisation performance 2022/23 ........ccceeeieereereeiienee e 52
12.7 Appendix 7 — Devon ICB Vaccination Outreach Case Studies........cccceevvcieeeeicieeeeeiee e, 61
13 REFEIENCES ..ttt ettt h ettt et e sb e e s bt e satesatesabeebeeabeesbeesaeenas 63

3
Page 20



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

1 Introduction

1.1 About this report
This report provides a summary of the assurance functions of the Devon, Cornwall, and Isles
of Scilly Health Protection Committee (the Committee) and reviews performance for the
period from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 for the Health and Wellbeing Boards of Devon
County Council, Plymouth City Council, Torbay Council, Cornwall Council, and the Council
of the Isles of Scilly.

The report considers the following key domains of health protection:

« Communicable disease control and environmental hazards

* Immunisation and screening

* Health care associated infections and antimicrobial resistance

* Emergency planning and response

The report sets out:

* Assurance arrangements/structures

 Performance and activity during 2022/23

* Actions taken against health protection priorities identified for 2022/23

* Priorities for 2023/24

1.2 Acronyms and definitions

AMR Antimicrobial resistance

APHA Animal and Plant Health Agency

ARIs Acute Respiratory Infections

Care OBRA Care Outbreak Risk Assessment

CHIS Childhood Health Information Service

Core20PLUS5 Approach to inform action to reduce healthcare inequalities

The Committee

DCloS Health Protection Committee

CloS The geographical area of Cornwall and Isles of Scilly
COMF Contain outbreak management funding

DEFRA Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs
DTaP-1PV Diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis, and polio (immunisation)
E. coli Escherichia Coli

EPRR Emergency Planning, Resilience and Response

GAS Group A streptococcal

HEAT Health Equity Assessment Tool

4
Page 21



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

HES
HPAG
HPV
ICB
ICS
iIGAS
IPC
IT
JCVI
JFP
KPls
LSOA
LRF
LHRP
MIUG
MRES
MRSA
MSSA
NHS
NHSE
NHSESW
NPO
OCT
PHE
RDUH
SCI
TOR
UKHSA
VaST
VSCE

Hospital Eye Services

Health Protection Advisory Group
Human papillomavirus

Integrated Care Board

Integrated Care System

Invasive group A streptococcal
Infection Prevention and Control

Information Technology

Joint Committee on Vaccination and Immunisation

Joint Forward Plan

Key Performance Indicators

Lower Layer Super Output Areas

Local resilience forum

Local Health Resilience Partnership
Maximising Immunisation Uptake Group
Measles and Rubella Elimination Strategy
Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus
Methicillin Sensitive Staphylococcus Aureus
National Health Service

National Health Service England

National Health Service England South West
National power outage

Optical Coherence Tomography

Public Health England

Royal Devon University Hospital

Severe Combined Immunodeficiency
Terms of Reference

United Kingdom Health Security Agency
NHSE Vaccination and Screening Team

Voluntary Community and Social Enterprise

5
Page 22



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

2 Assurance Arrangements

2.1 Assurancerole

Local authorities, through their Director of Public Health, have an assurance role to ensure
that appropriate arrangements are in place to protect the health of their populations. The
Committee is mandated by the Health and Wellbeing Boards of Devon County Council,
Plymouth City Council, Torbay Council, and Cornwall Council and the Council of the Isles of
Scilly to provide assurance that adequate arrangements are in place for the prevention,

surveillance, planning, and response required to protect the public's health.

2.2 Meetings

The Committee met on 15.06.22, 21.09.22, 07.12.22 and 29.03.23 and action notes, an
action log, screening and immunisation and infection prevention control (IPC) reports were
circulated. A summary of Terms of Reference (TOR) with affiliated groups listed is included
in Appendix 1 [TOR for the Committee were updated subsequent to this reporting period, on
15.08.23]. A summary of organisational roles in relation to delivery, surveillance and
assurance is included at Appendix 2.

2.3 Reporting
The Committee’s Annual Assurance Report for 2021-22 was circulated to committee
members on 18.01.23, for local authority health protection leads to submit to their respective

health & wellbeing boards. (Cornwall Council were lead authors of that report).

2.4 Local Health Protection Structures

In Devon, a renewed approach was taken to joint working with the commencement of the
Devon System Health Protection Huddle monthly meeting which began on 20.06.22 as a
regular touch point for the three Devon local authority health protection leads, Devon
Integrated Care Board (ICB) IPC lead, the NHSE Vaccination and Screening Team (VaST),
and UKHSA locality leads. Brief meeting notes and an action log are kept and reviewed
monthly. Cornwall and Isles of Scilly link with relevant stakeholders more strategically via the
guarterly Health Protection Board (which was initiated during the pandemic but moved to a
whole health protection board in 2022). In addition, local structures support delivery and

monitoring of health protection activity at local authority level in Torbay and Plymouth.

2.5 National Health Protection Structure
In October 2021 (during the previous reporting period) the health protection function of

Public Health England (PHE) transitioned to the United Kingdom Health Security Agency

6
Page 23



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

(UKHSA). This significant organisational change is now complete but references to PHE

remain in some relevant documents.

2.6 System Developments Following the Health and Care Act
In April, the Health and Care Act 2022 formally established the Integrated Care System
structure of Integrated Care Boards and Integrated Care Partnerships and a requirement to

publish integrated care strategies [,

2.6.0 Devon System
The Devon Integrated Care System (ICS) published a single strategy in December 2022
which comprises the five-year integrated care strategy. The accompanying Joint Forward
Plan (JFP) was issued in June 2023 (subsequent to the reporting period of this 2022-23
Committee report) describing how the strategy for health and care will be put into practice
and how strategic goals will be achieved. One of the nine key delivery programmes set out
in the Devon JFP is health protection. These goals will be considered from 2023-24

onwards.

2.6.1 Cornwall and Isles of Scilly System
The 10-year Cornwall and Isles of Scilly ICS Strategy was bought together in the second half
of 2022 and the first version was published in March 2023 with the Cornwall and Isles of
Scilly 5-year JFP in first draft.

Links to the online strategies and plans for both Devon and Cornwall & Isles of Scilly are

available in Appendix 3.

7
Page 24



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

3 Prevention and Control of Infectious Disease

3.1 Surveillance Arrangements

UKHSA regularly provide a quarterly verbal update to the Committee covering
epidemiological information on cases and outbreaks of communicable diseases of public
health importance at local authority level. These updates are delivered and recorded in
meeting notes. At the 29.03.23 meeting a report presentation was also circulated.

Stakeholder notifications of all incidents and outbreaks are sent to the relevant local
authority health protection teams, including relevant information and any requests for local

action.

UKHSASs Field Epidemiological Service produce a fortnightly bulletin providing surveillance
information on influenza and influenza-like illness and infectious intestinal disease activity,
including norovirus for the UKHSA South West region. Monthly locality data packs for each
area started to be produced and circulated by UKHSA following the 21.09.22 Committee

meeting.

The Devon Health Protection Advisory Group (HPAG) met twice during this reporting period
on 03.10.2022 and 01.02.2023 and the Heath Protection Cornwall and Isles of Scilly
(HPCIoS) group met in July, October, and December 2022. These meetings are led by
UKHSA to provide a forum for stakeholders, including hospital microbiologists,
environmental health officers, consultants in public health, water companies and infection
prevention control teams, to share intelligence and any risks identified in local arrangements
to manage communicable disease incidence. HPAG and HPCIloS are each due to be

convened three times during 2023-24.

3.2 Activity in 2022/23

UKHSA South West Health Protection Team provide the specialist response to infectious
disease and hazard related situations across Devon and Cornwall and Isles of Scilly,
supported by local, regional, and national expertise. The winter of 2022-2023 was a busy
season with COVID-19, influenza, avian influenza, and the group A Streptococcal national
outbreak. The team has responded to outbreaks in a variety of settings including but not
limited to care homes, educational settings, asylum seeker settings and custodial

institutions. A summary table of situations is available in Appendix 4.

3.2.0 COVID-19 Pandemic
Since the end of December 2019, the UK has seen peaks and troughs of COVID-19 cases.

The COVID-19 and seasonal influenza vaccination programmes were operated

8
Page 25



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

independently in autumn/winter 2022 but into 2023 the programmes began working towards

alignment of cohorts and co-administration.

From the start of April 2022 case numbers continued to decline (from a peak in January
2022, when the highest case numbers so far in the pandemic were recorded). Cases and
outbreaks reduced significantly by June 2022 and stabilised by September 2022 across
Devon, Cornwall, and the Isles of Scilly.

National guidance in June 2022 emphasised a return to a pre-pandemic footing, with mask
wearing in healthcare settings no longer being compulsory and local risk assessment

becoming the preferred approach.

In February 2023 the legal position regarding standing down the Devon local outbreak

engagement board was considered.

The handover of adult social care response work from local authority back to UKHSA (as it
was pre-pandemic) was largely completed by the end of March 2023 but local authorities still
fielded many enquiries and offered some support to help providers through the transition.
Local authorities’ health protection and UKHSA South West health protection teams’
operational capacity and numbers of personnel reduced at the end of March 2023 with the
end of the contain outbreak management funding (COMF) and inclusion of COVID-19 within

‘business as usual’ operations.

As part of the business-as-usual approach, UKHSA began to develop a care outbreak risk
assessment (care OBRA) tool for adult social care settings, to streamline the reporting of
outbreak information by care providers to the UKHSA Health Protection Team. This
development was delayed and subsequently the care OBRA tool launched outside this
reporting period in August 2023.

3.2.1 Influenza
In 2022/23 the nation saw the first post pandemic influenza season which was concentrated

into a relatively short, early season with most cases occurring in adult social care settings.

3.2.2 Avian Influenza
In September 2022 there was a large-scale outbreak resulting in deaths of wild birds which
continued into winter. The outbreak significantly affected Paignton Zoo and the seabird
population, with numbers of dead birds in public areas. The Torbay Council public health
team collaborated with all partners in liaison with the Animal and Plant Health Agency
(APHA), UKHSA, Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) and Trading
Standards. Local operational response was led with South West Integrated Services

Company (waste provider, public spaces, and roads) with public phoneline, posters in public

9
Page 26



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

areas, and dead bird collection. IPC measures were risk assessed and deployed in
discussion with UKHSA.

The Cornwall and Isles of Scilly ICB and Cornwall County Council developed an avian
influenza pathway and refined it with UKHSA. This has since been used as a model for avian

influenza work in other areas.

The avian Influenza pathway requires health professionals to swab symptomatic individuals
and those who have been exposed to birds, to quickly exclude avian influenza infection.
Antiviral prescribing pathways are in place in Cornwall and Isles of Scilly and Devon. The
swabbing pathway in Cornwall and Isles of Scilly is in place, however Devon’s lack of a
swabbing pathway is recorded as a risk on the Devon ICB Risk Register. This risk sits with
the ICB as a commissioner. It was agreed to record this on other Committee member

organisations’ risk registers and remains a risk after this reporting period.

3.2.3 Lyme Disease
The Fingertips tool updated to include Lyme Disease in March 2022. The South West
historically has seen a high incidence with an average of 40 laboratory confirmed cases in
Devon and 11 in Cornwall and Isles of Scilly, however not all cases are laboratory confirmed
and the reported numbers may therefore be an underestimation. The national UKHSA social

media campaign was uplifted by local authority communications around being “tick aware”.

3.2.4 Gonorrhoea
Devon Sexual Health noticed an increase in gonorrhoea cases in October 2022 and reported
this to commissioners and UKHSA sexual health regional facilitator. A regional incident
management team was established to analyse intelligence and conduct enhanced
surveillance across the South West region. The design and development of a regional
targeted prevention intervention e.g., a campaign/messaging was also planned. Cases
continued to increase in young adult heterosexuals (an age/gender group not targeted by
national campaigns) into January 2023 (in the context of an overall increase in cases in
England in 2022) so this group was targeted for action by adapting general sexually
transmitted infection messaging to be used locally. A regional incident was declared in
February 2022 and incident management meetings were held by UKHSA. Commissioners
and health protection colleagues from Public Health also attended the meetings to support
the response from a public health perspective to ensure prevention, communications and

data was appropriately covered.

3.2.5 Mpox
Diagnostic, treatment, and vaccination pathways were developed locally and implemented

via the Devon Integrated Care System (ICS) and through the four hospital trusts, specifically

10
Page 27



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

sexual health services and infection control specialties. All three Devon local authority public
health teams engaged with this work, with roles and responsibilities as the commissioner of
some sexual health services, health protection assurance and linkage to wider community
support systems. By September 2022 there were 14 confirmed cases across Devon,
Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly. One isolated response was highlighted as reflecting a lack of
health protection training in healthcare when hazmat suits were used for a suspected mpox
response, possibly due to misunderstanding/fear. The Eddystone Trust helped co-produce
messaging with gay, bisexual and men who have sex with men communities to help address
stigma for Mpox. They also received funding from UKHSA to recruit and train volunteers to
continue this work and promote vaccines. Devon specialist sexual health services planned
collaboratively with COVID-19 vaccination centres to invite the target group for vaccination
and deploy vaccines. In Cornwall and Isles of Scilly there was also a successful vaccination

programme working across the hospital trust and sexual health provider.

3.2.6 Group A Streptococcal Infection
Work related to Group A streptococcal (GAS) and invasive Group A streptococcal (iGAS)
infections increased during the winter months due to a national GAS outbreak. The UKHSA
health protection team supported multiple educational settings, early years settings, care
homes and complex lives settings. Torbay Council public health team helped to prevent and
manage cases of iIGAS in homeless settings in collaboration with UKHSA. Cornwall Council
public health developed an information pack for professionals working with the homeless
population. Cornwall Council’s communications department also produced a combined
public health and paediatrician piece to highlight specific GAS symptoms and when to
contact 111 or the GP. Devon and Plymouth public health teams have worked successfully

with nursery settings.

3.2.7 Scarlet Fever
There were high levels of scarlet fever throughout 2022 with a dramatic increase from pre-
pandemic infection rates. The Devon County Council, Torbay Council and Plymouth City
Council public health teams worked with UKHSA and local health systems to support
management of high volumes of infections notified. Good practice was promoted with
specific settings including schools and early years, to support smooth running of education

and primary care.

National Scarlet Fever communications were published for schools. A national helpline was

set up late 2022/early 2023 to deal with low-risk high-volume calls.

11
Page 28



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

Building on relationships with partners and the public, Cornwall Council public health
increased communications for awareness and prevention messaging and the understanding

of antibiotics, with support from UKHSA.

3.2.8 Escherichia coli
In Autumn 2022 a national increase in E. coli was observed, affecting a range of ages, with
no clear epidemiological links. From July-September 2022 there were 24 cases in Devon

and 38 in Cornwall and Isles of Scilly.

3.3 Infection Management and Outbreak Prevention

Cornwall County Council employed two outbreak prevention specialist practitioners until
March 2023. The posts provided a service to care homes which filled a pre-pandemic gap as
well as delivering the anticipated pandemic support during outbreak situations and promoting

resilience to a variety of possible future outbreak scenarios.

Torbay public health-maintained links with their NHS community infection management and
control team and the care sector in readiness for future outbreaks or pandemic resurgence,
building on the excellent work during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Jointly, the Devon local authorities continued to employ a COMF funded IPC practitioner,
who was based in Devon County Council public health, health protection team but who
worked across the geography of Devon. This post supported settings including nurseries,
schools, and vaccination centres with IPC self-assessment checklists, delivered high level
filtering facepiece respiratory mask training and shared appropriate personal protective
equipment guidance for non-healthcare settings (as these settings are not covered by ICB
IPC). Subsequent to this reporting period, COMF ceased March 2023, so the IPC
Practitioner post ended. In autumn 2023, IPC support for non-healthcare settings, was

recorded as a risk on the NHS Devon ICB Risk Register due to ICB system pressures.

3.4 Public Health Advice, Communications, Engagement, and Prevention
Messaging

UKHSA collaborated with NHSE to deliver a series of 23 webinars to celebrate World

Antimicrobial Awareness Week 2022. Over 200 attendees from a variety of stakeholders

including the NHS, educational settings and local authorities benefited from the webinars. The

webinars were also made available on the NHS Futures website for those who could not

attend.

12
Page 29



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

UKHSA delivered multiple educational and awareness raising events on health protection
including infection prevention webinars for schools and early years settings and the regional

health protection conference.

UKHSA facilitates the networking of partners via the Migrant Health Network, Environmental
Health Officer Network, Early Years and Educational Settings Network, and South West Care
Settings Health Protection Network and the overarching South West Health Protection

Network.

3.5 Safe Events Management

With the removal of COVID-19 restrictions, many events, and festivals, re-started during this
year, leading to the increased spread of infections that were common pre-pandemic. The
local authority health protection teams continued to support large event planning with
infection control, heatwave planning and wider health protection guidance to promote safe

operation.

3.6 Work with Specific Settings and Populations
3.6.0 Supporting Migrant Health and Resettlement

Health protection remained a key element of the multi-agency approach to supporting asylum
seekers and refugees arriving at temporary accommodation in Devon, Torbay, and Cornwall.
Over 2022/23 there were two hotel settings already established and a further six opened

across Devon and Cornwall.

IPC visits were carried out in Devon, by the COMF funded IPC practitioner whenever possible
ahead of, or on opening, to offer support and advice to the staff managing the settings to
support keeping residents and staff well and to reduce risk of transmission should anyone
become unwell. An early visit was not possible in Cornwall due to having no advance notice
of the hotel opening but this was provided by the mobile vaccination team for Cornwall. An
IPC checklist was developed to support knowledge in the setting as there were regular
changes in hotel staff and new staff coming into support residents. Information was also
provided to hotel staff and primary care to ensure they understand routes for escalating any

health protection concerns if they arose.

COVID-19 testing, and vaccinations were provided for residents and staff in hotels, in line with
guidance, via the Devon County Council public health outreach team and NHS Devon
outreach vaccination teams. In Cornwall this was provided by the mobile vaccination team.
UKHSA created a contact form to gather details of relevant contact details in agencies

supporting hotels to enable them to respond to any health protection incidents.

13
Page 30



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

Different hotels supported people arriving in the UK through different routes including the
Afghan Relocations and Assistance Policy route, via small boats or via ports and airports. All
arrivals were supported to register with NHS General Practitioners (GPs). NHS Devon and
NHS Kernow worked with primary care and provided funding to enable enhanced health
checks for all patients registered. GP Practices were agile and creative to support arrivals
whilst working to provide translation in multiple languages for each group of arrivals, and to
address multiple and challenging health needs. The Migrant Health Guide 2 supported health
services to establish what additional health needs or screening may be required, including
information around prevalence of various infections in the migrants’ home nations/travel
routes, and how primary and secondary care could help people access screening and

immunisations in line with the UK immunisation schedules.

In 2022 the UK opened a scheme to support families fleeing the Ukraine war by enabling
people to be hosted by and live within UK households. The Devon County Council area has
welcomed over 2000 people with the 8th highest number of arrivals by upper tier authority
areas in England. Cornwall have welcomed just over 1000, Plymouth 240 and Torbay 190

people. Specific support and information sources were put in place for these groups.

3.6.0.1 Diphtheria
Higher-than-expected cases of diphtheria were identified in asylum seekers and refugees

arriving in the UK via small boats, so UKHSA recommended a course of prophylactic
antibiotics and a diphtheria containing vaccine within 10 days of arrival for this cohort of
migrants. With several large asylum hotels opening in a short time frame, the outreach
vaccination teams (who had worked on delivering winter vaccinations across Devon and
Cornwall) supported primary care delivering prophylactic vaccinations. Their skills in
communicating around the reasons for vaccination and antibiotics were invaluable and
enabled them to also support practices with triaging health needs on arrivals. The outreach
team ran vaccination clinics as the hotels continued to receive arrivals. There were frequent
movements in and out of hotels, with residents arriving from other hotels where prophylactic
measures had already been offered. Some new arrivals were new to the country, but in much
smaller numbers and so then the arrangements for prophylactic measures moved to be

supported by primary care as part of initial arrival health checks.

3.6.0.2 Tuberculosis

As part of initial health screening, new arrivals were screened for active TB signs and
symptoms. Where cases of TB were identified, the UKHSA South West health protection team
worked with the individuals along with local hotel managers and teams supporting
unaccompanied asylum-seeking children. Local authority public health and the Home Office

worked to identify close contacts requiring screening. The NHS in Devon does not have a

14
Page 31



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

dedicated commissioned TB service and so local respiratory services worked together to
facilitate contact screening, and in some cases additional services were commissioned by
Devon ICS to provide additional capacity. Identifying and locating contacts to enable screening
was challenging and time consuming due to the pace of arrivals and movements between

hotels nationally.

The NHS England migrant health guide recommends latent TB screening for people aged 16-
to 35-year-olds who have arrived in England in the last 5 years and who were born or lived for
more than 6 months in sub-Saharan Africa or countries where the TB incidence is more than
150 per 100,000 population. Latent TB screening services are only commissioned by NHS
England in areas of higher prevalence and Devon, Cornwall and Isles of Scilly do not have a
service. Therefore, this creates a challenge for screening to take place in line with the guide

for those people arriving from high prevalence countries.

The increased need for TB services and related demand on respiratory teams was added to
the Devon ICB risk register in 2023.

3.6.0.3 Scabies

Many hotels required mass treatment for scabies. This was facilitated by a multi-agency
response working with voluntary, community, social enterprise (VCSE) organisations to
source clothing for residents to ensure a clean set of clothing was available after treatment.
Translation and interpreters were required for multiple languages to enable the treatment
process to be explained to residents, including the process for laundry and application of
creams. Hotels needed to organise mass laundry around treatment dates and have adequate
understanding to support residents to ensure treatment plans were followed. The Cornwall
IPC team supported the Cornwall hotel with assessments and checklists to ensure the

treatment and environmental cleaning were coordinated and completed appropriately.

15
Page 32



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

4 Screening Programmes

4.1 Background

Population screening programmes make a significant impact on early diagnosis, contributing
to a reduction in deaths and ill-health. There are six programmes: bowel, breast and cervical
cancer screening programmes, antenatal and new-born screening (six sub-programmes),

abdominal aortic aneurysm and diabetic eye screening programmes.

4.2 Recovery

All screening programmes successfully recovered from the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
with additional offers to those whose appointments had been delayed due to the impacts of
the pandemic on health services. For some programmes, this required significant investment,
both regional and national to increase capacity over and above 100% to clear the backlog of
appointments. All screening programmes have returned to a business-as-usual footing. The
additional investment has been designed to build in increased capacity to ensure more robust
and sustainable services into the future.

The impact of the COVID pandemic meant that there were impacts on the ability to meet
national standards during this period (for example, round length and coverage) but these
continue to improve.

All programmes are now starting to focus on undertaking health equity audits and developing

a more comprehensive approach to improve coverage and reduce inequalities.

The following table gives a summary of performance, challenges, and developments during

2022/23 alongside future developments.

e All programmes have improved performance since recovering from
COVID impact though challenges remain with diagnostic waits for
colonoscopy.

¢ North and East Devon centre had a service improvement plan in
place to support improvements in diagnostic wait times for
colonoscopy.

¢ All programmes commenced aged extension to 58-year-olds.

e Text messaging pilot was undertaken by the Southern Hub to
improve uptake with support of primary care.

¢ Work was undertaken with primary care to scope the use of text
messaging to improve uptake as part of the primary care direct
enhanced service contract arrangements.

e An Inequalities subgroup of the screening programme board was
established in all areas.

Bowel

16
Page 33



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

Bowel

Workforce: The COVID-19 pandemic resulted in a 94% reduction in
endoscopy training. Using NHS England South West (NHSESW)
reserves, the NHSESW VaST working with the South West
Endoscopy Training Academy set up a Fellowship scheme to
support regional speciality trainees to achieve Joint Advisory Group
accreditation for colonoscopy so they can contribute to the screening
service as soon as they have completed their training, thus
accelerating the training pathway for future regional Bowel Cancer
Screening Programme colonoscopists to ensure a constant pipeline
of endoscopists into the programme to meet future capacity
requirements. Royal Devon University Hospital (RDUH) participated
in the scheme with one Fellowship post.

Future developments:

Age extension: Planning for age extension to those aged 54.
Lynch Syndrome: Planning for screening of individuals with Lynch
syndrome from April 2023.

It is hoped that from 2024 onwards the endoscopy Fellowship
programme will become permanent through substantive legacy
bowel scope screening funding in several Trusts, but this is subject
to final agreement.

Breast

All programmes in Devon. Cornwall and Isles of Scilly were
sustainably recovered by the end of the period with at least 90% of
women being invited within 36 months of their last appointment.
Coverage data has been significantly impacted by the delays to the
offer of screening caused by the pandemic. Published data shows
that the coverage is recovering and is above 70% for all
programmes in Devon, Cornwall and Isles of Scilly (the acceptable
target) — see Appendix 5.

The above improvements were enabled by significant financial
investment in for example, new screening rooms and mobiles,
Radiology fellows, international radiographer recruits, apprenticeship
opportunities, practice educators to support staff in training, 2 extra
admin staff for each screening provider, move to open invites to
make use of every appointment, introduction of text messaging
reminders, additional calls to women who had not attended.
Providers have undertaken forward planning to smooth the invitation
and round length to avoid future spikes in demand in the next 3
yearly screening round caused by the intense activity to clear the
COVID-19 backlog.

Future developments:

Workforce challenges locally and nationally continue to significantly
affect the South West programmes and is a continued focus.
Working closely with cancer service teams as high symptomatic
demand continues to create competing pressures on screening
teams that share roles across the whole breast pathway.

Focus on improving uptake and reducing inequalities using the PHE
Health Equity Assessment Tool (HEAT) and action planning — the
Long-term plan ambition is 80% coverage.

Review of moving back to timed appointments as part of improving
coverage work.

17
Page 34




Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

Cervical

Cervical screening launched in Cornwall sexual health services in
December 2022 (already in place in Devon services).

RDUH drop in sample-taking clinics piloted.

Successful performance improvement plan was put in place with the
regional cervical sample laboratory to improve a drop-in turnaround
time resulting from staffing issues.

NHSE VaST has worked closely with all providers and ICBs to
enable the management of the increase in colposcopy referrals
resulting from the introduction of primary Human Papillomavirus
screening that has stretched colposcopy capacity. Torbay has had
pressures impacting its referral waiting times for both urgent and
routine referrals and has working through a business case to
increase capacity with an extra clinic room and additional staffing.

Future developments:

Focus on increasing coverage and health inequalities work including
support to GP practices with the lowest uptake, insights survey to
primary care to understand challenges within GP practices,
developing a suite of interventions for targeted work, a pack to help
sample taker support people with learning disability through
screening, and a training package for sample takers to support
people with their mental illness.

Antenatal/

Neonatal

Coverage of the antenatal and new-born screening programme
remains very high, as these are integral to routine maternity care.

All antenatal screening programmes were fully recovered with
performance against national Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)
and standards back to pre-COVID-19 levels. However, there is
concern that ongoing staffing pressures in maternity have continued
to have an intermittent impact on screening team functions

with some trusts having increased number of incidents, less timely
submission of KPIs and closure of incidents.

The NHSE VaST has worked closely with the RDUH screening team
to support the achievement of compliance with some national
standards and key performance indicators following a quality
assurance pathway review.

Performance in certain aspects of the new-born blood spot
screening programme continues to be a challenge due to multiple
factors. All providers have systems in place to address these
challenges and this work is closely supported by the NHSE VaST.
Coverage of new-born blood spot in those who move into the area
has been particularly challenging with the observation by local teams
of an increase in movement in of families under the Afghan
Relocation and Assistance Policy scheme, from Ukraine and asylum
seekers which has led to more challenges making timely contact
with families and highlighted the need for easy access to translation
and interpretation in community services.

Devon New-born Hearing screening service successfully transitioned
from a community model to a hospital model at the start of April
2023 with most babies now being screening prior to discharge home
with screening offered in community clinics if not screened prior to
leaving hospital.

18
Page 35




Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

Antenatal/

Neonatal

Future developments:

A deep dive into new-born bloodspot performance is planned for
2023/24

Publication of good practice guidance for new-born programmes
NHSE VaST delivery of training sessions for health visitors that will
include relevant aspects of antenatal and new-born screening.

Diabetic
Eye
Screening
(DES)

All programmes were fully recovered from COVID-19 delays within
this period.

Annual coverage remains high in Devon for 2022/23 (84%, national
achievable target is 85%) and has been stable at this level for
several years; annual coverage for Cornwall was also 84% and this
performance has greatly improved from 77% in 2020/21.
Performance against the other national Key Performance Indicators
and standards has been good though meeting the acceptable level
of 80% for timely referrals into Hospital Eye Services (HES)
continues to be a challenge; this is closely monitored and although
improving is expected to remain a risk until HES are able to return to
pre-pandemic capacity.

Health inequalities work has progressed with the use of PHE HEAT
and action plans with a focus on addressing people who serially do
not attend appointments, understanding their reasons, exploring
ways to engage these patients with screening, collaborative working
with learning disability nurses and reviewing clinic accessibility.

Future developments:

National guidance on introduction of Optical Coherence Tomography
(OCT) into screening pathway awaited. Early conversations will take
place with ICBs who currently fund OCT through Ophthalmology.
Reduced screening interval changes planned for 2023 with national
working group established to meet monthly until implementation.
Possible review of the referral into hospital eye services standard
given this is not within the control of diabetic eye screening
providers.

Abdominal
Aortic
Aneurysm
(AAA)

All three Devon and Cornwall programmes made excellent progress
during 2022/23 achieving 100% offer by the end of the year.
Coverage continues to be high, and all three providers achieved
over the achievable target of 85% and ranked in the top six providers
across England.

The main challenge in the programme was the continued breaches
of the vascular referral pathway with a high proportion of patients
having to wait for longer than 8 weeks for surgery due to ongoing
pressures within surgery and intensive care services. All breaches
longer than 12 weeks were notified to NHSE VaST and the team has
worked closely with the screening services and the regional Vascular
Surgery Network to closely track these patients to ensure surgery is
done at the earliest opportunity.

All providers have completed the PHE HEAT and developing action
plans to further improve uptake and reduce inequalities.

19
Page 36




Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

5 Immunisation Programmes

5.1 Immunisation Performance

Immunisations are one of the most significant public health developments in the prevention
of infectious disease. The routine vaccine schedule in the UK is available via the link in
Appendix 6. In addition to the routine immunisation programmes, the COVID-19 vaccination
programme has continued to be delivered in line with the Joint Committee on Vaccination
and Immunisation (JCVI) guidance. In 2022/23 there was a successful Autumn-Winter
programme, and a Spring Booster programme for those at higher risk. The ongoing impact
of the COVID-19 pandemic meant that there were some challenges meeting some national
uptake and coverage standards in some programmes and for these areas, action plans and

improvement plans were put in place alongside the recovery plans.

5.2 Programme Summary
Performance, challenges, and developments during 2022/23 alongside future developments

are laid out in the following table.

Pre School- Nationally, childhood vaccine coverage in 2022—23 decreased
Immunisations | compared to 2021-22, and none of the scheduled vaccines met the
959% target. Coverage rates in the South West have remained high
relative to the England average. In Devon, Cornwall and Isles of Scilly,
the priority remains the uptake of the Measles, Mumps and Rubella
(MMR) dose 1 and 2 and Diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis and polio
(DTaP-IPV) preschool booster vaccines in 5-year-olds, which although
still high, also reduced a little compared to 2021/22; Torbay and
Cornwall have coverage less than 90% for both MMR dose 2 and the
preschool booster (see Appendix 6). There was not an immediate
impact from the pandemic but all but Devon local authority areas have
seen a small drop in child immunisation uptake over the last two years.

The UK-wide Measles and Rubella Elimination Strategy (MRES) was
released in 2019 and a South West-wide action plan was developed to
support implementation of the plan following a regional conference on
measles held in February 2020. Following a pause during the COVID-
19 pandemic, the regional strategy was updated and shared with
system stakeholders to ensure a co-ordinated, collaborative approach
that includes both local, regional, and national objectives and
priorities. Analysis of Childhood Health Information Service (CHIS)
MMR data was undertaken to support a re-fresh of the MRES work to
support local work. A national MMR call-recall took place in 2022 for
children up to age 6 years.

20
Page 37



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

2022-23 saw the development of System-level Maximising
Immunisation Uptake Groups (MIUG), led by the NHSE VaST with a
key focus on increasing the uptake of childhood immunisations,
particularly MMR and pre-school booster vaccines. These groups have
developed an evidence-based action plan that identifies targeted
interventions to improve uptake. In Devon, the priorities are MMR,
preschool booster, and school aged immunisations; and in Cornwall the
priorities are MMR, preschool booster, and maternal pertussis with a
specific focus on improving the data recording and data flows as
anecdotally is it thought that uptake is higher than the national
published figures.

Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly (and Bristol, North Somerset &
South Gloucestershire) CHIS procurement was completed, and the new
provider commenced delivery April 2023.

Future developments:

e Targeted work at a practice level planned as part of the new CHIS
contract.

e Development of more comprehensive and timely data dashboards
to support planning, delivery and monitoring of targeted actions to
increase uptake and coverage.

¢ Analysis of CHIS preschool booster using CHIS data for all 0—19-
year-olds enabling a population view of coverage in addition to the
GP practice-based analysis.

¢ Vaccine confidence project to be undertaken in collaboration with
University of Bristol and national NHSE team to develop a training
resource to support health, social care, and other practitioners to
have conversations with individuals to encourage take-up of
vaccinations. Initial focus is MMR and is planned to be piloted in
Devon.

Targeted
Immunisations

The enhanced Hepatitis B and Tuberculosis programmes continue to be
delivered to eligible babies (number of eligible babies in Devon,
Cornwall and Isles of Scilly are relatively low).

Uptake of the Hepatitis B vaccination remains good with most infants
completing the full immunisation programme and having a 12-month
serology test. There were no known cases of infants contracting
Hepatitis B before their first birthday during 2022/23.

Following large scale changes to the infant Tuberculosis programme
from September 2021 due to the national new-born bloodspot screening
Severe Combined Immunodeficiency pilot (in other parts of England not
in the South West) all providers had to change their models of delivery
to deliver vaccination in a clinic setting ideally by age 28 days.

However, it is taking time for providers to fine-tune their clinic offer and
a very low proportion of infants in Devon and Cornwall are currently
being vaccinated by 28 days of age.

21
Page 38




Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

Future developments:

e Improvements to Tuberculosis data collection and fail safes to
monitor uptake and timeliness and assure that a high level of uptake
is being maintained.

e More regular meetings to be implemented with individual providers
to better understand challenges and develop quality improvement
plans.

School-aged
immunisations

The school-aged immunisation programme was severely impacted by
the pandemic due to the initial lockdown, the second wave of school
closures, and ongoing outbreaks that have prevented immunisation
teams attending schools for clinics. These factors, and the COVID-19
vaccination programme for 12-15s and the expanded flu vaccination
programme has impacted the subsequent academic years. Both Devon,
Cornwall and Isles of Scilly providers have worked hard to deliver the
routine programme as well as an ongoing offer of community clinics
including over the summer holidays to catch-up as many missing
vaccinations as possible.

Data for the 2021/22 cohort shows that uptake is mostly recovered or
achieved near pre-covid uptake levels, within the range of normal
variation. Data for 2022/23 cohort showed ongoing challenges so NHSE
VaST reviewed providers operational plans and additional catch-up
activity was scheduled by the school aged immunisations services to
ensure recovery was completed before the end of the school year. This
was supported by additional NHSESW financial investment to both
providers.

A new lesson plan and resources pack called EDUCATE (from the
University of Bristol) was shared across school aged immunisations
services teams and local authority teams to increase the understanding
of the human papillomavirus vaccine.

There was a procurement for the Devon service and a new provider
commenced delivery on 01/08/2023.

Future developments:

e Procurement for the Cornwall service during 2023/24 with new
contracts to start 01/08/2024.

¢ Addition of an offer of MMR alongside the routine immunisations will
be introduced into the specification for 2023/24 supported by
additional investment.

e Planning for human papillomavirus vaccine schedule change due
September 2023 which will move from two to one dose.

22
Page 39




Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

Vaccinations in
pregnancy

Vaccinations in Pregnancy include Influenza and Pertussis (and
COVID-19 - not currently a Section 7a commissioned programme). All
Devon, Cornwall and Isles of Scilly providers offer both influenza and
pertussis vaccinations.

Delivery of vaccination in maternity settings can be affected by several
operational issues such as lack of clinic space and staff capacity. More
frequent meetings were implemented to closely monitor service delivery
and a checklist tool developed to support providers to plan and mitigate
against these issues and better align all three vaccinations.

Uptake was slightly below the South West average uptake (see
Appendix 6). There are data issues that affect interpretation of vaccine
uptake data including denominator definition, data uploading between
maternity and primary care systems, administration workload to ensure
accurate data, and reporting delays. Work is underway in the Cornwall
MIUG to look into these processes.

Future developments:

e Review of delivery models and scoping of additional actions for
2023/24 with maternity immunisations leads to inform planning (and
business cases) for 2023/24

e Review of maternity self-assessment checklist

e Review findings from Seasonal Influenza programme end of year
review and acute trust debrief to inform planning for 2023/24
Influenza/COVID-19 season

Older people
Immunisations

Shingles vaccination is first offered at age 70 years and eligibility
continues until age 80. Uptake in the first year of offer is low at about
20% and then the cumulative uptake increases year on year up to age
78 when it drops off (this is due to these older age groups being part of
a catch-up group and having less time to be vaccinated). Latest data
shows cumulative uptake across Devon and Cornwall is in line with or
above the national average (see Appendix 6).

NHSE VaST produced a primary care Singles toolkit and issued a
number of Shingles communications to support uptake of this
vaccination; firstly, to the 20% of GP practices with the lowest uptake
across all systems to encourage action to offer to those aged 78 as this
group only have 2 years before ceasing to be eligible and in addition to
all practices to remind that Shingles vaccination is an active call-recall
at age 70.

In addition to Zostavax, a second vaccine Shingrix is now available to
offer to all those who are aged 70-80 who are immunocompromised
(and so not eligible for Zostavax). There are some data quality issues
with uptake for this new cohort which are being investigated.

The latest published data for Pneumococcal vaccination is 2021/22 with
coverage stable for Devon and Cornwall ICBs around 70% in keeping
with the England average and meeting the acceptable lower threshold
of 65% and under the target uptake of 75%.

23
Page 40




Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

As with Shingles, the uptake at 65 years (the age of first offer) is low
and uptake increases year on year up to age 75 and over, emphasising
the importance of continuing to offer these vaccinations in older years
and also of the need to do more work to improve the timeliness of the
vaccination closer to the age of first eligibility in order to gain more
protection from the vaccine for these groups.

Influenza The influenza vaccination programme continued to be a high priority
immunisations | during the 2022/23 seasonal programmes placing pressure on GP
practices and school aged immunisations services providers who at the
same time were delivering the COVID-19 vaccination programme.
Delivery through community pharmacy was further expanded to support
the programme.

Multi-agency arrangements established in 2021/22 in Devon and
Cornwall to manage the delivery of the seasonal vaccination
programmes including both COVID-19 and influenza were further
embedded.

Overall, the South West had the highest uptake in all eligible cohort
groups of any region and higher than the England average (see
Appendix 6). Cornwall, although generally in line with uptake across the
region, had the lowest uptake in all eligible cohorts and had particularly
low uptake in pregnant people. This may be in part an impact of the
complex data flows and recording issues, hence the importance of this
work being done by the Cornwall MIUG.

5.3 COVID-19 Vaccinations Supported by Local Systems
Both the Devon and Cornwall and Isles of Scilly ICBs delivered vaccinations through Primary
Care Networks, Community Pharmacies, Large Vaccination Centres and Outreach activities

as per the following:

Autumn 2022 — Cohorts included people aged 50+, all Care Home residents and staff,
housebound patients, Health and Social Care Workers and Clinically Extremely Vulnerable
groups as identified by the Green Book. 482,678 COVID-19 vaccinations were provided to
patients registered in Devon which equated to an uptake of 72.1% of those that were
eligible. 217,962 COVID-19 vaccinations were provided to patients registered in Cornwall

which equated to an uptake of 70.3% of those that were eligible.

Spring 2023 — Cohorts included people aged 75+, all Older Adult Care Home residents and
staff, housebound patients, and patients that were immunosuppressed as identified by the
Green Book. 135,484 vaccinations were provided to patients registered in Devon which
equated to an uptake of 72.3% of those that were eligible. 73,576 vaccinations were
provided to patients registered in Cornwall which equated to an uptake of 83.5% of those

that were eligible.

24
Page 41



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

5.4 COVID-19 Health Inequalities and Vaccination Outreach

5.4.0 Vaccination Programme commendation
Devon ICB COVID-19 outreach vaccination programme has received commendations from
several organisations and was praised by Sir Robert Francis, Chair of Healthwatch England

when he visited the Exeter Mosque where vaccinations took place in June 2022.

5.4.1 National Work
Devon and Cornwall Chinese Association and Devon ICB vaccine ambassadors supported
NHS England to produce a video to demonstrate the benefits of receiving the COVID-19

vaccination.

5.4.2 Key Outcomes of the Health Inequalities Cell

e Pandemic led to richer intelligence on vaccination —uptake data by cohort, age,
gender, ethnicity, area of residence (down to Lower Super Output Areas [LSOA] a
small neighbourhood area), and GP practice via the Immunisation Management
Service reporting system.

e Health Inequalities (HI) data dashboard developed by the Local Authority Public
Health Intelligence Team with input from NHS Business Intelligence — this enabled
deep dives into specific cohorts with lower uptake through themed/dedicated Health
Inequalities cell meetings to explore barriers and facilitators to vaccination and to
agree actions to increase uptake for specific groups.

o 21 “high need” geographical areas were identified by Local Authority Public Health
Intelligence Team and underpinned our approach to outreach ensuring roving and
regular pop-up vaccination clinics in these areas of greatest need across Devon
(areas were identified based on deprivation, ethnicity, uptake) with later alignment to
Core20PLUSS5 work.

e Local insights fed into the HI Cell including insight gathered via our outreach
teams/vaccinators; Local authority place based intelligence and connections; and our
dedicated Outreach Involvement Manager who was recruited to provide a link with
communities and the Voluntary Community and Social Enterprise (VSCE) sector —
this led to bespoke outreach offers for specific cohorts based on data/insight/need

e.g., pop-up vaccination clinics in community cafes, faith centres, workplaces.

5.4.3 Use of a Flexible, Bespoke Delivery Model
e Extensive Outreach programme with mobile units working in community venues

and trusted spaces.

25
Page 42



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

e A collaborative approach working with local authority and multi-agency partners
including public, private and charity sectors using an intelligent, data-driven
approach to planning and design.

e Developed extensive local communication and engagement networks across
Devon that could be built upon as each phase and booster programme came
through.

e Approach used involved overlaying inequalities data with vaccination uptake and
supplemented with local qualitative enquiry.

e Allowed for bespoke arrangements & delivery within the community.

e Learning that has helped shape and improve ongoing system design for our
priority groups.

o Allowed for targeted outreach for particular groups.

o Identified other needs to be addressed as part of the Making Every Contact

Count agenda and created an “in” for other support.

5.4.4 Working with Peer-to-peer Networks

Vaccine ambassador scheme is part of the wider outreach programme which aims
to tackle health inequalities in vaccinations.

Engagement with local groups, community leaders and the VCSE that informs
bespoke outreach approaches e.g., via VCSE Assembly, Joint Engagement Forum.
Outreach Covid Vaccination and COMF for voluntary and community organisations
to run innovative engagement to improve uptake of the vaccine and increase vaccine
confidence with our most vulnerable communities. This programme aims to support
the outreach model and increase engagement with vulnerable communities. Activities
can include supporting vaccination outreach, building vaccine confidence and
undertaking engagement with vulnerable communities such as to explore barriers to
uptake. Between 2022 until April 2023: 24 projects were funded, over 22,250
individuals were reached via the vaccine activities, over 3300 vaccinated.
Maximising uptake through targeted engagement work and communication
activity - working closely with the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Team and Comms
Team within NHS Devon and our partners, particularly the VCSE. Communications
targeted at high-risk groups through a variety of media and channels, as set out in the
Communications and marketing campaign plan for Devon, including an emphasis on

community champions who represent the target population groups.

Please see two case studies relating to this work in Appendix 7.

26
Page 43



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

6 Health Care Associated Infections & Antimicrobial
Resistance

6.1 Key Performance

The following information summarises the key performance position and developments for

health care associated infections, antimicrobial resistance work and key challenges over

2022/23 across the geography of Devon and Cornwall and Isles of Scilly (CloS).

6.1.0 Infections

Methicillin Devon: There were a total of 17 cases over 2022/23, with an overall rate of

Resistant 1.3 per 100,000 (mid-high quartile nationally). The majority were community-

Staphylococcus | onset community-associated and were unlinked.

Aureus CloS: There were a total of 7 cases over 2022/23, with an overall rate of 1 per

(MRSA) 100,000. Lessons identified include improving dressing pathways for midlines,
raising MRSA risk awareness with intravenous drug users, and improving pre-
operative assessment and inter-organisational surgical pathways.

Methicillin Devon: There were a total of 386 cases over 2022/23, with an overall rate of

Sensitive 30 per 100,000 (mid-high quartile nationally). This was a significant increase

Staphylococcus | on 2021/22 (105 more). Each trust monitors healthcare associated numbers

Aureus and has reduction strategies in place. There was no monitoring of community

(MSSA) cases at this time.

CloS: There were a total of 182 cases over 2022/23, with an overall rate of
and 25.6 per 100,000, 18 cases above the previous year (2021/22). The
increase of case numbers and rates (especially within community-onset
cases) have formed the ICB’s infection prevention and control’s 2023/24
workplan.

Clostridioides
difficile (C.
difficile)

Devon: There were a total of 414 cases over 2022/23, with an overall rate of
32 per 100,000 (low-mid quartile nationally). This is an increase of 24 from
2021/22. The system infection control lead is representing the Devon system
at a national C. difficile strategic level, and Devon is a member of the regional
C. difficile data collaborative. Individual trusts each have C. difficile reduction
strategies.

CloS: There were a total of 256 cases over 2022/23, an overall rate of 29.3
per 100,000, a total of 35 cases above trajectory. Cornwall system is involved
in NHS EI collaborative improvement and each C. diff case is investigated to
provide learning. The analysis of these investigations showed the need for
guality improvement measures, which have formed the ICB’s infection
prevention and control’'s 2023/24 workplan, including a patient held C. diff
passport and a ‘Think C. diff’ primary care awareness poster.

Escherichia
Coli (E. coli)

Devon: There were a total of 1029 cases over 2022/23, with an overall rate of
80 per 100,000 (mid-high quartile nationally). This was a 115-case increase
from 2021/22. Reduction projects underway include being a pilot area for a
regional NHS England hydration project.

CloS: There were a total of 417 cases over 2022/23, an overall rate of 54.5
per 100,000, 13 cases below the threshold target set by NHS England and 31
case decrease from the previous year (2021/23).

27
Page 44




Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23
6.1.1 Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) working groups

6.1.1.1 Devon AMR Group

Devon Antimicrobial Resistance Group (DARG) met on 17 Jan and 21 Feb 2023. Due to
operational pressures as well as sickness, other meetings were postponed. There was also
delay as the purpose and intent of the meetings were discussed. Operationally AMR work

continues within the medicines optimisation team within NHS Devon

6.1.1.2 Cornwall AMR group

Cornwall Antimicrobial Resistance Group (CARG) met on 27.04.22, 23.05.22 (recovery plan
meeting), 22.06.22 and 17.08.22. Operating as ‘One Health’ group, the meetings focused on
antimicrobial resistance recovery plans for each sector. Since the pandemic, maintaining
attendance at these meetings has been a challenge and interaction with colleagues such as

dentists and veterinarians has decreased. Engagement continues to be encouraged.

6.1.1.3 Devon and CloS Group
In 2022/23 a system change was proposed for antimicrobial resistance work, with the DARG
and CARG outlining a merger to avoid duplication and form a more strategic and wider

focussed Peninsula Antimicrobial Resistance Group (PARG).

Subsequent to 22/23 reporting period, PARG initially met on 16.05.23 and discussed TOR
only. Meetings are set to continue quarterly from November 2023 and will be chaired by Devon

& Cornwall alternately.

6.1.2 Healthcare workforce

At the start of 2022, the former NHS Devon Clinical Commissioning Group had recorded a
workforce risk with the recent departure of their System IPC Lead. A new post holder was
recruited in June 2022 System Lead for Infection Prevention & Control, Integrated Care

System for Devon, NHS Devon.

28
Page 45



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23
6.2 Progress on Key Health Care Associated Infection & AMR Challenges

6.2.0 Continuing to support the COVID-19 response

Management of COVID-19 moved towards being considered alongside, rather than separate
to other Acute Respiratory Infections (ARIs). Communications had to reflect the fears and
concerns perceived within the public domain and public perception continued to make return
to business as usual a challenge. This was particularly seen in the challenges within social
care settings and the acceptance of new or returning residents due to COVID-19 infection
did not align to the more willing acceptance of those with other diagnosed ARIs. Providing
assurance to the sector as well as the ICB operational/tactical team around delays in

discharges caused considerable demand on the small IPC team within the ICB.

6.2.1 Implementing E. coli & C. difficile reduction strategies

The ICB is a member of the C. difficile. national collaboration with NHSE. As a consequence,
new initiatives will be developed which will have a positive influence on Primary Care as well

as Community Care.

6.2.2 Ensuring consistent information and analysis from community infections

There have been significant challenges, within IPC. Work will commence when financial
constraints and access to sufficiently trained/experienced IPC staff allow.

6.2.3 Strengthening Antimicrobial Resistance

Urinary Tract Infection reduction work has gone on across the footprint of NHS Devon.
Challenges to other progress have included constraints within the system as reorganisation
continues, workforce capacity and staff availability/prioritisation of strategic level meetings
for operational staff which means planned developments have not been realised. This area
of the work programme will be taken forward in 2023/24 including the creation of the
Peninsula Antimicrobial Resistance Group (PARG). The new NHS Contract for 2023/24 will
include AMR specific targets to be implemented. A new AMR National Action Plan will be
published in 2024 and aspects of this will need implementing at the local level by ICS
partners. A lead will be taken from the significant work done by UKHSA around AMR.

29
Page 46



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

7 Emergency Planning, Resilience and Response

7.1 DCloS Response

Emergency Planning, Resilience and Response (EPRR) is led across the region by the NHS
with the support of local authority partners as part of a multi-agency partnership; the Devon,

Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly Local Resilience Forum (LRF). Despite the stand down from

pandemic response, extreme pressures persisted throughout the year. Relevant forum

members responded to the following significant incidents in 2022/23:

o Extreme Heat, July 2022
The Death of Her Majesty, Queen Elizabeth Il, September 2022

e Suspected Infectious Disease, November 2022
e Fire and Evacuation of Properties in Newquay, December 2022,
e Severe Winter Weather, December 2022

e Large scale industrial action across the health sector

7.1.0 Industrial Action
There has been wide scale public sector industrial action from late 2022 ongoing into 2023.
Most notably the system has been affected by ambulance service, nursing, and junior doctor
strikes. A robust planning regime was implemented, and system wide industrial action plans
developed working collaboratively with providers. Debriefs have been held after each period
on industrial action and learning identified embedded into the next iteration of planning

assumptions.

7.2 Devon EPRR Response Activity

¢ Two information technology (IT) outages at University Hospitals Plymouth, required
system wide co-ordination and response. These episodes highlighted the
vulnerability of patient care to loss of IT.

e A cyber-attack on a national IT provider significantly affected one mental health trust
in the Peninsula, taking more than eight months to resolve.

e Several storms and severe weather events required support from a multi-agency
incident response across the community.

e A national requirement to identify any sites built with Reinforced Autoclaved Aerated
Concrete (RAAC) was introduced and it was established that the system is in a good

position with no issues identified on the Devon estate at this time.

30
Page 47



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

7.3 Cornwall and Isles of Scilly EPRR Response Activity
7.3.0 Mpox Response

Detection of cases of mpox (previously known as Monkeypox) infection, acquired within the
UK, were confirmed in England from 6 May 2022. The outbreak had mainly been in gay,
bisexual, and other men who have sex with men without documented history of travel to
endemic countries. NHS England tasked systems to deliver a testing and subsequent
vaccination plan at pace. The CloS EPRR team created a standard operating protocol (SOP)
working collaboratively with system partners, public health and sexual health clinics which
structured the delivery of the response program in the most accessible way for the affected
communities and any other people at risk. The program was successful and further
embedded EPRR practice to work at a system level, engaging with partners who were not

normally in EPRR scope of practice.

7.3.1 Avian Flu Response
In August 2022 CloS experienced a large outbreak of avian flu mainly in the sea bird
population and in poultry. The team rapidly created a revised standard operating model for
the response which included coordinating the testing model for those who had been
exposed to infected birds and had become symptomatic. The previous model had focused
on delivery of a testing model for an outbreak at large poultry farm sites with the request to
test exposed workers, however this response was dynamic requiring a mobile testing model
and delivery of antivirals if required. The developed model was reviewed by UKHSA and
deemed to be best practice as it highlighted excellent system working across all sectors and
provided a seamless process for members of communities that may have been exposed.

The model is now embedded and can be activated when required.

7.3.2 Cornwall Drought Conditions
Over the autumn/winter 2022/23 reservoir levels have been depleted in Cornwall due to low
rainfall. The team have been working with the LRF partners to risk model the likelihood of
water shortages, how this could affect vulnerable people and how members of the
population could become vulnerable if water supplies are restricted. Reservoirs remain

below expected capacity. The risk remains going into 2024.

7.3.3 Large Scale Public Events
The CloS team continue to work closely with local authority colleagues’ events teams to
ensure that any large events have robust on-site medical plans and consider the potential
impact on health at a system level. Due to the large number of events, a system health
working group has been set up which meets monthly to review potential risks from key

events and mitigate these at a system level. Notably high-profile events included

31
Page 48



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

Boardmasters, the funeral of Her Majesty Queen Elizabeth 11, the World Pilot Gig
Championships, National Armed Forces Day, and numerous music events. The team have
noted the recommendations from the Manchester Arena Inquiry and have a standalone
working group set up to review these and their implications on health planning for events and

crowded places, at a system level with all key stakeholders.

7.3.4 COVID-19 Public Inquiry
The CloS EPRR team public inquiry officer collated evidence working with ICB and system
colleagues to ensure evidence is captured against each module of the inquiry. This involves

meeting with key teams to capture decisions and rationale during the response.

7.4 Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Exercises & Planning
Valuable lessons were taken from each of these exercises undertaken which have been built

into workplans going forward.

7.4.0 Regional Mass Casualty Exercise of the Casualty Distribution Plan
Systems as a whole participated in exercising this plan, which would be used in the event of

large numbers of casualties created by an incident.

7.4.1 Vulnerable People Framework
As part of a programme of work with LRF partners a LRF vulnerable people framework has
been developed and is going through sign off process. This provides a process for the
identification of who may be vulnerable during an incident and where they are in the affected
area. This also ties into the ongoing national power outages (NPO) work with LRF partners

(see 7.4.6 for details of priority groups identified).

7.4.2 Exercise Amore
In November 2022 the team tested the system incident response plan with providers and
NHS England. The scenario tested major incident response and command and control at a

system level.

7.4.3 Exercise Artic Willow
This national exercise held over three days to exercise the System’s winter response, testing
Category One response surge and escalation against concurrent operational issues and

winter pressures.

7.4.4 Chemical, Biological, Radiological, Nuclear
DCloS EPRR are represented at the Regional Radiation Monitoring Unit Working Group with
work ongoing locally and regionally aimed at planning provision of a facility to monitor

contamination among populations local to a radiation release.

32
Page 49



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

National Chemical, Biological, Radiological, Nuclear (CBRN) Initial Operational Response
project EPRR teams are engaged with this project and support several of the programme

groups within the LRF.

In June 2022, Exercise Short Sermon was delivered as a modular exercise of the
Devonport Naval Base Off-Site Emergency Plan (DOSEP). This was conducted as required
by the Radiation (Emergency Preparedness and Public Information) Regulations 2019
(REPPIR) requirements and is conducted every 3 years. Science and Technical Advice Cell
(STAC) training and a recovery element were delivered covering potential nuclear &

radiological incidents.

7.4.5 National Power Outage
The current climate of conflict in Ukraine and rising energy prices has made the risk a
potential NPO more prominent in the minds of central Government and EPRR (it is one of
the highest risks on the National Risk Register). There has been a major drive by central
government to put preparations in place. A significant amount of work has been undertaken
within the system and with LRF partners; this has included preparation and support of

several health and multi-agency exercises.

Exercise Lemur was delivered at a Local Resilience Forum level and tested the implications
of NPO on the LRF and its key responders.

The team worked at a system level throughout 2022/23 to plan for reasonable worst-case
scenario of a no notice power disruption, rather than the potential four hour rolling blackouts
that were predicted to happen in winter 2022. An assessment was made of what services
could be offered via community hubs to assist vulnerable people and prevent admission to
the acute providers. This included working with primary care colleagues to ensure they can
continue to deliver services during periods of power outages. The review of ICB business
continuity plans in 2022/23 is focused on the loss of power scenario. Continued work with

regional colleagues on potential NPO will feed into national planning assumptions.

The UKHSA Exercise Yarrow risk assessment states that, specific consideration should be
given to groups whose health may be particularly affected by loss of power due to unmet
access and functional needs. These groups are likely to be overlapping and interdependent
in many cases. The evidence shows that individuals may belong to several priority groups,
thus presenting with multiple needs. People belonging to multiple priority groups may be
placed at greater risk due to accumulating needs, although more research is required on this

topic.

33
Page 50



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

Priority groups currently identified are:

1. People reliant on electronic powered devices
2. People who may have mobility difficulties
3. People with psychiatric conditions (diagnosed or otherwise) including

mental health conditions and neurodevelopmental disorders
4. People with alternative communication needs
5. People with other access and functional needs which may be unmet in an NPO
(e.g., people who need specific medications, treatments, or care, including
infants/older adults with physical needs)
People living in rural communities, geographically remote locations or living alone
People from lower socio-economic backgrounds

No

7.4.6 High Consequence Infectious Diseases (HCID) plan
This has been developed jointly between Devon and Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly ICBs,
with input from Public Health and IPC colleagues. Robust working relationships and mutual
understanding of roles have been built which can be called upon for any future response to

high consequence infectious disease outbreaks.

7.4.7 Severe Weather Plans
Revision has been made due to the changes brought in by the UKHSA Adverse Weather
and Health Plan. Criticism of the new national plan has been fed back to the UKHSA
National Team as it is felt that the new plan is less practical to implement than its
predecessor. Consideration is being given as to how best to protect systems through

utilising alternative Meteorological Office advance warnings of severe hot/cold weather.

7.5 Assurance

The Devon system’s outcomes from the national EPRR assurance process have been
completed, with all bar one provider and the ICB being assessed as substantially compliant
with the NHS England core standards for EPRR; the exception being Patient Practice Group

(PPG) which was assessed to be fully compliant with the core standards.

7.6 Training

CloS EPRR deliver the Principles of Health Command at a Peninsula level, working in
collaboration with Devon EPRR team. Principles of Health Command is mandatory for all
staff on call at a strategic level under the minimum occupational standards for EPRR. CloS

also offer this training opportunity out to providers, and it has been well received.

The CloS EPPRR team continue to deliver a robust training program to support delivery of
our Category one status, this has focused for 2022/23 business continuity with the focus on
response to power outage and category one training. The category one training program

includes Director on Call training for all on call staff.

34
Page 51



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

8 Climate and Environment

This new section of the Committees report seeks to continue development from the setting

of work programme priority 6 (see section 9.6) on climate in last year's Committee report.

Much of what is done now and in the near future to reduce the impacts of climate change will
also reduce harms to human health. Taking a ‘Health in All Policy’ approach will ensure that
policies for mitigating and adapting to climate change are driven by health outcomes. As
health harms are increasing, there will be some unavoidable adaptation required, such as
heat related impacts on cardiovascular disease and respiratory symptoms. To protect public
health, co-benefits must be sought; reducing air pollution not only reduces gases that
contribute to climate change, but also reduces impacts on human health. Reducing the
extremes of climate change will protect future populations from the biggest threat to human

health in our time.

The Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Climate Impacts Group, chaired by the Environment
Agency, was formed in 2019 in response to declarations of climate emergency across the
area. This group is responsible for assessing the impacts faced in the South West region
and reviewing current levels of community preparedness for a warmer world. The group
have been working towards the Devon Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Adaptation Strategy
which includes the Risk Register, Adaptation Plan, and an Action Plan. Please see the link to

this information in Appendix 3.

The Local Government Association Public Health Annual Report 2023 stated “The impact of
climate change is a growing challenge for many councils and is a key public health priority.
In the summer, the UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA) issued a succession of heat-health
alerts and councils activated local heatwave plans due to extreme heat and record

temperatures. Flooding affected some areas early in 2022 and again at the end of the year.”
[

With extreme heat and drought/water supply shortages in both Devon and Cornwall in 2022
action must be taken to prepare for weather events exacerbated or caused by climate
change. Climate related issues are included in the Devon Joint Forward Plan and are

intrinsically linked with health protection topics.

At a National level, UKHSA launched their Centre for Climate and Health Security in October
2022 with “a mission to deliver a step change in capabilities”  and “the increasing impact of
climate change on our day-to-day lives” is mentioned in the foreword of the 2023 National

Risk Register and explained as one of four chronic risks (another of the four is AMR). B!

35
Page 52



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

The Devon ICS Strategy highlights a risk rating table for Devon and Cornwall which reveals
significant climate related risks to the region. The Strategy also features an infographic
showing relevant drivers of climate change and impacts. Both the table and infographic were
published by the Meteorological Office in 2022 and are featured in the ICS strategy (see link

in Appendix 3) and copied below for reference.

Locations in Cornwall,

Devon and Isles of Current Risk rating | Current Lead Assessor
Scilly (10S)
Major Tidal and Coastal Flooding All Very High Environment Agency
Major Fluvial Flooding All Very High Environment Agency
Prolonged Low Temperatures, Heavy Snow and/or Ice All High Torbay Council
Localised flooding (sudden flash, fluvial or surface water flooding) All High Environment Agency
Severe Storms and Gales All Medium Torbay Council
Heat Wave All Medium Public Health England
Drought All Medium Environment Agency
Forest, wood or moorland fire All Medium Cornwall Fire and Rescue Service
Heavy Snow or Ice on vulnerable areas of the highways network All Low Torbay Council
Building Collapse Al Low gevc_)n and Somerset Fire and Rescue
ervice
Bridge Closure or Collapse All Low gevc?n TR e AR 2 e
ervice
Major reservoir dam failure causgd by loss of structural integrity Al Medium Environment Agency
or controlled release or overtopping
Land Movement (Tremors and Landslides) All Medium Devon County Council
Catastrophic failure of mine water treatment works and/or Wheal Jane complex, .
Medium Cornwall Council
sludge storage dam Nr Baldhu, Comwall
Epidemic/ Pandemic Influenza All Very High or High Public Health England
Industrial Accidents and Environmental Pollution, Major Air Al High Environment Agency

Quality Incident

Risk to
water e

RAR AR » ¥ supplies s
Food e i&

insecurity Conflict

and climate
{ e
st B )
Damage to
infrastructure B
e Localised

flooding
@ [ \ h\’ -y ‘\
Forest mortality \ / s ’

and increased

risk of fires Flooding of
coastal regions

Drivers of ; : -
climate change ‘ 4 N
v ,,@"/

Habitable Damage
region of pests to marine

Changes to the expands il
climate system . PR

-~
-
-

-
Fisheries
¥ failing
a n D
Impacts seasonaity + ,

Loss of &
biodiversity




Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

9 Progress on Work Programme Priorities for 2022/23

9.1 COVID-19

Maintain response to COVID-19 in line with current guidance, resourcing, and activity.

All areas maintained a response proportionate to the risk and available capacity,
transitioning to ‘business as usual’ situation for COVID-19, embedding all hazards planning
and resilience into standard practice, and working with NHS and other system partners to
keep infection prevention on the agenda. The main focus was on maximising COVID-19
immunisation in response to the booster, the evergreen offer and additional eligibility groups
that came online during the year, whilst working to reduce inequalities. Capacity to support
non-NHS settings with IPC through COMF continued as the 3 Devon Local Authorities
maintained the links with these settings built through the pandemic until the COMF IPC
practitioner post ended in March 2023.

9.2 Preparedness

Ensure preparedness and system wide resilience to respond to future pandemics or
health protection emergencies, including sharing learning to inform future

approaches.

Cornwall and Isles of Scilly EPRR have produced a High Consequence Infectious
Disease/Pandemic plan, and this is the first plan of its kind to be approved at Devon and
Cornwall level and has been shared with our health partners. In March 2023 Devon County
Council conducted a debrief into their health protection response for adult social care
settings (with feedback shared with relevant partner organisations onwards into 2023-24 with
actions identified). NHS Devon and associated local authorities participated in the UKHSA
led winter preparedness exercise which looked at care home outbreaks and special
educational needs and disabilities settings outbreaks in autumn 2022. Consideration has
been given to the combined experience of the pandemic, including readiness to stand up
systems as needed, and maintaining training for core and non-core staff teams. The coming

COVID-19 enquiry will inform action in future reporting periods.

37
Page 54



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

9.3 Screening and Immunisation

Continue recovery of screening and immunisation programmes including launch of
the Maximising Immunisation Uptake Groups and a renewed focus on addressing
health inequalities in uptake, including a focus on flu and covid uptake amongst

vulnerable and inclusion health groups.

MIUGs were established in Cornwall and Isles of Scilly in June 2022 followed by Devon in
January 2023. These were instigated by SW NHSE Screening and Immunisation Teams
(subsequently renamed Vaccination and Screening Teams) to address challenges in uptake,
especially Measles, Mumps and Rubella and preschool booster. Low level data was shared,
a baseline mapped, and action plans developed. Most screening services recovered during
2022/23 with clear plans in place to fully recover during early 2023/23. All programmes will
now be focusing on improving uptake and coverage. School aged immunisations providers
continue to implement recovery plans to catch up backlogs and additional investment has
been agreed. Collaborative working arrangements between system partners on
interdependencies within cancer pathways and improving immunisation uptake are being

strengthened.

In Devon, Cornwall and Isles of Scilly joint work at local level was carried out to promote,
support and deliver vaccination for influenza and COVID-19. In Devon the health inequalities
group supported and influenced work in community settings such as churches, homeless
shelters, town shopping centres, pubs, libraries, community centres and with VCSE groups

to facilitate this.

9.4 Infection Prevention Control

Embed and strengthen Community Infection Management Services to prevent and
respond to infections throughout the community, ensuring that there is IPC support

for all settings, aligning to the broader South West IPC Strategy Work.

The COMF funded IPC support post in Devon for non-health and care settings ceased at the
end of March 2023. This has left a gap which remains on the ICB risk register. The ICB
Community Infection Management Services teams have, when possible, provided support
but this is not their prime function and the four teams continue to be managed through the

acute trusts IPC teams.

Devon ICB IPC team has maintained good links with local authority health protection

colleagues and UKHSA through the Devon Huddle (Devon wide health protection monthly

38
Page 55



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

meeting). The Cornwall and Isles of Scilly System and Cornwall and Isles of Scilly IPC
Alliance remain linked. The South West IPC strategy and AMR priorities are being localised.
Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly colleagues continue to engage with the wider local
health protection collaborative arrangements including the bi-weekly UKHSA Health
Protection Network (with alternating strategic and touch point meetings) and monthly
UKHSA Care Settings Health Protection Network.

9.5 Health Protection Improvement

Work towards continuous improvement in all areas of health protection through audit,
peer review, training, and development. Specifically address improvement areas
highlighted by the Sector Led Improvement self-assessment and the UKHSA Gap

Analysis/Action Planning tool.

The GAAP analysis was commenced and pathway gaps for action were identified. Updated
self-assessments against the sector led improvement tool were completed identifying areas

for continuous improvement across the Peninsula.

9.6 Climate Emergency

Maintain a focus on local action to address the climate emergency, building on the

findings of the South West sector-led improvement Climate and Public Health work.

In Devon joint work has commenced at a local level between climate sustainability and
health protection colleagues. After full consultation, the final Devon Carbon Plan was
published on 16 November 2023, as a roadmap of how Devon will reach net-zero emissions
by 2050 at the latest and health is a cross-cutting theme in the plan. In 2022 Plymouth City
Council published the third of 11 action plans in the City Council's annual Climate
Emergency Action Plan series. The Climate Emergency Action Plan lists all the actions that
are being taken with partners in the Plymouth Net Zero Partnership, to reduce emissions
across the city and to encourage others to do the same. See appendix 3 for the link to the
Plymouth Climate Action Plan. The head of Cornwall and Isles of Scilly EPRR leads on the
system level net zero programme and hold a quarterly climate collaboration meeting which
includes all providers, volunteer Cornwall, local authority and NHSE, all working towards

reviewing the system Green Plan in 2024.

The formative Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Climate Adaptation Plan was discussed

during the 2022/23 reporting period.

39
Page 56



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

9.7 Health Protection Governance

Refresh health protection governance structures in line with integrated care board
and integrated care system strategy development including a review of existing

meetings and terms of reference.

Devon consolidated links with the Medical Directorate in Devon ICB. Governance has yet to
be revisited following the NHS Devon restructure. Significant joint work over the ICS
Strategy and Joint Forward Plan took place with health protection featuring strongly in the
plan, as one of the nine areas of work identified for action. A joint forward plan health

protection operational group is being established to oversee the governance of this work.

In Cornwall and Isles of Scilly a review of terms of reference has taken place and mapping of

current meetings developed.

9.8 Continuous Professional Development

Advocate for arolling CPD and training programme to ensure a robust and resilient

system which can respond to major incidents and emergencies.

Devon County Council have procured logging training and legal awareness training. Health
Education England (now NHSE) continue to offer places on the health protection short

courses to local authorities. For CloS EPRR see 7.4.9 training above

40
Page 57



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

10 Ongoing Work Programme Priorities

The ongoing work programme priorities of the Health Protection Committee are set out below.
These are the priorities against which the next Health Protection Committee assurance report will
report against. Subsequent reports will be published 6 months after the reporting period (financial
year) ends. These priorities will be reviewed and updated as part of the annual reporting process.

10.1 Priorities agreed by Health Protection Committee members

Climate Emergency

Work closely with partners to address the climate emergency and develop plans in relation
to flooding, heatwave, cold weather, and other climate related mitigations or emergencies,
with an emphasis on the impact on vulnerable groups.

Infection Prevention and Management

Take action to strengthen infection prevention arrangements and tackle anti-microbial
resistance;

promote health protective behaviours

strengthen infection prevention systems within health and care and wider settings
reduce healthcare associated infections

tackle antimicrobial resistance

implement the regional Infection Prevention and Management Strategy at local level

PO TR

Vaccinations
Work via the Maximising Immunisation Uptake Groups on shared objectives, to protect our
population against outbreaks, by implementing targeted local actions.

Pandemic Preparedness
Develop and strengthen all hazards planning and pandemic preparedness, promote
resilience, and build on learning from the Covid Inquiry as findings are shared.

Continuous Improvement in Health Protection

Work towards continuous improvement in health protection. Implement the Sector Led
Improvement, and Gap Analysis Action Plans and audit performance against the What Does
Good Look Like in health protection tool, sharing best practice and embedding learning from
experience.

Inclusion & Inequalities
Protect the health of people experiencing greater inequalities in health or access. Implement
the Inclusion Health Agenda through health protection systems.

Work to support local strategic plans

See links to plans in Appendix 3 - e.g. for Devon, implement the year 1-5 Health Protection
objectives and milestones in the Devon ICS Joint Forward Plan. Work similarly in Cornwall
and the Isles Of Scilly as plans are finalised.

41
Page 58



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

11 Authors and contributors

Lead author Deborah Jones, Health Protection Practitioner, Public Health, Devon County Council

[This report is written by each council in turn - please contact healthprotection@devon.gov.uk if a
handover is required for the next author].

Abenaa Gyamfuah-Assibey, Public Health Commissioning Manager, Devon County Council

Dr Alison Mackenzie, Consultant in Public Health Medicine, Screening and Immunisations Lead, NHS
England Vaccination and Screening Team

Ami Butler, Public Health Analyst and Surveillance Officer, NHS Cornwall & Isles of Scilly ICB
Anthony Shannon, System Lead Infection Prevention & Control, NHS Devon ICB

Bev Raich, Business Support (Health Protection), Public Health, Devon County Council

Claire Flavin, Lead for Seasonal Vaccination Programme Operations and Workforce, NHS Devon ICB

Claire Penellum, Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response Manager NHS Cornwall & Isles
of Scilly ICB

Gemma Scott, Public Health Specialist, Office of the Director of Public Health, Plymouth City Council
Jamie Whitford- Robson, Emergency Management Manager, Cornwall Council

Jessie Child, Head of Emergency Preparedness, Resilience, and Response, Net Zero lead, NHS
Cornwall & Isles of Scilly ICB

John Amosford, Public Health Specialist, Devon County Council

Julia Chisnell, Consultant in Public Health, Torbay Council

Dr Julie Frier, Consultant in Public Health Medicine, Plymouth Council

Dr Katherine McHale, Consultant in Public Health, Devon County Council

Kirsty Hill, Public Health Specialist (Health Protection), Devon County Council

Lisa Johnson, Head of Infection Prevention and Control, NHS Cornwall & Isles of Scilly ICB
Mandy Guy, Public Health Specialist (Health Protection), Torbay Council

Mary Dawe, Wellbeing and Public Health, Cornwall Council

Philip Coutie, EPRR Lead, Integrated Care System for Devon, NHS Devon ICB

Dr Ruth Goldstein, Assistant Director of Public Health, Cornwall Council

Dr Whitney Curry, Public Health Practitioner, Cornwall Council

With thanks to all contributors from members of the Health Protection Committee

42
Page 59


mailto:healthprotection@devon.gov.uk

Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

12 Appendices

12.1 Appendix 1 — Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection
Committee - Summary terms of reference & affiliated groups

Membership of the Committee:
* Local Authority Public Health
» UK Health Security Agency

* NHS England

* NHS Devon and Cornwall Integrated Care Boards
Meetings of the Committee are held quarterly.

Several groups sit alongside the Committee with remits for:
* Infection Prevention and Control

* Antimicrobial Stewardship

* Immunisation

» Screening

» Seasonal vaccination

* Emergency planning (including Local Resilience Forums)
» Migrant and Refugee health

* Tuberculosis & Hepatitis.

All oversight groups have Terms of Reference and clear escalation routes to ensure
accountability both within NHS England and UKHSA and into individual partner

organisations.

NHSE, UKHSA and ICBs provide quarterly performance, surveillance, and assurance

reports to the Committee.

Local authority lead officers review surveillance and performance monitoring information to
identify health protection risks and/or under performance prior to committee meetings.

Officers are responsible for liaising with relevant partners to ensure that actions have been
agreed to mitigate against any identified risks, or to improve performance. The outcomes of

these discussions are formally reported to the Committee for consideration and agreement.

43
Page 60



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23
12.2 Appendix 2 - Roles in relation to delivery, surveillance, and assurance

12.2.0 Prevention and control of infectious disease
UKHSA local health protection teams lead the epidemiological investigation and the
specialist health protection response to public health outbreaks or incidents. They have
responsibility for declaring a health protection incident, major or otherwise and are supported

by local, regional, and national expertise.

NHS England is responsible for managing and overseeing the NHS response to any incident
that threatens the public’s health. They are also responsible for ensuring that their

contracted providers deliver an appropriate clinical response.

Integrated Care Boards ensure, through contractual arrangements with provider
organisations, that healthcare resources are made available to respond to health protection

incidents or outbreaks.

Local authorities, through the Director of Public Health or their designate, have overall
responsibility for strategic oversight of an incident or outbreak which has an impact on their
population’s health. They should ensure that an appropriate response is put in place by
NHSE and UKHSA, supported by the local. In addition, they must be assured that the local
health protection system response is robust and that risks have been identified, are

mitigated against, and adequately controlled.

UKHSA provides a quarterly report to the Committee containing epidemiological information
on cases and outbreaks of communicable diseases of public health importance at local
authority level. Surveillance information on influenza and influenza-like iliness and infectious

intestinal disease activity, including norovirus, are published during the winter months.

12.2.1 Screening and Immunisation
Population Screening and Immunisation programmes are commissioned by NHS England
under what is known as the Section 7A agreement. There are 20 population immunisation
programmes and 11 population screening programmes. These programmes cover the whole
life course from antenatal to elderly persons and, in any one year, approximately 70% of the
population will become eligible for at least one immunisation or screening test. These
programmes are a core element of prevention and early diagnosis and offer opportunities for

accessing populations to improve wider health and wellbeing.

NHS England is the lead commissioner for all immunisation and screening programmes
except the six antenatal and new-born programmes that are part of the ICB Maternity Payment

Pathway arrangements, although NHS England remains the accountable commissioner.

44
Page 61



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

UK Health Security Agency is responsible for setting national immunisation policy and
standards through expert groups (including the Joint Committee on Vaccination and
Immunisation). The National Screening Committee is part of the Department of Health and
Social Care and advises ministers and the NHS in the 4 UK countries about all aspects of
screening and supports implementation of screening programmes. At a local level, specialist
public health staff in NHSE Vaccination and Screening Teams provide accountability for the

commissioning of the programmes and system leadership.

Local authorities, through the Director of Public Health, are responsible for seeking assurance
that screening and immunisation services are operating safely whilst maximising coverage
and uptake within their local populations. Public health teams are responsible for protecting
and improving the health of their local population under the leadership of the Director of Public
Health, including supporting NHS England in efforts to improve programme coverage and
uptake.

The NHSE South West Vaccination and Screening Team provides quarterly reports to the
Health Protection Committee for each of the national screening and immunisation
programmes. Reports are considered by lead Local Authority Consultants in Public Health
and any risks identified are considered with NHS England specialists to agree mitigating

activities.

Serious incidents that occur in the delivery of programmes are reported by NHSE SW VaST

to the Director of Public Health for the Local Authority and to the Health Protection Committee.

Locality Immunisation Group activity was suspended during the pandemic but has been re-
introduced in 2022 and badged as MIUGs, where all local activity to improve coverage and

reduce inequalities is planned and co-ordinated working with local system partners.
Separate planning and oversight groups are in place for seasonal influenza and COVID-19.

There are Programme Boards (oversight groups) for all screening programmes and these form
part of the local assurance mechanisms to identify risks and oversee continuous quality
improvement. In addition, specific project groups are convened, as necessary, to oversee

significant developments in the programmes and the introduction of new programmes.

All the oversight groups have Terms of Reference and clear escalation routes to ensure

accountability both within NHS England and into individual partners.

45
Page 62



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

12.2.2 Healthcare associated infections
NHS England sets out and monitors the NHS Outcomes Framework which includes Domain
Five (safety): treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from
avoidable harm. NHS England holds Integrated Care Boards to account for performance
against indicators under this domain, which includes incidence of healthcare associated
methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus bacteraemia and incidence of Clostridium difficile

infection.

UKHSA, through its consultants in communicable disease control, leads the epidemiological
investigation and the specialist health protection response to wider community non-hospital

outbreaks, and is responsible for declaring a health protection incident.

The ICBs role is to ensure, through contractual arrangements with provider organisations, that
health care associated infection standard operating procedures are in all provider contracts
and are monitored regularly. In addition, ICBs must be assured that the Infection Prevention
and Control Teams covering the hospital and NHS community healthcare provided services
sector are robust enough to respond appropriately to protect the local population’s health, and
that risks of health care associated infection have been identified, are mitigated against, and

are adequately controlled.

The local authority, through the Director of Public Health or their designate, has overall
responsibility for the strategic oversight of a health care associated infection incident affecting
their population’s health. They should ensure that an appropriate response is put in place by
NHS England and UKHSA, supported by the ICB.

The Regional Infection Prevention & Control (IPC) Network is a monthly forum for all
stakeholders working towards the elimination of avoidable health care associated infections.
The group covers health and social care interventions in clinical, home, and residential care
environments, identifying risks, sharing best practice and collaborating in system-wide
approaches. The group is co-ordinated by NHS Devon ICB and is a cross-agency forum
involving Acute and Community NHS Trusts, Ambulance and Out of Hours Doctors, Local
Authority Public Health, UKHSA, Medicines Optimisation and NHS England.

In Cornwall there is an IPC system alliance with multi-agency attendance working on a similar
agenda, also reporting into the Health Protection Committee. There is cross-attendance

between the Devon and Cornwall groups.

46
Page 63



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

12.2.3 Emergency planning and response
Local resilience forum (LRF) is a multi-agency partnership made up of representatives from
local public services, including the emergency services, local authorities, the NHS, the
Environment Agency, and others. These agencies are known as Category 1 Responders, as
defined by the Civil Contingencies Act. The geographical area the forum covers, reflects the
police area of Devon, Cornwall, and the Isles of Scilly.

The LRFs aim to plan and prepare for localised incidents and catastrophic emergencies. They
work to identify potential risks and produce emergency plans to either prevent or mitigate the

impact of any incident on their local communities.

The Local Health Resilience Partnership (LHRP) is a strategic forum for organisations in the
local health sector. The LHRP facilitates health sector preparedness and planning for
emergencies at Local Resilience Forum (LRF) level. It supports the NHS, UKHSA and local
authority representatives on the LRF in their role to represent health sector Emergency

Planning, Resilience and Response (EPRR) matters.

All Councils continue to engage with the Local Resilience Forum and the Local Health
Resilience Partnership in undertaking their local engagement, joint working, annual exercise

programme, responding to incidents and undertaking learning as required.

47
Page 64



Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

12.3 Appendix 3 —links to Strategies and Plans

Cornwall and Isles of Scilly ICS Strategy
https://cios.icb.nhs.uk/ics/

Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Joint Forward Plan

https://docs.cios.icb.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/NHSCornwallAndlslesOfScilly/Organisation/P
olicies/230405JFPJune2023edition.pdf

Devon ICS Strategy and Devon Joint Forward Plan

https://onedevon.org.uk/about-us/our-vision-and-ambitions/our-devon-plan/

Plymouth Climate Emergency Action Plan

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/climate-emergency-action-plan-2022

Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Climate Adaptation Strategy

https://www.climateresilient-dcios.orq.uk/#:~:text=View%20Consultation%20Report-
,The%20Devon%2C%20Cornwall%20and%201sles%200f%20Scilly%20(DCloS)%20Climate
,change%?20increasingly%?20affects%20the%20UK.

48
Page 65


https://onedevon.org.uk/about-us/our-vision-and-ambitions/our-devon-plan/
https://www.climateresilient-dcios.org.uk/#:~:text=View%20Consultation%20Report-,The%20Devon%2C%20Cornwall%20and%20Isles%20of%20Scilly%20(DCIoS)%20Climate,change%20increasingly%20affects%20the%20UK
https://www.climateresilient-dcios.org.uk/#:~:text=View%20Consultation%20Report-,The%20Devon%2C%20Cornwall%20and%20Isles%20of%20Scilly%20(DCIoS)%20Climate,change%20increasingly%20affects%20the%20UK
https://www.climateresilient-dcios.org.uk/#:~:text=View%20Consultation%20Report-,The%20Devon%2C%20Cornwall%20and%20Isles%20of%20Scilly%20(DCIoS)%20Climate,change%20increasingly%20affects%20the%20UK

99 abed

Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

12.4 Appendix 4 - Counts of Situations by Principle Contexts and Infectious Agents

in DCloS 01 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 from Field Services, UKHSA

UKHSA Situations

Counts of Situations (by Principle Contexts and Infectious Agents)
Local Authority: All {Cernwall and Isles of Scilly, Deven, Plymouth and Torbay)

01 April 2022 to 31 March 2023

Adult Social Care Education Healthcare Other Workplace Total

COVID-19 1201 6 2 10 0 1219
Seasonal Influenza A Virus 30 0 0 0 0 30
Other 95 169 1 58 11 334

Total 1326 175 3 b3 11 1583

Caveats: Please note, metrics included in this report should not be considered official statistics. This data includes counts of HPZone (case management

system used by UKHSA) 'Situations' for DCloS, where 'Date Entered' was from 01 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 (inclusive).

Other Infectious Agent: Brucella spp, Campylobacter spp, Chemical agent, unknown, Chlamydophila psittaci, Escherichia coli 0157, Herpes simplex virus,

Measles virus, Mycobacterium spp, unspecified, Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex, Norovirus, Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), Scabies mite,
Staphylococcus aureus — PVL, Streptococcus, Group A, Varicella-zoster virus, Yersinia enterocolitica, Influenza A virus (Avian), Influenza A virus, HSN1

Other Principle Context: Asylum Seeker Accommodation, Childminder/Childcare Provision, Children's Residential Home, Community, Custodial Institution,

Environmental Exposure, Food Outlet / Restaurant, Hotel, Music Venue, Visitor Attraction, Homeless Accommodation, Household

50




/9 abed

Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

12.5 Appendix 5 - Screening coverage (Latest available publicly available published data) 2022/23

SOURCE: Local Authority Dashboard, Public Health Outcomes Framework, Futures website, downloaded 13/11/2023

Cancer Screening by Local Authority (Devon)

Lower
Indicator threshold® standard® Key Geography 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
resnol
C24a - Cancer screening coverage: breast cancer 70 80 <70 70-80 280 Deven 22 S0 BEL S i 2L b e i 22 2L o2 ZLL
England 769 771 769 J63 758 754 755 75.4 7489 745 741 64.1 65.2
C24b-Ca . X ical (aged 25 to 49 1d) 80 A <80 280 Devon 791 780 770 752 757 761 753 749 751 767 772 752 742
neerscreening coverage: cervical cancer lag o s3years e = England 741 73.7 73.4 715 718 712 702 69.6 69.1 698 702 68.0 676
Devon B26 822 816 811 80.2 80.1 798 79.0 78.1 782 784 773 775
R . . . 2
C24¢ - Cancer screening coverage: cervical cancer (aged 50 to 64 years old) 80 N/A <80 280 England 787 801 799 795 70.4 78.4 780 772 762 762 761 747 785
. . Deven 60.5 63.1 648 648 66.0 69.6 725 76.1
C24d - Cancer screening coverage: bowel cancer 55 60 <55 55-60 260 England 573 58.4 592 595 605 64.3 66.1 703
Cancer Screening by Local Authority (Plymouth)
~ Lower 5
Indicator threshold* Standard Key Geography 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
re:
. Plymouth 799 806 80.1 787 78.4 79.1 793 79.0 78.2 782 774 702 745
da - - 7 70-
€243 - Cancer screening coverage: breast cancer o &0 R 7020 e England 769 771 76.9 763 7589 75.4 755 754 749 745 741 641 65.2
; B N Plymouth 75.2 743 746 735 738 737 726 7.7 715 73.1 737 712 69.5
C24b - Cancer screening coverage: cervical cancer (aged 25 to 49 years old) 20 N/A <80 280 England 741 737 734 715 718 712 702 sos eo1 cos 702 80 ppe
N . ~ Plymouth 812 80.7 809 B0.6 80.2 79.3 787 77 76.2 759 76.0 754 75.0
C24c - Cancer screening coverage: cervical cancer (aged 50 to 64 years old) 80 MN/A <80 280 England 787 201 799 705 794 784 78.0 772 76.2 76.2 761 747 746
C24d-C . b I = &0 L e Plymouth 62.0 62.1 618 62.0 62.7 66.8 693 732
*bAncer screening coverage: howel cancer i 57.3 58.4 59.2 s9.5 60.5 64.3 66.1 70.3
Cancer Screening by Local Authority (Torbay)
) Lower
Indicator threshold® Standard® Key Geography 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
res
C24a - Cancer scrasning coverags: breast eancer 70 a0 <70 70-80 280 Torbay 792 JE6 769 770 765 767 J47 741 FLX 742 770 755 Jjoz
England 769 77l 769 763 759 754 755 754 749 745 741 64.1 65.2
C24b - Cancer . . ical d 25 to 49 Id) 80 /A <80 280 Torbay 754 750 751 734 740 739 727 719 715 734 T43 721 706
ncer screening coverage: cervical cancer (age yearso = England 741 73.7 734 715 718 712 702 69.6 69.1 698 702 68.0 676
. . Torbay B80S 79.4 795 79.4 79.4 791 781 76.9 75.2 750 75.2 743 731
C24c - Cancer screening coverage: cervical cancer (aged 50 to 64 years old) 80 Nf& <80 z80 England 787 801 79.9 785 794 78.4 780 772 76.2 762 761 747 74.6
N R Torbay 62.6 62.0 62.0 617 62.4 659 685 717
C24d - Cancer screening coverage: bowel cancer S5 60 <55 55-60 260 England 573 584 502 sas5 505 543 66.1 703
Cancer Screening by Local Authority (Cornwall)
. Lower 3
Indicator threshold® Standard Key Geography 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
resnol
C248 - Cancer screening coverage: breast cancer 70 80 <70 70-80 280 Cornwall 80O 798 793 9% 80.1 803 B0.0 793 78B4 782 781 721 719
England 765 771 769 763 7559 754 755 754 749 745 741 64.1 65.2
Cornwall 76.2 75.4 757 740 748 75.2 743 734 73.4 75.0 759 729 722
4b - 2 I 4 I A
C24b - Cancer screening coverage: cervical cancer (aged 25 to 49 years old) 80 M/, <80 280 England 741 737 73.4 715 718 712 702 69.6 0.1 608 702 68.0 676
~ X N Cornwall 80.0 79.7 80.0 794 788 78.2 778 77.2 763 76.1 760 746 7456
C24c - Cancer screening coverage: cervical cancer (aged 50 to 64 years old) 80 NfA <80 280 England 787 801 788 785 70.4 78.4 78.0 772 762 762 761 747 746
B ) Cornwall 58.2 511 62.1 621 63.2 67.0 B89 733
C24d - Cancer screening coverage: bowel cancer 55 60 <55 S5-60 2 England 573 584 592 595 505 64.3 56.1 70.3

50



89 abed

Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

" Other Screening by Local Authority (Devon)

Lower
Indicator the 1 | standard® Key Geography 201314 2014715 201516 201617 2017718 2018/19 2015/20 2020/21 202122
, . ) Devon 874 873 B6.1 872 87.1 B74 844 a7.0 BBE
C2de - Abd | Aortic An Sc Cove 75 BS 7 75-
amins 16 Aneurysm scresning regs g 3RS g England T4 794 799 809 BOB B13 76.1 55.0 TO0.3
Devon 98.6 3.7 968 9.1 9.0 95.0 96.2 933
4m - Heari ing: )
C14m - Newborn Hearing Screening: Coverage S8 9.5 <98 98-955 995 England 385 985 387 484 489 gu3 482 475 387
_ o _ Devon 931 SE6
C24n - Newborn and Infant Physical Examination Screening Coverage a5 975 <95 95-975 2975 England e13 949 935 a4 064 967 o135 W06
Other Screening by Local Authority (Plymouth)
Lonarer
Indicator threshold! md‘! Key Geography 2013014 201415 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 201819 2019/20 2020421 2021/12
e
Plymouth 831 812 831 85.1 819 B4l BO.7 B0 827
= < -
C24e - Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Screening Coverage 75 85 75 T75-85 285 England 74 754 708 208 808 813 761 50 703
) ) Plymauth 9.2 99.4 9.4 99,2 998 o84 S84 9.4
C24m - Newborn Hearing Screening: Coverage 38 995 <98 SE-995 2995 England nE s o5 987 254 —pe 9.2 082 ors oAy
. ’ . Flymouth 988 ar.z
C24n - Newborn and Infant Physical Examination Screening Coverage 95 975 <55 95-975 2978 England 933 949 935 952 g5.4 96.7 973 956
Other Screening by Local Authority (Torbay)
Lawer
Indicator the . standard® Key Geography 201314 201415 2015/16 2016f17 2017/18 2018/1% 2019/20 020/21 2021/22
. . Torbay a5 843 0.2 853 858 843 797 85.2 BEE
Ci4e - Abdominal Agrtic Aneurysm Screening Coverage 75 BS <75 75-8% 285 England 7.4 704 0.9 203 808 213 761 5.0 703
i Torbay o989 29.4 204 29.1 go.1 291 99.E 206
£24m = Newborn Hearing Screening: Coverage a3 995 <98 SB8-595 29495 England 985 98.5 987 982 989 992 982 975 987
. - . Torbay 882 5981
C24n - Newborn and Infant Physical Examination Screening Coverage 95 97.5 <95 95-57.5 2975 England a3z sag ass asa 264 . a7z 266
Other Screening by Local Authority (Cornwall)
L
Indicatar th ower . | standard® Key Geography 2013/14 2014715 201516 201617 201718 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 202122
i ] i Cornwall 38 833 835 849 841 BES 812 853 853
C24e - Abdaminal Aartic Ancurysm Sereening Coverage s 83 R3] 75-35 gEES England 77.4 79.4 79.9 809 80.8 Bl3 76.1 55.0 70.3
Cornwall 995 998 998 998 998 957 970 998
C24m - Newborn Hearing Screening: Coverage 58 995 <58 58-99.5 2995 England GBS 385 387 984 989 99.2 982 75 387
. . . ) Carmvwal | o97.6 554
C24n - Newborn and Infant Phyzical Exarmination Screening Coverage 95 97.5 <95 95-97.5 2975 England _ - -_ a5 4 a6 957 5 855

51




69 obed

Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

12.6 Appendix 6 - Immunisation performance 2022/23

Immunisation schedule; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-complete-routine-immunisation-schedule/the-complete-routine-
immunisation-schedule-from-february-2022

Preschool — Annual COVER statistics 2022/23 https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-immunisation-statistics

Childhood Vaccination Coverage Statistics - Local Authority Time Series INHS |
England

Vaccination Selected Earliest Year Latest Year Years Shown
Multiple Vaccinations Selected 2013-14  2022-23 10

Local Authority Region Country

Devon South West _ England

Local Authority coverage (%) Region coverage (%) Country coverage (%)

100 100 100

20

80 80 80
70 70 70
60 60 60

I TN N - S N N W RN & D AN D P T - ST SN NS JT Y
P B« I O AN L & B R O . I . A L & SAR A0 A AL AR A 0 N g
S 1‘&1 "P\% ¥ "P\W "S\% 1“\% 1"10 "@l\ 7911 & 1°\> “P\% ¥ "90 “E\% "S\q 10@ 1“7"\ 1“7’1 PO 1°\h "@\c’ ”@\b 10\'\ 79\% 1@% 1@’0 1@’\ il
@DTaP-l... @PCV at ... ®Rotaat... ®#MenB a... @ DTaP-l... @ MMR1 ... @ Hib/Me... ®PCV bo... @MenBb... @ DTaP-I... @ DTaP-l... @ MMR1 ... @ MMR2 ... @ Hib/Me...

52


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-complete-routine-immunisation-schedule/the-complete-routine-immunisation-schedule-from-february-2022
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-complete-routine-immunisation-schedule/the-complete-routine-immunisation-schedule-from-february-2022
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-immunisation-statistics

Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

INHS |

England

Childhood Vaccination Coverage Statistics - Local Authority Time Series

Vaccination Selected Earliest Year Latest Year Years Shown
Multiple Vaccinations Selected 2013-14 2022-23 10

Local Authority Region Country

Plymouth South West England

Local Authority coverage (%) Region coverage (%) Country coverage (%)

100 100
~— -
————
. " .w
U 80 80 80
~ 70 70 70
60 60 60
T S RS S I R T I A R N T I (RN T SRS R AT L £
A A Nl A0 N A A 1N A A Nl Ao S\ AD A Q” Al 17 el (8 vl o . J 9" NG N 15
AR BT AR BT B 90T 9@ o R A R A S N R R R R N L L 1
@DTaP-l... @PCVat ... ®Rotaat... ®MenB a... @DTaP-l... @MMR1 ... @Hib/Me... ®PCV bo... @ MenBb... @DTaP-I... ®DTaP-l... @ MMR1 ... @ MMR2 ... @ Hib/Me...

53



T/ obed

Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

Childhood Vaccination Coverage Statistics - Local Authority Time Series INHS |

England
Vaccination Selected Earliest Year Latest Year Years Shown
Multiple Vaccinations Selected 2013-14 2022-23 10
Local Authority Region Country
Torbay South West England
Local Authority coverage (%) Region coverage (%) Country coverage (%)

100 100

O -
e

* b w
80 80 80
70 70 70
60 60 60

N T NN S S S N A Y I N R T N VR L S S S S N W

A A KV R D S N b T I T T AN B S R AR £ A N A AL S

o b g N
B “55\‘; 1‘&’ 75‘\1 SRR SR AR EEN 1“\% 755\b z“\ﬂ SO R i S “9\‘7 1“\% "P\'\ NN S A
@®DTaP-l... @PCV at ... ®Rota at... ®#MenB a... @ DTaP-l... @ MMR1 ... @ Hib/Me... ® PCV bo... @ MenB b... @DTaP-I... ® DTaP-l... @ MMR1 ... ® MMR2 ... @ Hib/Me...

54



Z/) abed

Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

Childhood Vaccination Coverage Statistics - Local Authority Time Series INHS

England
Vaccination Selected Earliest Year Latest Year Years Shown
Multiple Vaccinations Selected 2013-14  2022-23 10
Local Authority Region Country
Cornwall and Isles of Scilly South West England
Local Authority coverage (%) Region coverage (%) Country coverage (%)
100 100 100

4 — e e e e ~
~ M o % -
..-_‘V . % ”M
90 90 90 .

5 last saved: Just now

80 80 80
70 70 70
60 60 60
”&\%A 16\&,\10\%'@10\%/\’\ln\n‘ ,\%@\%,\Oﬁla@,@l@wﬂl@,\Jﬁ‘@ﬁf’ n&\ﬂ?A516\D(,\“;D\%A@@\b,\'\l“\ﬂ\ ,\%la\%,\qla@,@l@wﬂl@,\ﬂﬂ‘l@}f’ 1(3\“7 ,xzﬁ\h:ﬁi@%,\@@\b,\’ \@\,\ '\%@\%ﬁq@@lg@ﬁﬂ@ ’L\f; 0'9"”&
®DTaP-I... @PCV at... ®Rotaat... @#MenB a... @ DTaP-I... @MMR1 ... @Hib/Me... ®PCV bo... @#MenBb... @DTaP-l... @ DTaP-... @ MMR1 ... @ MMR2 ... @ Hib/Me...

55



¢) abed

Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

Annual other immunisations 2021/22 (Latest available publicly available published data)

"Annual Other Immunisations by Local Authority (Devon)

Indicator th::swh:d’ standard® Key Geography 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014715 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
D04e - Population vaccination coverage: HPV vaccination coverage for one dose (12 to 13 year old) (Female) 80 30 <80 80-90 =90 E:;Ioa:d gii zgi gsg ‘:?; :;: 2:; ;:; :? z;;
D04e - Population vaccination coverage: HPV vaccination coverage for one dose (12 to 13 year old) (Male) 80 90 <80 80-90 290 Eﬁ;z:]d :iz ?:E Zs:
D04f - Population vaccination coverage: HPV vaccination coverage for one dose (13 to 14 year old) (Female) 80 90 <80 80-90 290 E:;g;d g:? g:? :g: g;: ;2: :;: :3:’
DO4f - Bopulation vaccination coverage: HPV vaccination coverage for ane dose (13 to 14 year old) {Male) 80 %0 |<s0 80-50 zs0|PEYO" 5L1 568

England 54.4 62.4

D04g - Population vaccination coverage: Meningococcal ACWY conjugate vaccine (MenACWY) (14 to 15 years) 80 90 <80 80-90 290 E:;g;d ‘:: :iz :;; ;‘; :gg ?:2
0S5 - Popultnvacanation ovrage: P9V S e e s i o s w1 ms  ms @2 &0 e
00 -Poplation accnaoncoverage: u(ged 65 nd v na | M oo e o me ma mr me  ms e e 74 wms o
DOS - Population vaccination coverage: Flu (at risk individuals) N/A NfA NA EDnE;I:;d gﬁi :i: ;i: g;s gg: i;? i:; jg?{ i:; ﬁ: ::; :g:
DO03I - Population vaccination coverage: Flu (2 to 3 years old) N/A N/A NA E:;g;d :32 :z: igz j_zz Zj.: Zgg ;2: g;i
DO44d - Population vaccination coverage: Flu [primary school aged children)” N/A N/A NA EDnE;I:;d :;i :z: :;i
DO6c - Population vaccination coverage: Shingles vaccination coverage (71 years]4 50 60 <50 50-60 260 Er?;lc;:d Z;S :Zg Zg‘; :Zg
Annual Other Immunisations by Local Authority (Plymouth)

Indicator th:‘:swh:d‘ Standard® Key Geography 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
D04e - Population vaccination coverage: HPV vaccination coverage for one dose (12 to 13 year old) (Female) 30 90 <80 80-90 290 ::;w;u;h gi: g:i g?‘; :?; g:: ::g ::2 ?:-9, ::;
DO4e - Population vaccination coverage: HPV vaccination coverage for one dose (12 to 13 year old) (Male) 80 90 <80 80-90 290 ::";;U;h :ii g:; ‘;Zi
D04f - Population vaccination coverage: HPV vaccination coverage for one dose (13 to 14 year old) (Female) 80 90 <80 80-90 290 ::";;U;h S:: ;2? g;: ;:: Zi? Z;z :32
DO4f - Population vaccination coverage: HPV vaccination coverage for one dose (13 to 14 year old) (Male) 80 90 <80 80-90 290 ::";;U;h :ig :Zj
D04g - Population vaccination coverage: Meningococcal ACWY conjugate vaccine (MenACWY) (14 to 15 years) 80 90 <80 80-90 290 ::";;U;h ;Z; ;1612 ;g?, ;‘;; :gg 3;;
00k - Popuation vconation coverages 5V I I R Tos s i @ s 1 s sms w2 o 7o
Doos - sopulston vaccnaton coversg: Fl (s 53 and over) A | e L g s b ma 72 mr o ms  me  mo  ma  me s
DOS5 - Population vaccination coverage: Flu (at risk individuals) N/A N/A NA ::f;;u;h :;i :iz :i; :;z :32 r;i i:g i;; i:; :.1; :g; :Zg
D03 - Population vaccination coverage: Flu (2 to 3 years old) N/A N/A NA ::f;;u;h :gg :gg ig; ﬁ; j.z: Zgg ::3 :;i
D04d - Population vaccination coverage: Flu (primary school aged children)’ N/A N/A NA ::f;;u;h Z;Z :g :?i
DO6c - Population vaccination coverage: Shingles vaccination coverage (71 years)’ 50 60 <50 50-60 260 ::f;;u;h :g? :Z: :g? :_i;

56




Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

Annual Other Imnmunisations by Local Authority (Torbay)

Indicator thrl:swh:dl standard® Key Geography 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2018/20 2020/21 2021/22
D04e - Population vaccination coverage: HPV vaccination coverage for one dose (12 to 13 year old) (Female) 20 90 <80 80-90 290 -Erz;?::d g‘i? g;i g?; :32 g:; ::; :’gg S;‘; ;::
DO04e - Population vaccination coverage: HPV vaccination coverage for one dose (12 to 13 year old) (Male) 80 90 <80 80-90 = gﬁ;?::u :ig S;I; ‘;zi
DO4f - Population vaccination coverage: HPV vaccination coverage for one dose (13 to 14 year old) (Female) 80 30 <80 80-90 = gz;?::d ‘:‘;I 2:; gg 2:2 ;g :;: :;
DO4f - Population vaccination coverage: HPV vaccination coverage for one dose (13 to 14 year old) (Male) 20 30 <80 80-90 =30 gz;?::d ::2 :(2)1
D04g - Population vaccination coverage: Meningococcal ACWY conjugate vaccine (MenACWY) (14 to 15 years) 80 30 <80 80-%90 =90 -Erﬁ;?::d ;2(5] ;iz ;2; ;;g :;: ;s;
Db - Posulstonvacciaton corerage: POV I e s Tos @ 1 ao s 71 e ms s o 7s
D0 - Papation acnsin coreage: g 6 anc over) wA | s L it s w0 me T mr om0 ms e mo e me o
DOS - Population vaccination coverage: Flu (at risk individuals) N/A N/A NA -Er:;?::d :ﬁg :ig :12 :zg :g: igi i;:’ ig? i;; ﬁg ::i :g:
DO3I - Population vaccination coverage: Flu (2 to 3 years old) N/A N/A NA gz;?::d 22; 222 igz ﬁg j:g :;: :2? :;i
D04d - Population vaccination coverage: Flu (primary school aged children)’ N/A N/A NA gz;?::d :;: :;; :3‘11
DO6¢ - Population vaccination coverage: Shingles vaccination coverage (71 \,rears]i 50 60 <50 50-60 =60 -Er;r;::d ::: i;; i:: :i;
Annual Other Inmunisations by Local Authority (Cornwall)
Indicator th:‘;wh:dx Standard’ Key Geography 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
g-? DO04e - Population vaccination coverage: HPV vaccination coverage for one dose (12 to 13 year old) (Female) 80 90 <80 20-90 290 Eﬁg:jl ;:? :;j ;3; ;?2 :;:g ;g:; ;gg ;2; Zg::
@ DO04e - Population vaccination coverage: HPV vaccination coverage for one dose (12 to 13 year old) (Male) 80 90 <80 80-90 = Ez;;;” :Zz ;(1]; Z;g
CD DO4f - Population vaccination coverage: HPV vaccination coverage for one dose (13 to 14 year old) (Female) 80 30 <80 80-90 2 EE;T;Z” ;;i ;;? ;:; ;g: 23 Zﬁ‘ﬁl ;’;:
\I ) o Cornwall 711 68.1
-b DO4f - Population vaccination coverage: HPV vaccination coverage for one dose (13 to 14 year old) (Male) 80 50 <80 80-90 290 England 54.4 62.4
DO4g - Population vaccination coverage: Meningococcal ACWY conjugate vaccine (MenACWY) (14 to 15 years) 80 90 |<80 80-90 290 gﬁg;?u” ;g:: ;i; ;::g ;3:; :g:g -7,;::
IR TP i B R T A T
e | o ome o om s s w o omom oy
DOS - Population vaccination coverage: Flu (at risk individuals) NfA N/A NA Es;:sl gii :;g :;2 :zg :g: i:i j‘;: igg i:g ii: ::E ::;
DO3I - Population vaccination coverage: Flu (2 te 3 years old) N/A N/A NA ;z;:jl 2:: :g; 2;2 j_i; j_z: i;g :2: :g?
DO04d - Population vaccination coverage: Flu (primary school aged children)’ N/A N/A NA E:;T::ad” :gj 232 :?g
DO6c - Population vaccination coverage: Shingles vaccination coverage (71 years]’ 50 60 <50 50-60 260 E:;m” ::; Z;: izi jﬁ;

57



G, abed

Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

Seasonal Influenza uptake by priority groups 2022/23

South West Flu Uptake by Cohort

100

uptake %
o)}
o

40
30
20
10
0 0
From 6 monthsto  Pregnant people Over 65s Children: 2 & 3 50 to under 65s
under 65s clinically year olds (Healthy/Not at risk)

at risk (total)

EDevon mBSW mGloucestershire mSomerset mKernow mBNSSG mDorset mSouth West

58



9, abed

Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

Preghancy — Pertussis vaccination uptake, April 2023 (Source: Immform)

April 2023 report

No. of women who

No. of women

o . .
Org Name No. of o ?f delivered in the survey recewlng.perl.:ussls %
. practices vaccination in the
practices . month regardless of . Uptake
responding . . 26 weeks prior to
gestational age at birth .
delivery

NHS DEVON ICB 121 99 2 656 432 659
NHS CIOS ICB 55 98 2 296 199 67.2
Total South West region 543 98.9 3423 2362 69

59




/] abed

Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

Older people - Shingles

shingles vaccine coverage aged 79 (eligible since 2013) by local
authority up to end March 2023 (%)

100
a0

80
-
6
5
3
2
1
0

Plymouth Torbay Cormwall Isles of Sclly Dewvon England

o T e |

[ T e

3

[ T e

60



g,) abed

Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

12.7 Appendix 7 — Devon ICB Vaccination Outreach Case Studies

Case Study 1: Anything is possible — New films support vaccines and health checks for people with a learning disability.

Patients with a learning disability (Including Severe
Learning Disability)

South West

21122 England End of Season Uplake

-Devon —22123 South West

61

NHS Devon launched a series of films encouraging
people with a Learning Disability to have their Covid
and flu vaccinations and annual health checks.

The films feature Kylie, who is a carer for her mum,
and Damon, who is needle phobic. They explain how
reasonable adjustments can be made to make it
easier for people to access their vaccinations.

The films have been well received and are also being
used by other systems.

Since launching the films, with a press release, an
increase in the number of people with a Learning
Disability having their flu vaccination has been seen,
bringing Devon back in line with the regional average

https://onedevon.org.uk/one-devon-news/anything-is-
possible-new-films-support-vaccines-and-health-
checks-for-people-with-a-learning-disability/



https://onedevon.org.uk/one-devon-news/anything-is-possible-new-films-support-vaccines-and-health-checks-for-people-with-a-learning-disability/
https://onedevon.org.uk/one-devon-news/anything-is-possible-new-films-support-vaccines-and-health-checks-for-people-with-a-learning-disability/
https://onedevon.org.uk/one-devon-news/anything-is-possible-new-films-support-vaccines-and-health-checks-for-people-with-a-learning-disability/

6/ abed

Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

Case Study 2: Working with vaccine ambassadors.

The ability to reach a diverse audience is essential to tackling health inequalities however in some
cases these diverse audiences may not be receiving or receptive to material shared through NHS
and Local Authority channels. For this reason the NHS in Devon developed a team of volunteer
COVID-19 vaccine ambassadors from the health and social care sector as part of the work to
address inequalities amongst under-served communities. The vaccine ambassadors represent
communities where there is lower uptake of the COVID-19 vaccination.

Working collaboratively with partner organisations including local NHS Trusts and Healthwatch
enabled the recruitment of a diverse team of ambassadors who are regularly engaging in
activities to support vaccination. Training and support were provided for the volunteer
ambassadors. Volunteers received a weekly briefing document which contained the latest local
and national vaccine information and are briefed prior to attending community meetings or being
interviewed by the media.

Trusted ambassadors work with local groups to provide information and reassurance:

o ambassador support was pivotal to our approach to working with the mosques in
Plymouth, the ambassador connected the Vaccine Outreach Program team to the mosque
leaders and supported outreach activities at the mosques

e a Mandarin speaking ambassador worked with the Devon and Cornwall Chinese
Association to provide workshops for members of the Chinese community to talk about
vaccination
attended Exeter Mosque and spoke about the vaccine during prayers

e joined the panel for a webinar about vaccination, fertility, pregnancy, and breastfeeding
attended a meeting organised by community group HIKMAT to meet people from minority
ethnic communities and answer questions

e appeared in the media and in social media campaigns for Devon

e shared key messages about the vaccine on their social media channels to enable the NHS
in Devon to reach a more diverse audience

62

“Jangan berlengah,
dapatkan covid
vaksin anda hari ini.”

Dr Huey Tan - Doctor
Plymouth

Queenie, our vaccine
ambassador on
Together for Devon

social media campaign



08 abed

Devon, Cornwall, and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Committee Annual Assurance Report 2022/23

13 References

[1] Public health annual report 2023: Supporting communities in difficult times, Local Government Association (20 March 2023)
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/public-health-annual-report-2023-supporting-communities-difficult-times [accessed November 2023]

[2] Migrant health guide - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) [accessed November 2023]

[3] Responding to cost-of-living challenges: Cornwall Council - An interview with Rachel Wigglesworth, Director of Public Health, Cornwall and Isles of Scilly (20
March 2023)
https://www.local.gov.uk/case-studies/responding-cost-living-challenges-cornwall-council [accessed November 2023]

[4] UKHSA blog; climate and health security https://ukhsa.blog.gov.uk/2023/02/08/climate-and-health-security-looking-ahead-to-2023/[accessed
November 2023]

[5] HM Government National Risk Register 2023 edition
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment data/file/1175834/2023 NATIONAL RISK REGISTER NRR.pdf

63


https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/public-health-annual-report-2023-supporting-communities-difficult-times
https://www.local.gov.uk/case-studies/responding-cost-living-challenges-cornwall-council
https://ukhsa.blog.gov.uk/2023/02/08/climate-and-health-security-looking-ahead-to-2023/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1175834/2023_NATIONAL_RISK_REGISTER_NRR.pdf

Agenda Iltem 6

TORBAY COUNCIL

Meeting: Torbay Health & Wellbeing Board Date: 7 March 2024

Wards affected: All

Report Title: Torbay Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy 6 monthly progress report
When does the decision need to be implemented? March 2024

Cabinet Member Contact Details: Hayley Tranter, Cabinet Member Adult & Community
Services, Public Health & Inequalities Hayley.Tranter@torbay.gov.uk

Director Contact Details: Lincoln Sargeant, Director of Public Health
Lincoln.Sargeant@torbay.gov.uk

Authors: Julia Chisnell, Consultant in Public Health Julia.Chisnell@torbay.gov.uk; Claire
Truscott, Public Health Intelligence Analyst, Claire.Trustcott@torbay.gov.uk

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 The Torbay Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2022-26 was published in July 2022.
The Health and Wellbeing Board receives six monthly progress reports and this
paper provides a fourth progress report on implementation.

1.2 The paper highlights latest developments and any risks or challenges that have been
flagged by individual programmes, for members to review.

2. Reason for Proposal and its benefits
2.1 The proposals in this report will help us to deliver improvements in the health and

wellbeing of our population by setting priorities for delivery and monitoring
achievement.

3. Recommendation(s) / Proposed Decision
Members are asked to:
1. Note progress in delivery.

2. Note the updated risk in relation to the digital inclusion programme and consider
options for the future position of this programme within the strategy.

1
Page 81


mailto:Hayley.Tranter@torbay.gov.uk
mailto:Lincoln.Sargeant@torbay.gov.uk
mailto:Julia.Chisnell@torbay.gov.uk
mailto:Claire.Trustcott@torbay.gov.uk

Appendices
Appendix 1: Data summary report.

Appendix 2: Emotional health and mental health training and development offers
Appendix 3: Torbay Healthy Ageing summary report

Appendix 4: Multiple Complex Needs co-production report

Supporting Information

1. Introduction

1.1 The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy is a statutory requirement for all upper tier
local authorities and represents the priorities and work programme of the Health and
Wellbeing Board in response to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.

1.2 The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2022-26 set out five areas of focus and six
cross-cutting areas:

Focus
areas

Environmental sustainability
Physical activity
Good Housing

Reducing inequalities

Supporting Carers

Supporting victims of domestic and sexual violence and abuse

1.3  An outcome framework was developed to monitor delivery of the Strategy. Each
priority area is required to report to the Health and Wellbeing Board on a six monthly
basis, covering progress against objectives, support for cross-cutting areas, and any
engagement work undertaken with communities. Each report also gives an overall
statement on progress with the opportunity to highlight risks or barriers.

2
Page 82


https://www.torbay.gov.uk/media/20172/public-health-mental-health-learning-and-development-opportunities-one-page-v1.pdf

1.4 A separate report is produced by the Public Health Intelligence team with the latest
data indicators for each priority area. Key points are included in the summaries
below and the full data report is included at Appendix 1.

2. Progress on delivery to September 2023

2.1 Progress is reported against each priority programme area below.

Mental health and wellbeing

Programme update: Overall on track

Torbay Multi-agency Suicide Prevention Plan 2024-27 was endorsed by the Health and
Wellbeing Board in December 2023. Members received a substantial report on content at
that time.

Torbay Council has signed a memorandum of understanding with Samaritans South
Devon to promote their third-party referral service to staff and residents who interact with
their services who are vulnerable or in distress. This is the first agreement of this kind in
the region.

Community: Local Action on Suicide Prevention grants have launched for a third
consecutive year to enable community and voluntary sector organisations to help reduce
the number of preventable deaths locally.

Torbay Alliance has been working on a specification for adult mental health support — with
emphasis on peer-support — based on recent lived experience co-production work. This
will link to the Torbay Community Helpline (and Adut Social Care Frontdoor).

Torbay Public Health and other members of the Torbay Mental Health and Suicide
Prevention Alliance contributed to, attended and will be supporting the recommendations
of the Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Board which focussed on
emotional wellbeing and mental health.

A Children and Young Peoples health needs assessment has been developed to support
the commissioning of children and families’ 0-19 services.

Emotional health and mental health training and development offers — many of which are
free — have been collated in one place and shared with partners. The training offer can be
found at these links and is also attached at Appendix 2. New trainers have been
recruited and trained to deliver 4 Mental Health Emotional Resilience and Community
Suicide Awareness training.

Risks and issues:

3
Page 83


https://www.torbay.gov.uk/media/16416/torbay_suicide_prevention_plan_24_27_final-full.pdf
https://devoncf.com/grants/communities-local-action-on-suicide-prevention/#:~:text=CLASP%20grants%20of%20between%20%C2%A3,priorities%20outlined%20in%20local%20frameworks.
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/media/20172/public-health-mental-health-learning-and-development-opportunities-one-page-v1.pdf
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/public-health/mental-health/

Good start to life

Ensuring families have access to the services they need

Through the Family Hubs partnership, a collaborative Start for Life offer has been
developed for Torbay families. The Family Hubs programme has enabled the development
of further Start for Life services, including support with infant feeding, perinatal infant
mental health, speech, language and communication needs, home learning, and offering a
comprehensive family support and prevention service.

The Family Hubs provide a welcome space for families, with a comprehensive peer
support programme embedded into the service.

Via the Family Hub network, Torbay has seen an expansion of universal services which
have a focus on prevention and which are available for all children, young people and their
families to access. The expansion includes enhancing delivery of services funded by the
‘Start for Life’ programme and wider services including enhancing the youth offer.

Start for Life Services comprise:

e Infant Feeding
e Peri-natal Parent and Infant Mental Health
e Parenting

.Home Learning Environment

Wider Services: (not an exhaustive list)

e Drop-in surgeries including:
o Cost of Living partnership with Housing and DWP colleagues
o Youth Homeless Prevention
o Family Group Conference
o Reducing Parental Conflict
Youth Services
SEND support and advice
Oral Health improvement
Nutrition and weight management
Social Prescribing and links with Primary Care

There are three physical Family Hubs, one in each town of Paignton, Torquay and
Brixham. The Torquay Family Hub has recently moved to a bigger premises to support co-
location and increase the number of services available.

The Virtual Family Hub Home - Family Hub (torbayfamilyhub.org.uk) went live in April 2023,
providing a hub for children and their families to access a wealth of information, including
how to connect with services and book onto training and support programmes. The Virtual
Hub also includes a practitioner area providing information and resources to all
practitioners including education providers.

The Virtual Family Hub will also host the ‘Tell it Once’ area for children and their
parents/carers, allowing parents with children who experience SEND to record their child’s
journey and exchange information with key practitioners without the need to continuously
repeat their story. The development of this work neared its completion in 2023 and is

4
Page 84



https://torbayfamilyhub.org.uk/

planned to go live in the first half of 2024 following testing and sign off for compliance and
data security (this is a delay on the previous report due to the data compliance issue).

The development, expansion, and alignment of Universal and Targeted Services reflects a
conscious move towards children, young people and their families being supported within
their local community. The next steps are to develop a hub and spoke model with the aim
of removing barriers to access services for our underserved communities.

The Family Hubs Start for Life workforce has been developed and is skilled to meet the
changing needs of children and families. Specialist health and community practitioners
have been recruited under each workstream, with a comprehensive workforce
development plan in place across the Start for Life offer. Some examples of the Start for
Life evidence-based and clinical training programmes accessed across the workforce
include:

¢ Institute of Health Visiting — various programmes

¢ Unicef’'s Baby Friendly Initiative — various infant feeding, bonding and attachment
programmes
Chat, Play, Read Champions and Train the Trainer
Early Talk Boost
Champion training Early Years Alliance in Early Years settings
Newborn Baby Observation
Understanding Attachment
NHS England Perinatal Infant Mental Health
Lactation Consultant Training
Frenulotomy - Tongue Tie training.

Risks and issues:
Data compliance issues in relation to the virtual family hub now overcome.

Supporting people with multiple complex needs

Programme update: On track

e The MCN Alliance is in place. Implementation of the alliance principles, values and
behaviours continue to be embedded across the provider services. Performance
remains stable.

¢ Plans to embed lived experience across the alliance is progressing well, with lived
experience representatives now present at key alliance workstream and operational
meetings.

¢ Integration of alliance and mental health services is an identified area of priority.
Existing pathways for working with mental health are currently under review. There is
some capacity within the Alliance to support dual diagnosis.

e Staff are trained in trauma informed approach, with support for enhancing this well
established.

e Flow through the hostel is improving, but onward accommodation remains challenging.

e Integrated approach to support children where domestic abuse and/or substance
misuse is an issue, is developing.

5
Page 85




The Council’s Oversight Board and the MCN Alliance are developing mechanisms to
understand impact more holistically. Improvements in data collection, quality analysis
and actions to increase benefit are being observed.

The joint support of people who experience significant mental health and substance
misuse issues is improving with dedicated resource to support this cohort.

Most staff are trained and supported in delivering a trauma informed approach.
Practitioner networks continue to operate successfully to support staff to embed this
approach.

Flow through the hostel is improving, but onward accommodation remains challenging.
Integrated approach to support children where domestic abuse and/or substance
misuse is recognised. Assessment of the impact of domestic abuse on the child is
being focused on. Work is to start on understanding the identification and support
needs of children who live in a household where there is parental substance misuse.
A progress review meeting between the Oversight Board and members of the alliance
Leadership Team has taken place that identified shared areas of focus to progress the

strategic intent of the alliance.

Risks and issues:

e Access to suitable and affordable accommodation is the greatest issue. This is
identified on the wider Council risk register.

e Events have been scheduled to increase alignment within the alliance in terms of
the overall vision and objectives. Staff will be joining a joint Oversight
Board/Alliance meeting in March 2024 and a regular staff forum is being
established.

Healthy Ageing

A new Healthy Ageing Partnership Board is being established across Torbay and South
Devon, bringing together work across the locality to report into the Torbay and South
Devon Local Care Partnership.

This report focuses on progress in the healthy ageing (prevention) element of the work.

From March 2023 to 31 Dec 2023 the programme has exceeded performance in the
previous year, with 538 participants, 62 training sessions, 250 licences disbursed, 57
collaborating groups, 57 additional events, 225 referrals in and 214 referrals out.

The programme also receives feedback from Torbay Assembly on ongoing issues related
to older people in the community, as well as data from Torbay Community Helpline. The
programme is an active member of Age Friendly UK Network and WHO Global Age
Friendly Community Network and provides an extensive referral network for people in
need through Torbay Community Helpline.

The healthy ageing / live Longer Better programme is in discussion with local PCNs
around a pilot which would reach GPs patients who would benefit from increased

6
Page 86




awareness, activation and activity. Support would be delivered on a graduated basis to
offer most intensive support for those with the greatest need.

The national team for Live Longer Better see the Torbay approaches as innovative -
based on the face-to-face person-centred delivery model, and the extra modules locally
created. Learning is supported by the LLB online learning portal.

Performance against targets for 2023/24 have been met or exceeded.
Live Longer Better Training:

Sets of courses have been run for the public for three quarters in Torbay, Paignton and

Brixham. Lots of great feedback has been received regarding building confidence, new

friends and coping better with diagnosis or long term health conditions. People learn about

the ageing process, overcoming ageing and how increasing activity can improve health,

cognition and emotional resilience. The programme also supports core needs, providing

referrals around housing, benefits etc, and linking them to community builder, wellbeing,

social prescriber, Torbay Community Helpline, or Active Devon teams. Courses have

expanded to include:

e Breathing and relaxation techniques - overcoming anxiety triggers, reducing tension
and improving sleep patterns

¢ Healthy eating, diet, nutrition

e Hydration

e Falls prevention — Fall Fighters (ROSPA) course.

e Personal skills: motivation, confidence, routines and overcoming isolation.

¢ Understanding Ageing

e Maintaining and improving skill and coordination

e Increasing stamina

¢ Increasing suppleness

¢ Developing strength and power

e Increasing brain ability and reducing the risk of dementia

e Improving physical fitness and reducing the risks of falls and frailty

e Preventing and coping with disease

e Understanding the changing brain and mind

¢ Understanding and changing how people think about ageing

e Exercises you can do at home - 15 minutes sessions, daily routine, furniture-based
approaches, stretch and relaxation, strength—based and in-bed routines

e Importance and purpose of later life planning. - power of attorney, wills, lifestyles and
remaining independent.

e Dying well as well as living well

e Activities - introduction to classes and groups in Torbay that fit with a person’s lifestyle.
Each course has an activities week and there is a Summer programme where people
try different activities

7
Page 87




Other themes are developed with participants as required, so the courses are aways
person centred, relevant and up-to-date (ie accessing health services).

e Engagement and Reach: There is a catch up session for all participants at the end of
each quarter to reconnect them to other opportunities.

e Summer Activity Programme: Over the summer holiday period there is a Summer
Activity Programme as a series of sessions that encourage people to become more
active and try new experiences.

o Professional Training: The programme incorporates input from an increasingly wide
range of professionals — through training workshops so they better understand how to
work with and treat older people — as well as the benefits of staying active on longevity
and health. The next sessions will be for Torbay Hospital staff.

e Healthy Ageing Board: The programme is actively involved in the creation of a
Healthy Ageing Board for Torbay and South Devon — to represent VSCE — this is part
of the One Devon — Local Care Partnership delivery for Torbay and South Devon.

e National Programme: Healthy Ageing Torbay provides insight to the national Live
Longer Better teams and is seen to be leading the way in group learning and
participation. There will be a presentation from Torbay / Devon — in the next annual
LLB conference.

e Working with Care Homes: This continues, led by Jess Slade and Pam Prior.

e Assembly: The Assembly Action group continues to have oversight of the programme
and also Age Friendly work in Torbay linked to the National and Global networks.

A summary of the healthy ageing work across Torbay is included at Appendix 3.

Risks and issues:

There is no recurrent funding for the Healthy Ageing programme and there is ambition to
expand the work across Torbay and South Devon to provide a prevention programme
across the Local Care Partnership. Bids will be made into different funding opportunities
as these arise.

Digital inclusion

Programme update:

The formal programme is currently paused however related work is covered below.

Work has continued, albeit at a reduced level, to support people to improve their digital
literacy. Without additional funding this will reduce further over the coming months,
however, a funding opportunity has arisen and a bid has been submitted.

8
Page 88




Engaging Communities South West are developing the capacity to accept used laptops
from the Trust for redistribution. Work is being undertaken by Torbay & South Devon NHS
Trust to enact this.

Currently there are weekly drop in sessions delivered by South Devon College students as
part of their course at Paignton Community Hub and Engaging Communities South West’'s
digital work (via Digital Health Devon).

In addition to this, Eat That Frog is continuing to deliver digital support sessions from their
Torquay Offices, although their sessions at Paignton Community Hub were discontinued
due to financial constraints.

A joint bid with both Engaging Communities South West and Eat That frog has been
submitted to Torbay Council for Lot 4 (Funding to support local digital skills) of their UK
Shared Prosperity Fund (People and Skills and Sector Pathways Programme Delivery). If
successful this will enhance the local digital skills support offer in Torbay.

Engaging Communities South West are currently in the process of redeveloping their
Digital Health Devon e-Learning website to show people how to use local online health,
care and wellbeing tools. This will be re-launching soon via www.digitalhealthdevon.co.uk.

Engaging Communities South West have also been working on developing an ability to
recycle laptops from Torbay & South Devon NHS Trust.

Risks and issues:

The Digital Inclusion Network has been stood down due to insufficient engagement,
although regular one-to-one meetings with key members are still in place.

With the student placements and Eat That Frog funding both finishing in the coming
months there will be a stop to the digital support offer being provided in Paignton
Community Hub.

Engagement undertaken

The table below includes a summary of engagement work undertaken in each programme
area over the last six months.

Mental health and | Local Motion work with children and young people focussing on emotional
wellbeing health and wellbeing and the academic pressure experienced whilst in
education.

Good start to life Recognising the need to work at pace to deliver the Start for Life

Programme, parents were engaged as much as possible in the
development and implementation of the workstreams, including the
comprehensive infant feeding peer support programme, a teenage parent
peer support group, building babies brains and chat, play, read.

9
Page 89


http://www.digitalhealthdevon.co.uk/

Peer supporters and parent carers are involved in the working group that is
investigating ways in which to engage with the underserved communities
across Torbay.

Multiple complex
needs

Codesign and coproduction is integral to the development and delivery of
the MCN Alliance. To support the integration of co-design and co-
production within the alliance, a co-production strategy has been
developed (in collaboration with individuals with lived experience).

This is attached at Appendix 4.

The alliance has also consulted on the name and branding of the alliance.
Votes secured the name ‘Growth in Action’.

The branding for the alliance has also been out to consultation recently.
Beth Hill, Creative design Manager at Torbay council produced a creative
concepts YouTube video describing the various branding options, how the
different formats can be used and how the different options met certain
regulatory requirements.

The designs were generated in collaboration with the alliance co-
production group. Votes were evenly split between 2 branding options and
so based on feedback there will be some small tweaks to one option and
the 2 favourites will go back out for final consultation.

Healthy Ageing

The healthy ageing programme builds relationships with the people
supported, so there are ongoing opportunities for them to feed into and
influence delivery. Development of the programme is continuous and
person-centred and guided by participants, Torbay Assembly Action group
and LLB Steering Group.

The report at Appendix 3 includes participant feedback and case studies

Digital inclusion

None in this reporting period.

Data indicators

A summary of all data indicators, by priority area, is included at Appendix 1. Figures which
have been updated since the last report are:

Mental Health

People with a low happiness score — slight increase, in common with national trend
People with a high anxiety score — generally increasing

Prevalence of mental health issues (all ages) on GP registers (schizophrenia, bipolar
affective disorder and other psychoses) — remains high

Prevalence of depression (aged 18+) on GP registers — remains high and increasing
Suicide rate — reduced although remains high

10
Page 90



https://youtu.be/F6ofe1202RQ

Children and young people

e Good level of development at the end of the Early Years Foundation Stage — lower than
England

o Key Stage 2 pupils meeting the expected standard in reading, writing and maths —
consistent

o Pupils with SEND (special educational needs and disabilities) — high but stable

e Children in care/ looked after — remains high compared with England

o Population vaccination coverage- MMR for two doses (by aged 5 years) — reducing but
above England average

o Children overweight (including obesity) in year 6 — similar to England

Multiple complex needs

e Households owed a duty (prevention or relief) under the Homelessness Reduction Act —
significantly above England rate

e Successful drug treatment- opiate users (aged 18+) — similar to England

e Successful alcohol treatment (aged 18+) — similar to England

Ageing

e Proportion who use adult social care services who reported that they had as much social
contact as they would like (aged 65+) — increasing post pandemic

e Population vaccination coverage Flu (aged 65+) — decrease on previous year

o Emergency hospital admissions due to hip fractures (aged 65+) — similar to England

 Dementia estimated diagnosis rate (aged 65+) — consistent or reducing rates, likely to be
under diagnosing

Digital

o Fixed broadband coverage- Residential premises capable of receiving full fibre
broadband — above England

o Fixed broadband coverage- Commercial premises cable of receiving full fibre broadband
— increasing.

It should be noted that figures fluctuate and the important factor is the overall, consistent
trend. Many figures are reported one or two years retrospectively.

A further report on progress will be brought to the Board in September 2024.

5. Financial Opportunities and Implications

51 None.

11
Page 91



6. Engagement and Consultation

6.1 Engagement is included in the Strategy progress reports in Section 2.

7.  Tackling Climate Change

7.1 Environmental sustainability is one of the cross-cutting areas in the Strategy.

8.  Associated Risks

8.1 Risks and delays to implementation are identified against each programme in Section
2.

8.2 A key question for the Board to consider is the whether the digital inclusion element
of the strategy should be stood down as a discrete priority area and moved to an
under-pinning programme. Project funding for the objectives in the strategy has
come to an end. Programme members are bidding for further funding for specific
initiatives but the majority of the work is within business as usual programmes at
individual organisational level.

9. Equality Impacts - Identify the potential positive and negative
Impacts on specific groups

Positive Impact Negative Impact & Neutral Impact
Mitigating Actions
Older or younger people Y
People with caring Y

Responsibilities

People with a disability Y
Women or men Y
People who are black or Y

from a minority ethnic
background (BME) (Please
note Gypsies / Roma are
within this community)

Religion or belief (including Y
lack of belief)

People who are lesbian, gay | Y
or bisexual

People who are Y
transgendered

12
Page 92



People who are in a
marriage or civil partnership

Women who are pregnant /
on maternity leave

Socio-economic impacts
(Including impact on child
poverty issues and
deprivation)

Public Health impacts (How
will your proposal impact on
the general health of the
population of Torbay)

10. Cumulative Council Impact

10.1 None.

11. Cumulative Community Impacts

11.1 None.

13
Page 93




Page 94



Title:

Wards Affected:

To:
Contact:

Telephone:
Email:

Agenda Iltem 6
Appendix 1

TORBAY ™~

Health- Wellbeing

BOARD

Working together for a healthier Torbay

Torbay Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy Outcomes
Framework update and progress, March 2024

All

Health and Wellbeing On: Thursday 7 March 2024
Board

Dr Lincoln Sargeant, Director of Public Health; Claire Truscott,
Public Health Intelligence Analyst

01803 208377 and 07500 032684
claire.truscott@torbay.gov.uk

1. Purpose

1.1  March 2024 update of the Torbay Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
Outcomes Framework

2. Recommendation

2.1  That the following tables and narrative are considered for information
purposes, with issues discussed

3.  Supporting Information

3.1 The tables below contain measures for each of the priority areas of Torbay’s
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2022-26. The narrative below each table
gives main points about each of the indicators.

1
Page 95



3.1.1 Good mental health

Number Measure Time period Unit type Torbay | Devonwide | England Trend.of previous Which wayis |RAG rating compared to
figures better England/goal
Good mental health
1 People with a low happiness score - self reported (aged 16+) 2022/23 % 11.4% 7.3% 8.9% Lower is better O
. . . '—-'—“VW .
2 People with a high anxiety score - self reported (aged 16+) 2022/23 % 27.4% 21.8% 23.3% Lower is better O
3 |Prevalence of mental health issues (all ages)- on GP registers 2022/23 % 1.30% 1.04% 1.00% Lower is better |Highest quintile in England
(schizophrenia, bipolar affective disorder and other psychoses)
4 Prevalence of depression (aged 18+) - on GP registers 2022/23 % 14.8% 13.8% 13.2% / Lower is better 2nd hlggsgslta ?;mme n
5 Hospital admissions as a result of self-harm (aged 10-24 years) 2021/22 Per 100,000 711.1 638.3 427.3 —/\’\‘/\ Lower is better .
6  |Suicide rate 2020-22 | Per100,000| 16.6 12.5 10.3 T Lower is better o

Fae Annual Population Survey asks people to rate their personal wellbeing:

e In Torbay 11.4% of people reported low happiness levels (1) in 2022/23, the England average was 8.9%. This is an increase but not
statistically different to England or other years. The previous five years have varied from 8% - 9% in Torbay.

e The percentage reporting high anxiety levels (2) in Torbay has fluctuated in the last few years but is on a generally increasing trend
over the years shown, with a value of 27.4% in 2022/23.

96 obe

The GP Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) records the proportion of patients with various mental health issues:

e The recorded percentage of patients with schizophrenia, bipolar affective disorder and other psychoses (3) in Torbay practices
has remained in the highest quintile (i.e. the highest fifth) in England for the 11 years shown. The value has remained quite level for a
number of years although a gradually increasing trend over the time period in both Torbay and England.

e Just over one in seven patients aged 18+ are recorded as having depression (4) in Torbay GP registers in 2022/23. Torbay has been
in the second highest quintile in England for seven years. It is on a steadily increasing trend, as is the England figure.

Hospital admissions for self-harm are more prevalent in younger people and far more so in females. The admission rate for self-harm in 10-24
year olds (5) has fluctuated but has remained significantly higher than the England average for at least the last decade. As this data shows
admissions rather than individuals it will be influenced by individuals admitted more than once, sometimes several or many times.



Torbay’s suicide rate (6) (classified as intentional self harm or undetermined intent) remains significantly higher than England as it has for the
last seven periods (a period equals three years combined). In the most recent period, 2020-22, Torbay has the same rate as the previous period
at 16.6 per 100,000. This equates to 58 individuals. Torbay’s rate has been gradually reducing since the peak in 2016-18 but there have been
around 20 suicides registered per year for a number of years.

3.1.2 A good start to life

Number Measure Time period Unit type Torbay | Devonwide | England Trend.of previous Which wayis |RAG rating compared to
figures better England/goal
A good start to life
—_—— .
7 Children in relative low income families (aged under 16)* 2021/22 % 21.6% 19.0% 19.9% Lower is better .
Good level of development at the end of the Early Years
I e P y 2022/23 % 63.5% 66.2% | 67.2% Higher is better @
oundation Stage
—
Key Stage 2 pupils meeting the expected standard in reading, . .
9 r_ifng aid mZtt?s (Comb_ngd)g P g 2022/23 % 58.6% 56.5% 59.8% Higher is better O
writi i
J;_JUlO Pupils with SEND (special educational needs and disabilities) 2022/23 % 18.4% 19.1% 17.1% Lower is better .
Q o ———— _
D 11 Children in care/ looked after 2023 Per 10,000 125 76 71 Lower is better .
12 ij%‘;ﬁ;t;%? ;’V‘:’,‘gcégité‘;”(;;;’jr;‘?;tﬂsgﬂR (Measles, mumps and 2022/23 % 89.3% 91.8% 84.5% Higher is better ®
o—-&-v-v-"'-/\"""' han i
13 |Children overweight (including obesity) in year 6* 2022/23 % 35.6% 31.7% 36.6% Lower is better O
] . . .. .__-..____‘___/'
14 jvijgeyfgqv?:)??s“r?;t'iﬁ:\:\’;at'or" employment or training (NEET) o} -5 % 7.4% 6.5% 5.2% Lower is better ®

1 2021/22 values are marked as provisional
2 The statistics releases for 2019/20 and 2020/21 were cancelled due to COVID-19. Due to significant revision of the Early Years Foundation Stage profile (assessment framework) in 2021 the 2021/22 and 2022/23 figures
are not comparable with previous years

®The statistics releases for 2019/20 and 2020/21 were cancelled due to COVID-19. Attainment is not directly comparable previous to 2017/18 due to changes in the writing teacher assessment frameworks in 2018

42017/18 and 2020/21 values not published due to low participation rates, the latter year impacted by COVID-19

The percentage of children in relative low income families (7) is 21.6% in Torbay in 2021/22 which is significantly higher (worse) than the
England value. In the previous year Torbay had been measured as significantly better than England. A family is defined as being in relative low
income when their income is below 60% of the UK average (median) income. They must have claimed Child Benefit as well as Universal Credit,

3



Tax Credits and/or Housing Benefit in the year to be included in this measure. These low income statistics do not take housing costs into
account.

Just over six out of ten children (63.5%) have attained a good level of development at the end of the Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS)
in 2022/23 in Torbay schools (8). This has remained level with the previous year while the England figure has risen by two percentage points (to
67.2%, from 65.2%) which has made Torbay become significantly lower than the England figure in 2022/23. Data covers children who at the end
of the EYFS are registered for government funded early years provision.

Key Stage 2, meeting the expected standard in reading, writing and maths combined (9) is similar in Torbay to the England figure in
2022/23 (Torbay- 58.6%, England- 59.8%). Torbay’s percentage is similar to the previous year. Figures published in 2018/19, before the COVID-
19 pandemic, are significantly higher in Torbay at 66.0%, also the trend for England. Data covers state funded schools.

The percentage of school pupils with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) (10) is significantly higher than England at 18.4% in
Torbay in 2022/23. This encompasses children at state funded schools with special educational needs (SEN) support or an education, health and
care (EHC) plan. The trend has stayed quite level in Torbay for the last eight years shown in the data, between 17.2% and 18.4%.

The rate of children in care (11) (also known as children looked after) remains significantly higher than the England average in 2023 as it has
en in the previous years shown. Figures encompass children aged under 18 years and exclude those looked after under a series of short-term
%cements. The rate is as on 31 March of each year.

@verage of the MMR vaccine (two doses by aged five years) (12) has been on a decreasing trend for several years in Torbay. In 2022/23,
89.3% of five year olds had completed the course, this is red compared to the goal of 95% coverage. Torbay’s coverage, however, has been
significantly higher than the England average for the last eight years. England has been on a decreasing trend during this time.

Over a third of children in year 6 (10-11 year olds) are overweight (including obesity) (13) in 2022/23. This is similar to the England figure as
Torbay has been for the last decade (there was no published data in 2017/18 or 2020/21). These figures are calculated from height and weight
measurements taken by the National Child Measurement Programme.

The percentage of 16/17 year olds who are NEET (not in education, employment or training) or whose activity is not known (14) has increased
since the year before at 7.4% in 2023 compared to 5.3% in 2022 and is higher than England. Torbay’s figure fluctuates for the five years shown.
The figures for each year are the average of December of the previous year and January and February of the current year.



3.1.3 Supporting people with complex needs

Number Measure Time period Unit type Torbay |Devonwide | England Trend.of previous Which wayis | RAG rating compared to
figures better England/goal
Supporting people with complex needs
_ W
15 Domestic abuse crimes and incidents 20;2;232(2‘])“' Number 1,009 Lower is better N/A
16  |Households owed a dty (prevention or relief) under the 2022/23 Per 1,000 185 165 12.4 Lower is better o
Homelessness Reduction Act
17 Ho_splFal admissions for alcohol related conditions (Narrow 2021/22 Per 100,000 507 265 494 Lower is better O
definition)
. Apr 22 - Mar W . .
18 Successful drug treatment- opiate users (aged 18+) P 23 % 4.70% 4.67% 4.99% Higher is better O
Apr 22 - Mar e
19 Successful alcohol treatment (aged 18+) P 23 % 36.16% 34.98% 34.88% Higher is better O

5 Reported quarterly as a rolling annual figure in this report

Hae quarterly number of domestic abuse crimes and incidents (15) fluctuates over the 4 %2 years shown (from the start of 2018/19) with the
rAost recent quarter of data (July — September 2022) being the highest figure in the 4 % year time period. These are crimes and incidents
orded by the police. It should be taken into account that figures only relate to crimes and incidents that are reported. Domestic abuse is often

nret reported to the police so data held by the police can only provide a partial picture of the actual level of domestic abuse experienced.
(@)

Households owed a prevention or relief duty under the Homelessness Reduction Act (16) is where a statutory duty is owed to assist
eligible households who are threatened with homelessness within 56 days (prevention) or who are already homeless (relief). The Act came into
force in 2018. Torbay is significantly higher than England for the four years with a 2022/23 rate of 18.5 per 1,000 households which equates to
1,188 Torbay households, compared to an England rate of 12.4 per 1,000.

Hospital admissions for alcohol related conditions (narrow definition) (17) is where the primary diagnosis is an alcohol-related condition.
Torbay’s rate is slightly higher than England in 2021/22 but statistically similar, after being significantly higher than England for the previous five
years reported.

Drug and alcohol treatment (18 & 19)- this is successfully completing treatment and then not re-presenting to treatment services within six
months. The data is shown quarterly in this report with each data point being a rolling annual figure. Both drugs (opiates) and alcohol successful
treatment figures fluctuate over the years:

e Drugs- the success rate for treatment for opiates is 4.70% in April 22 - March 23 which is similar to the England value of 4.99%

e Alcohol- the success rate for alcohol treatment is 36.16% in April 22 - March 23, similar to the England value of 34.88%

5



3.1.4 Healthy ageing

Number Measure Time period Unit type Torbay | Devonwide | England Trend'of previous Which wayis || RAG rating compared to
figures better England/goal
Healthy ageing
Proportion who use adult social care services who reported that o 0 o 0 \/\/ . .
20 they had as much social contact as they would like (aged 65+) 2022123 % 42.1% 44.0% 4L.5% Higher is better O
n—'._—_.__.'.._‘_,_—-——t-'—‘—‘—c
21 Healthy life expectancy at 65 (Female) 2018-20 Years 11.4 12.9 11.3 Higher is better O
—————
22 Healthy life expectancy at 65 (Male) 2018-20 Years 10.9 12.1 10.5 Higher is better O
——— ey ——
23 Population vaccination coverage - Flu (aged 65+) 2022/23 % 79.2% 82.8% 79.9% Higher is better O
———N——
24 Emergency hospital admissions due to falls (aged 65+) 2021/22 Per 100,000 1,891 1,766 2,100 Lower is better O
—— —
25 Emergency hospital admissions due to hip fractures (aged 65+) 2022/23 Per 100,000 606 545 558 Lower is better O
26 Dementia- estimated diagnosis rate (aged 65+) 2023 % 59.4% 55.6% 63.0% Higher is better .
-
Q
(@)

The proportion of Adult Social Care users aged 65+ who reported that they had as much social contact as they would like (20) rose to 42.1%
gland- 41.5%) in 2022/23. Figures in the previous two years were in the early to mid 30s in Torbay- covering periods affected by social
r€strictions, guidance and anxiety caused by COVID-19 which is likely to have affected the figures.

Healthy life expectancy at 65 (21 & 22) shows the average number of years beyond the age of 65 that a person can expect to live in good
health (rather than with a disability or in poor health). In 2018-20 (three years combined) for females and males the number of years is quite
close to previous periods at 11.4 years for females and 10.9 years for males. Values for both females and males are similar to the England
figures.

The percentage of flu vaccinations of those aged 65+ (23) has been higher than the World Health Organisation target of 75% in Torbay for the
last three years. However, the national vaccine uptake ambition for 2022/23 was to achieve and ideally exceed the uptake levels of the previous
year (2021/22) which did not happen in Torbay or nationally as both saw a decrease in uptake in 2022/23.

The rate of emergency hospital admissions due to falls for those aged 65+ (24) is lower than England in 2021/22 at 1,891 per 100,000 in
Torbay. Many falls injuries do not result in emergency hospital admissions so this does not show the extent of need in this area.



The rate of emergency hospital admissions due to hip fractures in people aged 65+ (25) has been statistically similar to England for the 13
years shown. This measures a primary diagnosis of fractured neck of femur. Those who suffer this debilitating injury can experience permanently

lower levels of independence and the need to move into long term care.

The estimated diagnosis rate of dementia (aged 65+) (26) has in 2023 in Torbay remained level with the last couple of years at 59.4%, all of
which are below the goal of 66.7%. There has been a gradual decreasing trend over the seven years of data. This indicator measures the
percentage of people diagnosed with dementia out of the number estimated to have it- therefore higher is better.

3.1.5 Digital inclusion and access

Number Measure Time period Unit type Torbay |Devonwide | England Trend'of previous Which wayis | RAG rating compared to
figures better England/goal
Digital inclusion and access
Percentage of adults who have used the Internet in the last 3 o o 0 92.1% . .
27 months (aged 16+) (no longer updated) 2020 % 96.3% 91.3% (UK) Higher is better Not calculated
Fixed broadband coverage- Residential premises capable of . . @)
-028 receiving full fibre broadt?and P P Sept 2023° % 78% 6% 56% / Higher is better
Fixed broadband coverage- Commercial premises capable of . .
L(% 29 receiving full fibre broadk?and P i Sept 2023° % 58% 46% 3% / Higher is better o

@ta points are 4 monthly- January, May and September of each year

-

The percentage of adults who have used the internet in the last three months (27) has fluctuated but is on a generally increasing trend in
Torbay in the seven years shown, at 96.3% in 2020. The UK is on a steadily increasing trend. The three months are January — March of each

year.

Fixed broadband coverage (28 & 29)- the percentages of residential and commercial premises with full fibre broadband available (if they
choose to connect to it) are significantly higher in Torbay than England as a whole. In Torbay, percentages have risen steadily from 8% of
residential and 3% of commercial premises in January 2019 to 78% of residential and 58% of commercial premises in September 2023.




Key

RAG (Red, amber, green) rating:

‘ Torbay value is statistically significantly worse than the England value/ Torbay value is worse compared to the goal
O Torbay value is not statistically significantly different to the England value/ Torbay value is similar compared to the goal

O Torbay value is statistically significantly better than the England value/ Torbay value is better compared to the goal

Measures below with the Office of Health Improvement and Disparities (OHID) as a source can be found in the public health profiles at https://fingertips.phe.org.uk

No. |Name of measure, Goal (where applicable), Source

1 |C28c- Self-reported well-being- people with a low happiness score (Annual Population Survey) - Public Health Outcomes Framework, OHID

2 |C28d- Self-reported well-being- people with a high anxiety score (Annual Population Survey) - Public Health Outcomes Framework, OHID

3 |The percentage of patients with schizophrenia, bipolar affective disorder and other psychoses as recorded on GP practice registers (Quality and Outcomes Framework) - OHID

;?4 The percentage of patients aged 18 and over with depression, as recorded on GP practice registers (Quality and Outcomes Framework) - OHID
L%S Hospital admissions as a result of self-harm (aged 10-24 years) - OHID
6 |E10- Suicide rate - Public Health Outcomes Framework, OHID
O
NY |BO1b- Children aged under 16 in relative low income families (experimental statistics) - Public Health Outcomes Framework, OHID
8 Good level of development at the end of the Early Years Foundation Stage- percentage of children - Department for Education at https://explore-education-
statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/early-years-foundation-stage-profile-results/2022-23 RAG rating calcuated by Torbay Public Health Team
9 Key stage 2 pupils meeting the expected standard in reading, writing and maths- percentage of children - Department for Education at https://explore-education-
statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/key-stage-2-attainment/2022-23 RAG rating calculated by Torbay Public Health Team
10 Percentage of pupils with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND)- state funded schools, academic year - School census, Department for Education at https://explore-
education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/special-educational-needs-in-england RAG rating calculated by Torbay Public Health Team
11 Children looked after at 31 March of the year (rate per 10,000 population aged under 18 years) - Department for Education at https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-
statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoptions/2023 RAG rating calculated by Torbay Public Health Team
12 DO04c- Population vaccination coverage- MMR for two doses by aged 5 years (Health and Social Care Information Centre) - Benchmarking against goal- <90%= red, 90%-95%=

amber, >95%= green - Public Health Outcomes Framework, OHID

13 |C09b- Year 6: Prevalence of overweight (including obesity) (National Child Measurement Programme) - Public Health Outcomes Framework, OHID

8



No. |Name of measure, Goal (where applicable), Source

14 16-17 year olds not in education, employment or training (NEET) or whose activity is hot known - Department for Education at https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-
statistics/participation-in-education-training-and-neet-age-16-to-17-by-local-authority/2022-23  RAG rating calculated by Torbay Public Health Team

15 |Domestic abuse crimes and incidents- Torbay Council Community Services

16 Households owed a prevention or relief duty under the Homelessness Reducation Act - Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities at
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-homelessness Rates and RAG rating calculated by Torbay Public Health Team

17 |C21- Admission episodes for alcohol-related conditions (narrow definition) - Public Health Outcomes Framework, OHID

18 Proportion of opiate drug users that left drug treatment successfully who do not re-present to treatment within 6 months - National Drug Treatment Monitoring System at
https://www.ndtms.net/Monthly/PHOF RAG rating calculated by Torbay Public Health Team

19 Proportion of alcohol users that left alcohol treatment successfully who do not re-present to treatment within 6 months - National Drug Treatment Monitoring System at
https://www.ndtms.net/Monthly/PHOF RAG rating calculated by Torbay Public Health Team

20 Proportion of people who use services who reported that they had as much social contact as they would like (aged 65+)- Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework, NHS England at

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-social-care-outcomes-framework-ascof/ RAG rating calculated by Torbay Public Health Team

AOla- Healthy life expectancy at 65 (Female) - Public Health Outcomes Framework, OHID

AOla- Healthy life expectancy at 65 (Male) - Public Health Outcomes Framework, OHID

’I:ES D06a - Population vaccination coverage- Flu (aged 65+). Benchmarking against goal- <75%-= red, >75%= green - Public Health Outcomes Framework, OHID
4
W4 |C29- Emergency hospital admissions due to falls in people aged 65+ - Public Health Outcomes Framework, OHID
25 |E13- Emergency hospital admissions due to hip fractures in people aged 65+ - Public Health Outcomes Framework, OHID
26 E15- Estimated dementia diagnosis rate (aged 65 and over)- as in March of the year. Benchmarking against goal- <66.7%(significantly)= red, similar to 66.7%= amber,
>66.7%(significantly)= green - Public Health Outcomes Framework, OHID
27 Percentage of adults who have used the internet in the last 3 months - Office for National Statistics at
https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/itandinternetindustry/datasets/internetusers
o8 Fixed broadband coverage- Percentage of residential premises capable of receiving full fibre broadband - Connected Nations reports, Ofcom at https://www.ofcom.org.uk/research-
and-data/multi-sector-research/infrastructure-research/connected-nations-2023 RAG rating calculated by Torbay Public Health Team
29 Fixed broadband coverage- Percentage of commercial premises capable of receiving full fibre broadband - Connected Nations reports, Ofcom at https://www.ofcom.org.uk/research-

and-data/multi-sector-research/infrastructure-research/connected-nations-2023 RAG rating calculated by Torbay Public Health Team




Mental Health and Wellbeing Learning and
Development Opportunities (2023)

and what you find below may also help you.

attend.

providing peer support and lived experience throughout.

The opportunities listed here are to help those working with others learn more about mental health and
wellbeing. When working with others, we need to recognise we also have mental health and wellbeing needs

The opportunities you find below include e-learning and face-to-face learning (virtual and in person), as well as
resources to support you. Some of the courses will be free, some will be funded and some will require a fee to

Courses will aim to tackle the stigma surrounding mental health and build your capacity to support the mental
health of others. Some courses will help to support your own mental health with some linking to and/or

Agenda Iltem 6
Appendix 2

Unwell

Building Capacity

Struggling

Tackling Stigma

Peer Support
and Lived
Experience

Delivery model: e-learning F2F Face to Face B Blended
Key Costs: F Free £F Funded £ Costs apply
Colour coding below will enable you to link the course to the section of the mental continuum:
- EETTN coping Struggling Unwell

Course Name (Hyperlink) Delivery | Cost Course level For those working with:
Understanding Depression and Low Mood in YP (Young People) e F Introductory Young People

Social and Emotional Development: Supporting Teenage Wellbeing e F Introductory Young People

Mindful Wellbeing for Teachers with Stress and Anxiety e F Introductory School age C&YP

Self Care and Wellbeing: A Practical Guide for Health and Social Care. e F Introductory Self-care

Wellbeing and Resilience at Work e F Introductory Self-care

Mental Health in Construction e F Introductory Adults

The science of wellbeing e F Introductory Self-care

Mindfulness and Wellbeing: Living with Balance and Ease e F Introductory Self-care

Build Personal Resilience e F Introductory Self-care and others
Mind ed (provides a variety of courses) e F Introductory Children and Young People
Emotional Resilience —4MH eor F2F | £F Introductory Self — 13 years plus
Trauma Informed Practice Level 1 (learningpool.com e F Introductory C&YP / Adults

Make Every Contact Count (MECC) eor F2F | £F Introductory Adults

Managing Mental Health and Stress e F Introductory Adults in the workplace
Youth Mental Health: Supporting Young People Using a Trauma Informed e F Introductory Young people
Approach

Self-Harm Awareness (Children and Young People) e F Introductory Children & young people
Personalised Conversations: Health Coaching Skills 1 F2f Intermediate Young people & adults
Connect 5 (mental health and well being) F2F £F Introductory 16 years plus

HOPE Programme F2F F Course related Self-care

Body Image and Mental Health in Young People e F Intermediate Young People
Psychological First Aid: Supporting Children and Young People e F Introductory Children & young people
Psychological First Aid e F Introductory Adults

Devon Recovery Learning Community — range of courses B F Course related Self-care
BeWell@StepOne — range of courses B F Course related Adults

Suicide Awareness (options available) e F Introductory 16 years plus

We Need to Talk About Suicide e F Intermediate Adults

Mental Health First Aid £ Advanced Adults

Mental Health First Aider Qualification £ Advanced Adults

START (Suicide prevention) £ Introductory 15 years plus

SafeTALK (Suicide prevention) £ Introductory 15 years plus
Bereavement and Loss £ Introductory Adults

BarberTalk Lite (Suicide prevention) e £F Introductory Young people & adults
Community Suicide Awareness - 4MH eor F2F | £F Introductory Young people & adults
Suicide First Aid F2F £ Intermediate Adults

Suicide First Aid Lite F2F £ Introductory Adults

Five Steps to Suicide Awareness F2F £ Introductory Adults

Applied Suicide Intervention Skills Training (ASIST) F2F £ Advanced Adults

BarberTalk F2F £ Introductory Young people & adults
ASK B £ Intermediate 5-14 years



https://www.futurelearn.com/courses/depression-young-people
https://www.futurelearn.com/courses/social-and-emotional-development-supporting-teenage-wellbeing
https://www.futurelearn.com/courses/mindful-wellbeing-teachers-stress-anxiety
https://www.futurelearn.com/courses/self-care-and-wellbeing-a-practical-guide-for-health-and-social-care
https://www.futurelearn.com/courses/wellbeing-and-resilience-at-work-sc
https://www.futurelearn.com/courses/mental-health-construction
https://www.coursera.org/learn/the-science-of-well-being
https://www.coursera.org/learn/foundations-of-mindfulness-ii-living-with-balance-and-ease
https://www.coursera.org/learn/build-personal-resilience
https://mindedhub.org.uk/media/quvlpqkv/minded_brochure_a4_r6.pdf
mailto:training@petesdragons.org.uk
https://torbay.learningpool.com/course/view.php?id=1092
https://yourhealthtorbay.co.uk/
https://www.futurelearn.com/courses/managing-mental-health-and-stress
https://www.futurelearn.com/courses/pep-talk-supporting-young-people-mental-health
https://www.futurelearn.com/courses/pep-talk-supporting-young-people-mental-health
https://torbay.learningpool.com/course/index.php?categoryid=119
mailto:rebeccabovey@nhs.net?subject=Personalised%20Coaching%20Course
https://yourhealthtorbay.co.uk/
https://myhealth-devon.nhs.uk/local-services/hope-programme/the-hope-programme
https://www.futurelearn.com/courses/body-image-and-mental-health-in-young-people
https://www.futurelearn.com/courses/psychological-first-aid-for-children-and-young-people
https://www.coursera.org/learn/psychological-first-aid
https://devonrlc.co.uk/
https://www.steponecharity.co.uk/bewell
https://www.zerosuicidealliance.com/training
http://www.nwyhelearning.nhs.uk/elearning/HEE/SuicidePrevention/
https://mhfaengland.org/
https://mhfaengland.org/
mailto:training@petesdragons.org.uk?subject=START%20course
https://www.livingworks.net/safeTALK
mailto:training@petesdragons.org.uk
https://www.thelionsbarbercollective.com/barbertalk-lite/
mailto:training@petesdragons.org.uk
mailto:training@petesdragons.org.uk?subject=Suicide%20First%20Aid%20course
mailto:training@petesdragons.org.uk?subject=Suicide%20First%20Aid%20course%20LITE
mailto:training@petesdragons.org.uk?subject=5%20Steps%20to%20suicide%20course
https://www.torbayandsouthdevon.nhs.uk/services/mental-health/mental-health-training-courses/
https://www.thelionsbarbercollective.com/barbertalk/
https://mentalhealthlearning.co.uk/courses/the-ask-workshop/

Agenda ltem
Apgpendix 3 &

Vi i a Tt W
5 e / o
L P . MOV 1Lty AL e N s e (i # s / M

Healthy Ageing Torbay

Inspiring people to actively age

Healthy Ageing Report - 2024

»
To r b ay Page 105 Torbay Community Development Trust

4-6 Temperance Street, Torquay, Devon, UK, TQ2 5PU.
S't ron g er 1’0 g et h er www.torbaycommunities.com info@torbaycdt.org.uk




HEALTHY AGEING TORBAY

Our Healthy Ageing Live Longer Better (LLB)
programme works with the people facing health
inequalities in Torbay and our underlying aim is to
mobilising community assets to tackle health
inequalities. We work to improve the quality of life
and independent living for people by improving
their activity levels, fitness, health, wellbeing,
longevity and awareness of the ageing process.

Building on our experience of Ageing Well Torbay
across 7 years working to reduce isolation and
loneliness we have now combined the learning with
Live Longer Better — a national programme that we
deliver locally, in a unique way. We piloted this work
in 2022/23 and have continued to develop the scope
and ambition of the programme. Our longer term
aim is to establish sustainable funding to continue
delivering this programme and support other areas
in Devon to develop similar approaches.

Our programme works with people promoting active
lives, build fitness and resilience to prevent health
decline, disease and chronic conditions. We work
with people in Torbay who would not of their own
volition take up fitness activities, pursue a healthy
lifestyle or join a gym (ie those furthest from having
a healthy lifestyle). Many have underlying health
conditions. Many live in areas of deprivation. (19.8%
of older people in Torbay live in income deprivation
compared to 16.2% in England (IDAOPI IMD 2015).
32.3% of Torbay residents live in the 20% most
deprived areas in England - IMD 2015).

Our programme is linked to a growing national
network delivering across the UK aimed at
prevention. The key principle is - the increase in
prevalence of disease as people live longer is mainly
due to their environment rather than ageing process
and can be reduced/reversed. The effects of disease
are often complicated by accelerated loss of fitness.
Documentation proves that people who make the
choice to stay fit and active have less illnesses,
recover from illness quickly, are less likely to suffer
from chronic illnesses, spend less time in hospital
or using medical services, contribute more to their
communities and lead longer productive lives.

LIVE LONGER BETTER

Live Longer Better Torbay is working
across communities to transform our
awareness of the benefits of staying
active.

¢ Facilitated training with community
groups and professionals

¢ Live Longer Better champions

e Community infrastructure to support
people on to an active pathway

STAYING HEALTHY

National prevention programme
encouraging people to stay active in their
communities.

¢ In Torbay we offer creative training
packages to groups and professionals
that connects them to the community.

¢ Fitness starts to decline at 25 years and
our aim is to increase levels of physical
activity and fitness as we age.

e Ageing by itself is not a cause of major
problems until later years. The
problems that occur in everyone are
due to: disease, (the majority of which
is preventable), negative attitudes and
loss of physical, emotional and
cognitive fitness.

www.torbayassembly.com/live-longer-better/

KerEeet}

Live Longer Better -Torbay

Torbay C<7 Page 106

Healthy Ageing Torbay



Physical activity reduces
your chance of:

BEN EFlTS Type 2 diabetes

by up to
The benefits of the programme are: 58%
o Improved cardiovascular heart rate, lung
capacity, respiratory health, muscle Cardiovascular disease

tone, strength, power, suppleness by up to

and balance. 35%

o Increased physical, emotional and
mental capacity, and motivation.

o Improved breath and diaphragmatic
control.

Falls by up to

30%

 Prevention and reduced impacts of Joint and back pain
infection, diseases and diagnosed by up to
conditions. 25%

o Helps to change harmful habits.

« Helps in prevent of other conditions Cancers by up to
(falls, heart disease, obesity, dementia) 1 0-40%

that can make people susceptible to

infection.
Depression by up to

o Reduced dependency on the medical 0
system, social welfare and carers. 30 A)

Overall, we are working towards improved health

outcomes, great resilience in the community, Cognitive decline
. . by up to

reduced demand on health services, better delivery 0

of health services and 40 A)

prevention of long term
degenerative conditions,
greater awareness, sharing
of knowledge and network

Hypertension by up to
0
3%

of health support in the What are the
community - and better - he:f":hzz?:;;ts 4
understanding between [ activity? Lower risk of death by

local people, patients and
health professionals.

20-30%

World Health Organisation: https:/www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/
detail/physical-activity

National Health Service (UK): https://www.nhs.uk/live-well/exercise/exercise-
health-benefits/

Centres for Disease Control and Prevention (US): https:/www.cdc.gov/

g0 physicalactivity/index.html
% UK Chief Medical Officers’ physical activity guidelines, 2019. https:/

www.gov.uk/government/publications/physical-activity-guidelines-uk-chief-
medical-officers-report

Torbay <% Page 107

Stronger together Healthy Ageing Torbay



https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.who.int%2Fnews-room%2Ffact-sheets%2Fdetail%2Fphysical-activity&data=05%7C02%7Cjohnarcus%40torbaycdt.org.uk%7C8e57d0f1f7a14a0747ca08dc269af15f%7Cf1b9b8f7e5034b19a819ec567c785860%7C0%7C0%7C63
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.who.int%2Fnews-room%2Ffact-sheets%2Fdetail%2Fphysical-activity&data=05%7C02%7Cjohnarcus%40torbaycdt.org.uk%7C8e57d0f1f7a14a0747ca08dc269af15f%7Cf1b9b8f7e5034b19a819ec567c785860%7C0%7C0%7C63
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.nhs.uk%2Flive-well%2Fexercise%2Fexercise-health-benefits%2F&data=05%7C02%7Cjohnarcus%40torbaycdt.org.uk%7C8e57d0f1f7a14a0747ca08dc269af15f%7Cf1b9b8f7e5034b19a819ec567c785860%7C0%7C0%7C63842
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.nhs.uk%2Flive-well%2Fexercise%2Fexercise-health-benefits%2F&data=05%7C02%7Cjohnarcus%40torbaycdt.org.uk%7C8e57d0f1f7a14a0747ca08dc269af15f%7Cf1b9b8f7e5034b19a819ec567c785860%7C0%7C0%7C63842
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cdc.gov%2Fphysicalactivity%2Findex.html&data=05%7C02%7Cjohnarcus%40torbaycdt.org.uk%7C8e57d0f1f7a14a0747ca08dc269af15f%7Cf1b9b8f7e5034b19a819ec567c785860%7C0%7C0%7C638427694115813040%7CUnkn
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cdc.gov%2Fphysicalactivity%2Findex.html&data=05%7C02%7Cjohnarcus%40torbaycdt.org.uk%7C8e57d0f1f7a14a0747ca08dc269af15f%7Cf1b9b8f7e5034b19a819ec567c785860%7C0%7C0%7C638427694115813040%7CUnkn
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/physical-activity-guidelines-uk-chief-medical-officers-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/physical-activity-guidelines-uk-chief-medical-officers-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/physical-activity-guidelines-uk-chief-medical-officers-report

HEALTHY AGEING PARTICIPANT
COURSES

The courses cover:

o Breathing and relaxation techniques -
overcoming anxiety triggers, reducing tension
and improving sleep patterns.

o Healthy eating - diet, nutrition and eating habits.
e Hydration - improving habits.
o Falls prevention - Fall Fighters (ROSPA) course.

e Personal skills: Motivation, confidence, routines
and overcoming isolation.

¢ Understanding Ageing.

¢ Maintaining and improving skill and
coordination.

¢ Increasing stamina.
¢ Increasing suppleness.
e Developing strength and power.

¢ Increasing brain ability and reducing the risk of
dementia.

e Improving physical fitness and reducing the
risks of falls and frailty.

¢ Preventing and coping with disease.
e Understanding the changing brain and mind.

e Understanding and changing how. people think
about ageing.

e Exercises you can do at home - 15 minutes
sessions, daily routine, furniture-based
approaches, stretch and relaxation, strength—
based and in-bed routines.

e Importance and purpose of later life planning. -
power of attorney, wills, lifestyles and remaining
independent.

Turning
Point

Diminished ability

Biological Age
»

Torbay

Stronger together

¢ Dying well as well as living well.

¢ Activities - introduction to classes and groups in
Torbay that fit with a persons lifestyle. Each
course has an activities week and we run a
Summer programme where people try different
activities.

Other themes are developed with participants as
required, so the courses are aways person centred,
relevant and up-to-date (ie accessing health
services}.

PROFESSIONAL TRAINING

We address ageing and overcoming barriers with
professionals when working with people - so there
is an understanding of the importance of health
inequalities, recognising the barriers created in
service delivery, improving the experience, or
outcomes among patients, providing an opportunity
to reflect on the role of the healthcare professional
in narrowing the gap on health inequalities and
applying quality improvement methodology. Staff
learn ways to engage with people, encourage them
in safe exercise practices as well as respecting their
experiences and ambitions. We coach them to
remove ageist barriers and language from their
organisations. The professionals we work with
include - Social Prescribers, Wellbeing Coordinators,
Community Builders, GPs, NHS and Care home
staff, fitness instructors etc. We are starting to work
with care homes, carer networks and Torbay
Hospital. We are experienced in delivering codesign
for service delivery and there is scope to develop
this further in the programme.

Page 108

Healthy Ageing Torbay



PROGRAMME DELIVERY

The way we work is strength based - we build on
people’s passions and ambitions to ensure that
they are taking the lead in their own life. What we
find is that as people progress they become
champions/advocates and start to support others in
the programme. We have case studies of people
who have made major life changes through
engaging in physical activity. For example, LT with
fibromyalgia and arthritis has overcome opioid
addiction and also lost weight through taking up
walking - she has become an advocate for the
therapeutic benefits of activity.

The programme is delivered by a fulltime coordinator
and we have run a one-year pilot to establish best
practice, and working relationships with participants
and with professionals. Jess, our Participant
Development Lead, has been running training
workshops and activities with participants, making
referrals to other activity providers as part of a large
VCSE network in Torbay and training professionals to
work with people. Through our networks we promote
and signpost people to new opportunities and
activities delivered in local communities.

This is supported by group learning and online
learning packages that cover themes of health and
wellbeing, hydration, breath, understanding ageing,
improving physical fitness and reducing the risk of
falls and frailty, preventing and coping with disease,
understanding the changing brain and mind,
understanding the changing how people think about
ageing, developing strength and power, the

importance of purpose and planning, maintaining and

improving skills and coordination, increasing
stamina, increasing suppleness, increasing
brainabiliity and reducing the risk of dementia, and
dying well as well as living well.

The way we work was developed through
consultation with older people across Torbay as well
as by the LLB national team of advisors and is
guided by Torbay Assembly Action Group. We believe
people can take the lead in their own recovery and
our aim is to support them in that process.

The programme grows and develops based on
feedback from the community and participants. We
encourage people to provide feedback to service
providers and promote codesign principles when
training professionals.

Delivery and support of volunteers / champions is
from our Community Participation Lead. In working
with people she links into a wider network of
Community Builders, Torbay Community Helpline
VCSE sector support, Age UK Wellbeing
Coordinators, the Healthy Life styles team, Active
Devon, Torbay Assembly, Engaging Communities SW
as well as Social Prescribers and NHS professionals.

We have a representative steering group overseeing
strategy and delivery of the programme that has
included Torbay Assembly representing people voice,
Active Devon, Age UK Torbay, Engaging Communities
SW - Healthwatch, NHS - Torbay and South Devon
Frailty Partnership - Torbay Primary Care Networks -
Social Prescribers - Devon CCG - Torbay and South
Devon NHS Foundation Trust, Torbay Community
Development Trust, Torbay Council - Public Health -
Healthy Lifestyles - Adult Social Care.

Jage UK scor:'muniﬁes COUNCIL
outh West

Torbay

Stronger together

Healthy Ageing Torbay

Page 109



ADDRESSING HEALTH
INEQUALITIES

Our Healthy Ageing programme Live Longer Better

addresses health inequalities in Torbay by mobilising

community assets. It has a focus on awareness of
ageing processes works with people promoting
active lives, and build fitness and resilience to
prevent health decline, disease and chronic

conditions. The programme is open to all adults, and
we don’t exclude people - but through the legacy of

Ageing Well we target our work to people who are

inactive, isolated and vulnerable, and have underlying

health conditions.

The programme address health inequalities including
- protected characteristics of age and disability; non-

medical inequality factors: age (there are
international figures that show that ageism can
reduce life expectancy by up to 7 years), housing
instability, social isolation, loneliness, deprivation,
and as well as poor physical and mental health;
deprivation, areas of multiple deprivation; PLUS
population groups, people with multiple long-term
health conditions, inclusion health groups coastal
communities (where there are small areas of high

deprivation hidden amongst relative affluence); High

Intensity Users; Core20PLUS5 Prevention: COPD -

chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) and

hypertension, minimising the risk of myocardial
infarction and stroke. There is strong evidence that
risks of developing COPD and hypertension are

greatly reduced through regular physical activity with

improved cardiovascular heart rate, lung capacity,
respiratory health, muscle tone, strength, power,
suppleness and balance, improved breath and
diaphragmatic control, reduced dependency on the
medical system, social welfare and carers and

reduction in the risk of cardiovascular disease by up

to 35%. We also address the cross-cutting issues
that can impact on health — housing and living
situation, stress, mental health, cost of living etc to
support people in their recovery.

In line with the NHS Joint Forward Plan — we deliver

against Community Development and Learning;
Health Protection guidelines; wider determinants of
health; how we share learning and create system
value; changing the way we all work and building
capability and resilience in community.

Torbay

Stronger together

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

Deliver the Healthy Ageing Live Longer Better
training programme, working with professionals,
voluntary partners and people themselves to
build fitness and resilience to infection, disease
and chronic conditions and to increase social
and cognitive engagement.

Deliver the programme through a trained
coordinator and a community network of health
professionals and volunteers.

Establish this a longer term funded programme
integrated into community delivery that
addresses health inequalities through preventive
approaches.

Every individual:

Understands the ageing process and is aware of
ways for preventing and living with disease.

Has their choices and ambitions acknowledged
and promoted.

Is able to choose the level of support that will
enable them to live independent and socially
connected lives.

Has the opportunity to optimise ‘brain ability’ and
reduce the risk of dementia.

¢ |[s able to improve physical fitness and reduce

their risk of injury from falling or from frailty.
Is respected for their life experiences and abilities.

Is treated with dignity in all health and care
services.

Is better informed about dying well as well as
living well.

Healthy Ageing Torbay



To make this happen we:

e Challenge how people think about ageing, so that
we all see ageing as a positive part of life and
each stage as an opportunity for new, positive
experiences.

e Adopt a whole community approach inclusive of
all ages and cultures, and require the same of our
partners.

e Ensure health and care services are shaped by
people with lived experience and from diverse
backgrounds.

e Enable trusted relationships that fully support
peoples’ wellbeing.

e Promote and support the wellbeing of carers.

e Promote services that are accessible, inclusive
and effective.

e Ensure support is targeted at prevention and is
determined by need, not age.

e Actively challenge discrimination.

e Ensure that when care is needed it is accessible,
compassionate and of high quality.

Expand reach:

e Work with people in Torbay who would be less
likely to take up a healthy lifestyle or who have
underlying health conditions.

e Encourage participation from people in care
homes, domiciliary care, people who are isolated
from their local community.

o Take referrals from Social Prescribers, Wellbeing
Coordinators, Community Builders, Good
Neighbour Networks and Active Devon
coordinators.

e Encourage group and peer learning as a way to
change people’s habits in the community.

e Community: Mobilize community assets to tackle
health inequalities by fostering collaborative
working in local communities.

e NHS: continue to integrate VCSE and NHS delivery
and to develop an active and representative
Healthy Ageing Board.

Torbay

Financial benefit of healthy life expectancy:
Financial savings of 6.1M: The national programme is
a population based and digitally enabled system for
living longer better, which will help individuals and
their families to benefit from living a larger
proportion of their lives independently and in good
health. It deliver societal benefits by reducing the
need and demand for social care and healthcare,
both long term and acute. According to the King’s
Fund, this benefit amounts to £45m p.a. per million
population for every additional year of healthy life
expectancy. With a total population of ¢. 140,000, the
benefit to Torbay of an extra year of healthy life
expectancy would be £6.1M p.a.. The government’s
goal, supported by the All Party Parliamentary Group
on Longevity, is to increase healthy life expectancy
by 5 years by 2035.

OUTCOMES

Through the programme we help public and
professionals to understand how to:

e See ageing in a positive way and value the
contribution of people.

¢ Increase physical, emotional and mental capacity.
¢ Improve awareness of maintaining a healthy body.

¢ Reduce the impacts of infection, diseases and
diagnosed conditions.

e Change harmful habits.
o Realise how activity becomes a daily life practice.
o Share learning with others and be an inspiration.

¢ Reduce dependency on the medical system,
social welfare and carers.

e Associated outcome being reduction in need for
and use of health and care services

Healthy Ageing Torbay



OUTCOME MEASURES

Training sessions: Core participant training sessions
are 3 — 3.5 hour 7 week courses run three times a
year in Brixham, Paignton and Torquay (ie 63 in all
the towns) with a max of 18 people per session, plus
three group combined reflections.

Engagement sessions: We promote the work
through engagement sessions, working with
participants who don’t generally engage in regular
physical activity to improve their health, wellbeing,
confidence and motivation. Most wouldn’t consider
sports clubs or regular fitness training. Showcase
events in Paignton providing opportunities for people
— presentation by a range if providers and updates
on local plans affecting peoples independent living.

Professionals: We run training groups and sessions
for people working with people — Community
Builders, Wellbeing Coordinators, Social Prescribers,
Link Workers, activity providers, GP practice nurses,
carers, staff on wards, care homes etc — we are
looking at approximately 26 sessions this year for
160 people. We get invited to lifestyle, leisure,
wellbeing and activity events / festivals where we
promote the training, which leads to further
sessions. We have monthly meetings for the LLB
Steering Group, LLB Action Group and Assembly
Action Group. We also run quarterly 3hr sessions for
the public. We contribute and learn from national LLB
research, events and webinars. Ongoing work with
care homes providing training and garden and nature
activities. We are developing training for Torbay
Hospital elderly wards and associated staff.

COLLABORATION

Collaboration is at the heart of all our work. The
Healthy Ageing Torbay Programme delivers
outcomes based on the Health and Wellbeing
Board—Healthy Ageing Strategy, the Torbay On The
Move Strategic Report, strategies of the Falls and
Frailty Partnership and NHS prevention measures.
We are a partner in developing a Healthy Ageing
Board for Torbay and South Devon and a sub group
focusing on prevention.

Torbay

TORBAY ON THE MOVE

Torbay on the Move aims to support and encourage
residents to be more active at a level that really
improves both physical and mental well-being. Of
the eight themes Healthy Ageing Torbay contribute
to:

Active environments: We make full use of our
amazing green and blue spaces by running activity
sessions for each course and over the Summer.

Active travel: Participants as they progress report
that they return to cycling and walking options.

Active for health: We train and support health care
professionals to prescribe physical activity, have
conversations about moving more, support patients
to improve their well-being and recovery- a nd
provide a safe and fun way for patients to start to
engage through our courses. We believe the
prevention work we do encourages people to age
well and reduce the pressure on primary care
services.

Active clubs: We link with clubs and activity
providers to offer taster sessions where people have
an opportunity to try and learn a variety of activities.
This supports community clubs to provide places to
be active, volunteering and skill development for
people, more jobs and economic opportunities.

Active places: A place where we harness the power
of the people in our communities. We empower
people to have a greater say in their health and lives.
This helps to an active culture and lifestyles in
Torbay and create .

Active for all: A place that helps people get involved
and supports those that are least active. This gives
people the best opportunity to make a positive
impact. This will then reduce demand on health and
other services.

Active workforces: We train staff and health
professionals so they can really understand people's
needs. We want people taking their first steps into
activity to enjoy the experience.

Q

X“MOVE

More people, more active, more often

TORBAY COUNCIL

Page 112

Healthy Ageing Torbay



EVALUATION

Healthy Ageing LLB Torbay is working across
communities to transform our awareness of the
benefits of staying active and healthy ageing - for
all ages. We keep all data on a CRM system
(Apricot) — managed by a Data Manager. We
monitor participants ambitions at the start and end
of the training.

We monitor our programme through a CRM
programme (Apricot) and also build strong working
relationships with each client/participant closely
following their journey. Many of the people we work
are involved in a wider Healthy Ageing Network
delivered by CDT so through that we maintain
contact over a number of years. People who
complete the programme can choose to become
activity champions so sharing their learning and
successes with others and often increase their
contributions to their local community.

The way we work is person-centred, holistic,
strength-based and relational. We build long term
trusted relationships with participants, which allows
us to monitor progress and provide guidance. We
also encourage shared learning and for them to
support their progress through peer support.

We also get feedback from Torbay Assembly on
ongoing issues related to older people in the
community — as well as data from Torbay Community
Helpline. We are active members of Age Friendly UK
Network and WHO Global Age Friendly Community
Network, we provide an extensive referral network
for people in need through Torbay Community
Helpline.

As a relatively new programme this funding will allow
us to improve our methods of monitoring and
evaluation.

Activity measures give an indication of the range,
breadth and depth of the programme and reach into
target groups.

We are starting to develop a pre and post
programme aspirations and participant feedback
form to give a qualitative indication of change in
knowledge, skills and confidence of programme
participants.

The programme is currently being evaluated with the
aim of developing some clear indicators to capture to
best measure impact in terms of activation and

Torbay

Stronger together

physical / social activity in future developments.
Target groups experiencing health inequalities as
identified by partners such as people released from
secure accommodation, people identified as mildly
frail in town centre practice etc.

Evidence of service users and citizens participating
in planning and evaluation — quarterly reports.

Participant feedback. Feedback through group
sessions / focus groups, testimonials and case
studies, compiled through Apricot CRM.

Partnership issues covered monthly through Steering
Group. Monthly meetings for Steering Group, Action
Group and Assembly.

Summary of key learning, innovation, and wider
system change. Quarterly and annual report.

All reports are shared with stakeholders.

Page 113

Healthy Ageing Torbay



IMPACT

The table above shows participants and impacts
from 31 March 2023 to 31 Dec 2023 and has already
exceeded our annual targets. In the previous year
we had 449 participants in the training programme

for the year (398 public and 51 professional) and -
we also ran the Ageing Well Festival which had Targets for 2023/24:

over 2000 attendees and further 8 participant e Delivery across all quarters — based on funding.
showcase events—with 208 attendees. Demonstrated in the report.

We also get feedback from Torbay Assembly on ) o

ongoing issues related to older people in the * Evaluation pipeline measures of programme

community — as well as data from Torbay Community ~ Success and stakeholder engagement. This will
Helpline. We are active members of Age Friendly UK~ be completed at the end of the year.

Network and WHO Global Age Friendly Community  , Number and range of partners engaged. Target 22

Network, we provide an extensive referral network Q1-Q3 = 57

for people in need through Torbay Community

Helpline. e Number of participants and direct beneficiaries -
As a relatively new programme funding will allow us 400+ Q1-Q3 = 553

to improve our methods of monitoring and

e Number of new licences - 280 Q1-Q3 = 250
strategic decision to only allocate when people
want to access.

evaluation.
We are also in discussion with local PCNs and
proposing a pilot which would reach GPs patients

who would benefit from increased awareness and e Number of training sessions delivered — 63 Q1-Q3
activity. Support would be delivered on a Red, Amber = g2

and Green basis—so Red targeting those with the ,
greatest need. e Number of champions / volunteers — 25 Q1-Q3 =

The national team for Live Longer Better see our 35
approaches as innovative - based on our face-to-face
person-centred delivery model, and the extra

modules we have created - learning is then

supported by the LLB online learning portal.

QI-B'ZB IMPACTS

Participants - people you have workedwith | 538 |
Engagements - tasks withpeople | 1292
People withlicenses | 250 |
StaffHours | 1591 |
Community Volunteers |14 |
Programme Volunteers | 21 |
Programme Volunteerhours | 1016 |
TrainingSessions | 62 |
ﬂ-
ReferralsOut | 214 |
Level 1 - People needing intensivesupport | 110 |
Level 2 — People needing general support | 428 |

Professional events I




AGEING WELL APPROACHES

A comprehensive and independent survey of
participants over five years of the Ageing
Well Programme in Torbay showed the
success of a collaborative and prevention-
based approach to people’s wellbeing.
Through Healthy Ageing Torbay and our
networks we continue with the same
approaches. (Ecorys evaluation results
2020).

. Up 2.4 pOintS: People’s sense of

community improved 2.4 points.

. Up 11 pOil‘ltS: People who meet up with

friends and family improved 11 points.

. Up 2.6 pOintS: The number of family

members and friends in people’s lives improved 2.6
points.

° Up 10 pOintS: The proportion of people

who felt they participated in social activities “more
than most” compared to other people of their age,
improved 10 points.

° Less |0I‘Ie|y: Respondents became less

lonely, improving across three separate measures -
0.6 points (De Jong Gierveld scale), 14 points (UCLA)
and 1.3 points (Campaign to End Loneliness scale).

Torbay

Stronger together

Up 26 pOII‘ItS Mental wellbeing has

improved 2.6 points and fewer people reported
experiencing anxiety and depression.

Up 7% pOintS: Perceptions of Ageing

have improved. “As I get older, | expect to be able to
do the things I've always done” agreement up 7%
points.

Up 12% pOintS: Influencing decision-

making improved. “My local community works
together to identify and implement actions for the
benefit of the community” is up 12% points.

Up 6 pOintS: Openness to volunteering

improved. “Do you intend to volunteer in the future?” -
up 6 points.

Up 7 pOintS: People’s perception of their

Health improving is up 7 points.

Up 12% pOintS: People stating that

they were not anxious or depressed improved 12%.

DOW“ 6 pOintS: Accessing health and

care services showed a decrease in the percentage of
people who were admitted to hospital in the previous
12 months down 6 points.

U p 1 pOint: Value and purpose — peoples

self-acceptance scores improved 1.0 point.

Healthy Ageing Torbay



Age Friendly Torbay is
coordinated through the Torbay
Assembly in partnership with
community and statutory
organisations. We are an active
member of the Age Friendly UK
Network and the World Health
Organisation Global Network.
We are working to improve
engagement and communication,
increase representation and
improve sustainability.

Community Support and Health Services:

Health, social care, volunteering

A person’s health status impacts on their
ability to work, participate in society and on
their quality of life and relationships.

Civic Participation and Employment:

We need to ensure people’s rights are

maintained as the organisation of work,

training and volunteering continues to
transform our communities.

Social Participation:

Social participation and social support
are strongly connected to good health

and wellbeing throughout life.

Communication and Information:

Staying connected with events and people - and
getting timely, practical information to manage
life and meet personal needs is vital for active

ageing.

ne-Friendly Torbay

We are working to improve
outcomes in the areas of:
EMPLOYMENT, HEALTH,
SOCIAL PARTICIPATION,

COMMUNICATIONS, HOUSING,
ENVIRONMENT, TRANSPORT,
EQUALITY & INCLUSION. Our

aim is to work together with
people and organisations to
develop Torbay as a thriving,
inspiring and vibrant place to live
and work.

Respect and Social Inclusion:

The extent to which people participate in the
social, civic and economic life of our community
is closely linked to their experience of inclusion.

Housing:

Good housing is essential to safety and
wellbeing and influences independence and
people’s quality of life.

Outdoor Spaces and Buildings:

The outside environment and public buildings
have a major impact on the mobility,
independence and quality of life of people and
affect their ability to ‘age in place’.

Transport:

Integrating good transport with ‘Liveable

Communities’ is important for improving

access, connections, social participation
and health.

Age Friendly Torbay is integral to Healthy Ageing Delivery

Let's get motive




TORBAY ASSEMBLY

We work within a range of themes across Brixham,
Paignton and Torquay to give local people a voice
and we have representatives on planning groups in
the Bay. We invite other organisations to link with us
to improve inclusion in decision-making through the
Torbay Charter. Our Action Group meets monthly, we
will run showcase events quarterly, we are seeking
people to champion the Age Friendly themes AND
Healthy Ageing Torbay.

A platform for residents of Torbay to
influence local decision-making, be heard,

local services, authorities and

organisations.

Origins

Ageing Well Torbay, a programme aimed at
reducing loneliness and isolation amongst
Torbay’s over fifties, initially worked with
people over 50 and organisations across

Torbay in the form of The Torbay Over Fifties’

Assembly (TOFA).

Now dubbed The Torbay Assembly, this
platform will enable any Torbay residents
regardless of age to discuss what’s
important to them, and share those views
with peers from around the bay.

The assembly was a key element of Ageing
Well Torbay’s initial bid to the National
Lottery Community Fund, and is, therefore,
an important feature and legacy of the
programme; ensuring a powerful platform
for Torbay residents to voice their concerns
was established.

Aim of Torbay Assembly: To be the voice of
people in Torbay

Torbay j
counted and celebrated, working alongside :YV‘I}:;; Assem

What does the Assembly do?

Influence decisions regarding

local services and policies so that
they take into account the needs and
interests of Torbay residents

y “‘“: °

o Ensure that locals have the opportunity to
share their knowledge and experience to
improve current services

o Provide feedback on changes to services
and policies

e To support and drive the local authority,
statutory, voluntary and private
organisations to achieve and maintain Age-
friendly Status

Represent all Torbay residents
o Celebrate people of all ages

The Charter — organisations sign up to our

charter to show they are working responsibly and
engaging with people to improve service delivery.

Member quarterly showcase events

We run regular showcase events for members. Check
for dates and venues on www.torbayassembly.com

’ Whew local people lead communities thrive

Page 117

Healthy Ageing Torbay


https://ageingwelltorbay.com/

CASE STUDIES

‘The course made me realise
the importance of looking

after myself both physically
and mentally.’

SELF AWARENESS - Julia, 2023.

‘After completing the Living Longer Better course
delivered by Jess Slade, | felt very motivated to
move forward positively and firstly start looking after
my own health and wellbeing a bit more. The course
made me realise the importance of looking after
myself both physically and mentally.’

LEARNING AND FACILITATION

‘...her commitment to empowering and motivating
others to become the best versions of ourselves we
can possible be and her support of us all on our
jJourneys to improving our health and wellbeing. She
has a brilliant personality, and she is very good at
networking and bringing communities together and
this is reflected in the amazing weekly guest
speakers she procures for each session from
Nutritionists, Physiotherapists to Community Builders
to volunteer NHS Slips and Trips Advisors.’

OPTIMISTIC

‘By the end of the course | felt a lot more positive
and optimistic about my future and a lot less fearful
about ageing. | had also made some good social
connections and | am now feeling a lot less lonely. |
have kept in touch with a number of people | met
whilst doing the course who are becoming new
friends.’

‘I felt a lot more positive
and optimistic about my
future and a lot less fearful

about ageing. | had also
made some good social
connections and | am now
feeling a lot less lonely.’

Completing my Life Book - Janine Burt, 2024.

I am not a very confident person and find it difficult
fo meet new people, strike up a conversation with
somebody | don’t know and try new things on my
own. BUT

I loved the course, so informative, and | can’t praise
Jess enough on how she delivers the content. | feel
that all over 50’s should complete the course and
start thinking about retirement and healthy lifestyle
choices, so they are going to be happy healthy older
people.

Now | feel more positive, confident and motivated to
make my health and wellbeing my priority. |
challenge myself to converse more at groups and
activities | attend. And | also speak to people about
the courses and advocate for everyone to do it! The
earlier the better.

| complete brain training now 2 or 3 times a day all
sorts of different games and word searches and
challenges, which | can certainly say | am enjoying,
and hoping it is helping to keep my brain and mind
busy and healthy.

When | started the course | also started back on my
bicycle - first of all just a 10 min wobble around the
block but now | am averaging 2 km each day now,
most days of the week! It was collecting dust and not
used for months - but | am enjoying the exercise
and feeling more confident to go further as the
weeks pass.

Jess introduced us to exercise videos on You Tube
from Move It Or Lose It. These are brilliant and |
complete different videos 3 times a week and also
trying to walk more — | do think now if it’s nice | will
walk rather than drive and plan the time to walk
rather than drive. | walked to Torbay Hospital for an
appointment last week! And got the bus back. Never
would have done that before. | also love Lucinda’s

D ag@as_E]!@s introduced us too | go every Thursday



and | have made new friends and we go for coffee
and cake afterwards for a social.

Since completing the course, | have been actively
completing my Life Book and sorting paperwork for
my Power of Attorneys — | had a Will but not thought
about POA before the course. | have discussed this
with two of my children to split the role. | have
spoken to my solicitors to update my will for both
myself and my partner. | have also sorted my
finances out, closing unused bank accounts,
updating savings accounts and sorted my direct
debits to come out in the same week of the month
and making it all a bit simpler and ensuring my
children have all the important info re accounts

Do more each year as we age, NOT LESS - Annette
Burkette, 2024.

| find that | am a naturally negative person, | can
often find a reason why | shouldn’t do something
before | think of a reason why I should...... BUT
taking part in the course | have really noticed my
personal attitude and perceptions change, well
actually my husband first of all noted how much
happier and brighter | seemed after just the first 2
weeks of the course and | now feel | am more
positive and am seeing highs in a more glass half full
rather than glass half empty way.

I have made a good friend on the course — Janine.
Now we go to Lucinda’s Over 55°s exercise class
every Thursday and have also invited 2 friends and
we all go and then have a coffee afterwards with
some of the classmates meet up with us too like
Tess from the class.

I now feel happy and more confident about getting
out of the house on my own - | go to a local coffee
shop and sit and do a few sudoku and sit on my own
which | would have never have done before but now
| feel comfortable and confident to do so. | can do
the easy ones and the medium now but the hard
ones are so frustrating and | often ask the girls in the
café - Any clues please?

| complete the cuppa tea challenge Jess shared with
us every day, multiple times a day. It really is
surprising how much better my strength and balance
is now and how much easier it is to do the exercises
compared to the first couple of weeks. | have shared
the cuppa tea challenge up north with my family

Torbay

Stronger together

members so they do it every day too - bit of a
competition plus sharing the learning across the
country.

Hydration is not something | had really considered to
be so important — unlike healthy eating which | am
very conscious of. This has stayed with me as a key
message — | carry a bottle of water with me all the
time now and keep topping it up, we are made up of
2/3s liquid — got to keep topped up and lubricated!

Biggest key message for me from the course. We
must do more each year as we age — NOT LESS - |
can and | will do more and give new things ago, from
now on.

‘Biggest key message for
me from the course. We
must do more each year as
we age — NOT LESS - | can

and | will do more and give
new things ago, from now
on.’

Reduction in pain from an injury and the value of
hydration and new friends - Merv, 2024.

One of my main objectives was to meet new people
and make friends, which has been a success | have
met some lovely people who | see regularly. | helped
Tess with her car and she convinced me to go to the
doctors re the tremors | have and now her car is
working and didn’t cost anything and my tremors are
so well controlled | can pick up a pen and write this
for you Jess!

Making new friends is so important for me as | get
older, having friendship groups and looking out for
one another and being able to help other people, feel
useful and share my skills.

I now have an Essential tremors diagnosis but | got
medication from the doctors and it has helped so
much. Also made friends with Christine on the
course and Marianne's walking group — lots of
interesting people there and get some exercise and

Page 119

Healthy Ageing Torbay



fresh air and then to the café.

I reconnected with Julia McDonald who is the falls
lady — her classes for strength and balance are
brilliant and Exercise Easy when my COPD will allow.

I have a good friend of 92 who we now do exercises
together which I learnt during the course over Whats
App together. | had a shoulder injury from cycling
and now with completing my exercises each morning
I now have more movement back in my shoulder /
arms to reach up to get things out of cupboards in
the kitchen and no PAIN!

I had a shoulder injury from
cycling and now with
completing my exercises each
morning | now have more

movement back in my
shoulder / arms to reach up to
get things out of cupboards in
the kitchen and no PAIN!

I have learnt many things from the course, but that
as we get old | should be doing more exercise NOT
less was something | hadn’t thought about. With my
COPD | needed to find appropriate groups and
exercises | can do. Walking group Friday, exercise
videos more to do. Always more to do.

Since the class and completing the module regarding
Life Books and future planning, | have brought this
subject up several times and now starting to help
people to think about it and giving them books to
help them make the future plans and have the
difficult conversations now so they can have quality
time with friends and family later on.

| found very reassuring to be totally natural to lose or
miss place things and that it isn’t early sign so of
dementia. That scares me. | do lose things or miss
place them but | can now logically look for them and
not worry, “I am losing my marbles”

Hydration — Had a Water retention problem from
being dehydrated for a long time. But | have been
drinking lots of water now since the course and
understanding that it helps with my medication which
requires to work best when hydrated.

Pad

| think it was a great course and beautifully
presented by Jess — informative but fun.

The video was not shot very well as it distracted you
from concentrating on the content of the module
while the camera focusing on one subject to another.
Could be filmed a lot better — perhaps | can make
recommendations - this is my interest and hobby
now [l

I would just like to say 12 months ago | spent
Christmas in hospital and | was very unwell with a
urine Infection — to be honest I didn’t think | was
going to make it...... but I now realise this was
dehydration that caused it and I still have so much
life to live.

Thank you Jess for a course which was actually
useful and helpful for me.

A new sense of purpose - Jenny Pankhurst, 2024.

| was a lonely, 77 year old widow, in transition when
| joined the Live Longer Better course and suffering
from Long Covid and missing everything | had done
before lockdowns and Covid. | say in transition
because | was desperately seeking some purpose in
my life. The course provided me with hope for the
future, where advancing in age and decrepitude were
not inevitable outcomes. | completed it in May / June
of 2023.

I found the structure of the course was all inclusive
covering all aspects e.g Physical being through
healthy eating and exercises of all sorts on offer -
especially the mobility, strength and balance and
stamina area for me. As | have had several falls was
particularly useful. Mental Attitudes towards ageing
played an important part for me, and through
discussion and interaction with other participants it
was made clear how much older people have to offer
their communities and each other.

From an emotional point of view the support |
received from Jess and her team was a great
comfort and confidence builder. It is so easy to lose
confidence when you are isolated and no longer have
work or family commitments.

The activities weeks were so much fun and | found
several which | have now taken up as regular
activities and met so many new people. The Summer
Programme for me was superb. | did things | would
not have done “on my own” such as swimming in
the sea again after many years of not doing so. | was
'gtricﬁlﬁed to organisations and groups , who were



accessible and made single people very welcome.

| feel like | have my “spirit of adventure” back now, |
am the person | always was. | never thought | would

fly again or plan a major trip but through the course
and creating aspirational goals and achievable

milestones. | have just visited Kenya on a trip to visit

a young women who | have been sponsoring
through education and | am continuing with my
fundraising and raising awareness back here at
home.

What a fantastic experience, | am not sure | would

have felt in a position to do so with out the help and

support from Jess and the Healthy Ageing Project.

Main contact: John Arcus

Email address: johnarcus@torbaycdt.org.uk
Telephone: 07548704877

Role: Operations Manager

Group / Organisation: ~ Torbay Community
Development Trust, 4-8 Temperance Street, Torquay,
TQ2 5PU.

Photo credits: CDT images and:

1.Dancer: Centre for Ageing Better, Age Positive Image
Library, RS8694, Mark Epstein.

2.Cyclist, ibid, RS10395, Elliot Manches.

3.Person in wheelchair, ibid, RS10364, Elliot Manches.
4.Walking group, ibid, RS7736, Peter Kindersley.
5.Running group, ibid, RS7705, Peter Kindersley.
6.Fitness class, CDT.

KerEeEet}

Live Longer Better -Torbay

Torbay

Stronger together

Page 121

Healthy Ageing Torbay



PRACTITIONER PROGRAMME

Advancing changes in knowledge, attitude
and confidence

The national programme has surveyed 5,000
Practitioners trained in the LLB programme —
the outcomes show significant improvements in:

¢ Understanding ageing and the importance of
activity.

e Confidence in speaking about ageing.

e Number of conversations about ageing held
weekKly.

‘There us so much more to do and that we
can do as health professionals. Inform older
adults with the right messages, give them
tools that enable them to take control over
their health.’

‘I look forward to...changing cultural beliefs
and attitudes towards old age...it certainly
inspired me to ....influence others.’

‘This course prompted me to step back a
little and encourage our clients to help
themselves a bit more. Support
independence, not take away. Promote
movement to increase mobility and
suppleness to increase happiness and a
longer more independent healthier life.
intentionally connect people, places and
spaces.

‘We are delighted to have been able to ‘test
and learn’ our theory and are delighted to

report here that the impact of our work in the

neighbourhoods of Torbay has been more
significant, more productive and more
insightful than even we would have believed
possible.’
Professional training in the workplace:
e Community Builder team
e Wellbeing Coordinators
e Social Prescribers
e Care Workers
e Care Homes
e Torbay Hospital
e GP Surgeries
¢ Healthy Lifestyle Team
o Fitness Instructors

Torbay

Stronger together

Investing in people and
relationships - and
building on local assets
and potential

Torbay Communities

Developing stronger
communities across Torbay

Encouraging people to do
what they do best

Supporting groups to thrive

Making connections and
stimulating co-operation

Bringing people together

Established following discussions with more than
100 voluntary sector representatives, Torbay
Communities has the intention of making Torbay
a place where all people feel included. The Trust
builds on existing strengths where key assets are
people in their environment.

Call us on 01803 212638
Email us on info@torbaycdt.org.uk

Check out our programmes on
www.torbaycommunities.com

Torbay Community Development Trust
4-6 Temperance Street, Torquay, Devon,
UK, TQ2 5PU. Registered Charity 1140896,

Registered Company 07546840

We have so much to share. Call us for a
chat. Come visit and see for yourselves or
let us train you and your people in the
Torbay Way.

2 Page 122

Healthy Ageing Torbay



(PolProgiutition
EsdPress

e
-

Bl= — =

2 1 ][

L

= e\
B g o e s w3

Our journey map of how we will all develop Growth in Action together.
September 2023 - 2027




Coproduction is more than
just a word; it is a process in
which all people with the
same interest work together
as equals to combine their
expertise and experience to
shape and improve services.

- Torbay Growth in Action Coproduction group

Safety and wellbeing
are our priority on the
coproduction express,

which we will talk about
throughout our plan.




What is it?

This strategy sets out our Abo Ut th i s

aspiration for the
development of co-
production within Growth

strategy

Why do we need it?

Coproduction is a great idea because it brings together the people who
use services and the professionals who provide them, giving everyone
an equal say in how things are done. When we coproduce, we can create
services that truly meet the needs and preferences of the people they
are designed for. It helps us build stronger, more effective services by
combining our knowledge, experiences, and ideas.

We can point to some good examples of co-productive practice across
Growth in Action, but we want to embed it across everything we do,
which we need a plan for.

Who developed it?

This strategy was co-produced with the Torbay Co-production
Group with support from an independent organisation called Davis
and Associates. This group met every two weeks and includes
people with lived experience who access the Alliance services as
well as staff from across Growth in Action including Torbay
Domestic Abuse Service (TDAS), Torbay Recovery Initiatives (TRI)
and Torbay Council’s Hostel.

Page 125




Al) atboarr

An introduction to coproductio

S 10

Coproduction is more than just
a word; it is a process in which
all people with the same
interest work together as
equals to combine their
expertise and experience to
shape and improve services.

Growth in action’s definition of coproduction

Coproduction looks like:

People with lived experience (which may include friends or family
members) as well as people working in services sharing their
knowledge and skills at all stages of service development, including
problem-solving together and making decisions. Coproduction
includes developing mutual respect for the strengths all individuals
can bring in developing services.



What does coproduction actually look like?

Making rules together:

This can sometimes be called ‘policy development’. Coproduction in policy
development means that people who use a service and the people that deliver
it work together to make the rules or guidelines for how the service should
work. For example, a survivor’s group might team up with people who have
experienced abuse to create rules about how survivors can get involved, so
everyone's ideas count when decisions are made.

Making services better:

This is often called ‘service design’. In coproduction it means that people who
use the service, staff, and others work together to make the service work even
better. For example, a mental health service might team up with people who
use the service to make the first steps of getting help easier and more helpful
for each person.

Learning together:

In training and development, coproduction means that the people who use the
service and the staff work together to create training programs. For example, a
substance use recovery program might team up with people who have gone
through recovery to make training sessions about issues with drugs and/or
alcohol. They use their own experiences to make the training better.

Making the system better:

This can be called ‘quality improvement’ and in coproduction means that the
people who stay at a homeless shelter and the staff work together to make the

shelter better. They might create a team to check how things are, listen to
suggestions, and make changes to improve the place where people stay based
Page 127 on what everyone thinks.




What we’ve

achieved already

One example of coproduction is
the way that we developed this
document. All of the ideas that we
have included came from a group
of people with lived experience,

staff and managers. That included
what we will include, how we word
things and what the document
should look like. We have all
worked together to create this.

Another example is the Alliance
itself and what it should be called.
We all worked together to think of
ideas for a name, tag line and logo.
A smaller group took these ideas
and worked with someone who
specialises in branding to help
bring them to life

Why is coproduction important for Growth in
Action?

When we coproduce, we can create services that truly meet the
needs and preferences of the people they are designed for. It
helps us build stronger, more effective services by combining our
knowledge, experiences, and ideas.



Passengers

Making sure everyone has
what they need to get involved.

e —
m 0000
AR

Planning the journey

Our principles

Tickets Mind the gap

Making sure everyone knows Making sure everyone can get
how fo get involved. involved safely.



Our coproduction principles

When we talk about principles in
coproduction, we mean the key ideas and
values that help us all work together to

make things better. These principles are
like our guiding lights.

Respect: We treat each other with kindness and
consideration.

Take Action: We turn ideas into real improvements.

Transparency: We are open and honest in all we do.

Celebrate Success: We recognise and appreciate our
achievements.

Ownership: We take pride in making things better, together.




The drivers cabin. The regular commuters cabin.
This cabin is for people who want a lot of involvement in
how Growth for Action develops. They are likely to be our

train going like drivers and engineers. ({ ‘Co-Pro Patron’s’

This cabin is for people who are the most involved in coproduction. They might
be involved in facilitating groups for example. They're the peaple keeping our

11

The guiet cabin. The day trippers cabin.
This cabin is for people that we aren’t hearing from very much at the This cabin s for Pe“f"" "h“ want to have their sav
moment, but they might want to stll know what is going on. about how Growth in Action develops but aren't
involved on a day to day basis.

Making sure our passengers have what they need on board.

People on the coproduction express might need a certain set of skills, behaviours, and knowledge to get involved. This might be different
depending on how involved they want to be. It is everyone’s choice which cabin they want to get on, and people can join any cabin at any
time. They can even change cabins. We have options in each cabin to help people to develop the skills, knowledge and behaviours that might
be helpful for them, like a snack trolley with options for people in each cabin. And like picking snacks its all based on people’s own choices around
which learning and development opportunities they pick to get involved in. We will just make sure our snack trolley always has the options!




=2 T

Making sure everyone knows how to get involved.

Growth in Action Co-Pro Network

The coproduction network is a space for peer support and
gathering voices from across the ‘Coproduction Express'.
The network is made up of our ‘Co-Pro Patron's’. It meets
regularly, with face to face and virtual options, and works
with all parts of Growth in Action to support all of the
decisions that need to be made.

Community listening spaces

Our co-pro patron's all have their
own groups and communities that
have valuable views that could
help Growth in Action to develop.
Our patrons are the conduit
between the wider community and
our alliance.

Service listening spaces

Growth in action is made up of
three organisations working
together as one service. Although
we coproduce all together,
sometimes there are really
specific things that each service
might want to focus on. Each
organisation will have its own
coproduction space.




Prioritising
safety

Emotional
wellbeing

Inclusive
approach

Trauma
informed.

’)) Mind the gap

We commit to creating an environment where everyone feels physically
and emotionally secure throughout any coproduction activity. Our approach
is characterised by proactive measures to prevent harm, protect physical and
emotional wellbeing, and ensure inclusivity. To support this, we will:

Create a coproduction safeguarding policy.

Create an induction process for people involved, but particularly our co-

pro patrons.

Provide non-group and anonymous opportunities to get involved for

those who do not feel safe meeting people they don’t know well.

We recognise that coproduction can be an intense and deeply personal
experience, especially when addressing issues related to substance use,
domestic abuse, and homelessness services. We are committed to prioritising
the emotional wellbeing of everyone involved. In addition to the above we will:
¢ Create supportive, inclusive atmosphere’s where everyone can
participate by helping our co-pro patrons to develop supportive
facilitation skills.
Ensure we have pathways in to support services so that anyone
involved in coproduction that needs specific support can access it at
any time.

Inclusivity means making sure that everyone, no matter who they are, feel
welcome, valued, and part of coproduction. It's about including people from
all different backgrounds, experiences, and perspectives so that nobody
feels left out.
Inclusivity is the cornerstone of effective coproduction. We are committed to
creating an inclusive environment where every voice is heard, valued, and
respected. We will:
¢ Work hard to make sure we reach out to all communities across Torbay
and invite them to come aboard.
Provide a range of options and different ways for people to get involved
so that people with additional needs, whether its physical mobility or
sensory needs, don’t experience any barriers to getting involved.

A trauma-informed approach means that we understand that some people
may have experienced difficult or painful things in their lives. We make sure to
treat everyone with care, respect, and kindness. We are aware and will
acknowledge beforehand, that discussion and exploration of topics can trigger
painful memories and emotions. We will actively inform people of potential
triggers and offer support to all to manage distress and emotions in a
positive and healing way, thereby allowing distress to transform into a
source of learning and empowerment to the individual and the whole group.




/ ,//// /// Wi //////// /// ///;//m

By 2028, our destination is a future where everyone (including
people with support needs, staff, and leaders) work seamlessly
together, driving innovation and transformation across the
Growth in Action Alliance.




o All groups across Growth in
Action include people with
lived experience and staff.

Set up the Co-Pro
Network.
Recruitment of a
coproduction ‘
coordinator. 4 = .
Begin Co-Pro Patron
training and .
development. ".
Map out virtual ¢ ,'7

solutions. Mobilisation junction

o

o Elected Co-Pro
Patrons integrated into
governance groups.
Identify diversity gaps
and plan to increase

By
, Collaboration terminal
oy ‘

Q.
® representation.
|c:;

Iz

Evaluate and
monitoring  of  the
coproduction strategy.

ption station

Implementation depot | I I I llll\
Develop coproduction strategy. 1
Agree resource for ;
training/development and ; Co-Pro Patrong elected on to
coproduction coordinator. Growth for Action governance
Develop coproduction raising groups.

awareness plan to get everyone on Virtual solutions for the network

board. Map Co-Pro Patrons listening
Develop coproduction safeguarding spaces and develop feedback
policy. loop into the Network.



How we will know
we have succeeded

Monitoring our strategy

For everything we have said we will do in this plan, we
will create some indicators that we can keep checking
on to make sure we are doing what we have said. We
will make an action plan for each of our stops so we
know exactly how we will do things, and when.

Evaluating whether our plan has had an
impact.

Growth in Action has an overall plan for developing the
service. This strategy should mean that this plan and
the implementation of it is all completely coproduced.
We will continuously review and evaluate whether that
happens, which will let us know whether this strategy
has been effective, or not.




Page 137



Agenda Iltem 8

TORBAY ™7~
Health- Wellbeing
BOARD
Working together for a healthier Torbay
Title: Refreshed Devon Joint Forward Plan
Wards Affected: all
To: Health and Wellbeing On: 7 March 2024
Board
Contact: Jenny Turner, Programme Director, NHS Devon.
Telephone:
Email: Jenny.turner3@nhs.net

Introduction

1. The first Joint Forward Plan (JFP) for Devon was published in July 2023 and is
due to be refreshed for April 2024. Integrated Care Board (ICBs) and their partner
trusts are required to publish a refreshed JFP before the start of each financial
year, setting out how they intend to exercise their functions in the next five years.
This draft is being presented to the Board for consideration and comment, the
final version will be presented to the NHS Devon Board for approval at its
meeting in March 2024.

2. This is a refresh of the Joint Forward Plan for Devon written in collaboration with
partners across our system. It describes how the health and care sector plans to
meet the challenges facing Devon, meet the population’s health needs and the
strategic objectives set out in the Integrated Care Strategy over the next five
years.

3. The JFP (attached as an Annex to this report) reflects the work that is happening
across the wider Devon system, in the health and care sectors and beyond, and
demonstrates how this work aligns with the strategic goals in the Strategy and
how it will deliver the required improvements in health and wellbeing.

4. The Joint Forward Plan reflects an intention to work in collaboration and
partnership to deliver our system ambitions, but it is important to acknowledge
that statutory duties remain with individual organisations. There are some specific
statutory duties that the Integrated Care Board needs to deliver as part of its
statutory function, that must be met through the JFP, and these duties are
incorporated throughout the plan.

5. Development of the Integrated Care Strategy and the Joint Forward Plan was
informed by analysis of extensive public feedback about health and care
(collected across system partners) between 2018 and 2022 and direct
engagement in production the plan with Overview and Scrutiny committees,

QRBAY Page 138 NHS


mailto:Jenny.turner3@nhs.net

Health and Wellbeing Boards and system partners including VSCE and
Healthwatch representatives.

Feedback on the 2023/24 JFP

6. Feedback has been received on the JFP from a variety of sources including Trust
Boards, Health and Wellbeing Boards, senior system leaders and NHS England
(NHSE). Programme leads have been provided with the feedback relevant to
their individual programmes for consideration when refreshing their plans.

7. On the plan overall, it was felt that it was too long, did not link programmes to the
ICS aims, did not create links between the programmes and our overall ambition,
did not articulate priorities and did not explain the difference the plan would make
to the people of Devon. But it did clearly articulate a strategic link to the Devon
Integrated Care System (ICS) objectives and the programme plans were clear.

Refreshed JFP for 2024/25

8. The plans outlined in the JFP have not significantly changed from the version
published in 2023 although the structure of the plan has been amended and the
content reduced in response to feedback.

9. The refreshed plan is structured around three themes/priorities: Healthy People;
Healthy, safe communities; and Healthy, sustainable system.

10.The content of each programme plan has not materially changed from the version
published in July.

11.New content for each programme describes: their key achievements in 2023/24,
what people in Devon will see as a result of the programme and shows which of
the ICS aims the programme supports delivery of. We have removed the
programme detailed action plans and milestones.

12.There is an immediate requirement to recover both the financial and performance
position for Devon to ensure that we have a sustainable system going forward.
This will require improvement in both financial and operational performance,
access and quality of care. All the programmes have outlined both their short-
term objectives to support recovery and system exit from NOF4 and their longer
term objectives to transform the way we work together across our system so that
it is healthy and sustainable in the future.

Recommendations
13.The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:

e Consider the refreshed Devon Joint Forward Plan, and provide comment and
feedback to the Integrated Care Board to support its ongoing development, and

e Endorse the Plan and assure that it takes account of the current health and
wellbeing strategy for Devon.

Page 139



Appendices
Refreshed Joint Forward Plan 2024

Background Papers:
The following documents/files were used to compile this report:

Devon Joint Forward Plan July 2023

Page 140



One ./Devon

DRAFT

Devon 5-Year Forward Pla

T Xipuaddy
g wa)| epuaby

April 2024

#OneDevon



Contents

Foreword

Introduction

Healthy people

Healthy, safe communities

Healthy, sustainable system

Delivering the JFP

Appendices:

2|

Appendix A — universal NHS commitments & legislative requirements

Appendix B — glossary

=
(@)

00}
w

IS

One ) Devon



Foreword

We are excited to publish this refresh of our Devon 5-Year Joint Forward Plan (JFP), which demonstrates a different way of working within the Devon system,
bringing together plans from across different sectors within health and care in response to the One Devon Integrated Care Strategy. Local Authorities and the NHS

have agreed that they will work together and be held jointly responsible for delivering the plan.

The Strategy sets out the key challenges for our Integrated Care System, known as One Devon health and care system, and a set of strategic goals aimed at
tackling these challenges over the next five years. Over the last 12 months, system partners have been working to ensure that they take account of the Strategy in
their planning and delivery of services, in a way that ensures alignment between health and other sectors. The Devon 5-Year Joint Forward Plan brings together the
strategies and plans that are in place or in development across our system, in individual organisations, in collaboratives and in system programmes, into a single

over-arching Plan and has aligned these to the strategic goals set out within the Integrated Care Strategy.

“We are pleased to be able to describe some of the key achievements across Devon that shows how the programmes we are working on together are making a
&iﬁerence for people who live and work in Devon. We should also recognise that the last 12 months have been challenging for public sector services. NHS partners
Mave been delivering plans to support both NHS Devon and partner NHS trusts moving out of segment 4 of the NHS Oversight Framework and Local Authority
'_ng‘artners have been managing their own significant operational and financial pressures. The JFP recognises this context and the need to ensure that our system
U&covery is prioritised in the early years of the Plan and that we earn the autonomy we need to deliver transformational change.

The JFP does not cover everything that we are doing across our system — it includes priorities in areas of wider social and economic importance, such as housing
and employment, as we know that their impact on health and wellbeing is significant, and these are areas where we need to develop our collaborative working.

\}a\\r}ﬁ*&a&\

Sarah Wollaston Steve Moore

One ) Devon

3



To be updated if
requested by H&WBs

Health and Wellbeing Board Opinions

There has been ongoing engagement with the three Devon Health and Wellbeing Boards throughout development of the
Joint Forward Plan. Each of the Boards has submitted a formal opinion on the extent to which the JFP reflects their Health
and Wellbeing Strategy, which is reproduced below.

Torbay Council

Plymouth City Council

Devon County Council

By consensus [Health and Wellbeing
Board] Members resolved that:

the draft Joint Forward Plan takes
proper account of the Joint Local
Health and Wellbeing Strategy;

the minutes of the Board meeting
on the 9 March 2023 will
constitute the response in writing
of the Health and Wellbeing Board
and its opinion in respect of (1).
This opinion has been confirmed as
unchanged in relation to the final
published JFP.

N T 9bed

Plymouth's HWB has been engaged
throughout the process of development
of the JFP and has been consulted,
with the opportunity to raise questions
and highlight potential omissions.

The Plymouth HWB endorses the Plan
and is assured that it takes account of
the current health and wellbeing
strategy for Plymouth. The focus on
inequalities in access and in outcomes
is welcomed, and we look forward to
seeing the shift in resources required to
deliver on this aim.

The Devon Health and Wellbeing Board
has been engaged throughout the
process of development of the JFP and
has been consulted on each formal
draft, raising questions and highlighting
potential omissions.

The DCC HWB is happy to endorse the
Plan and is assured that it takes
account of the current health and
wellbeing strategy for Devon.

4|

One¥\] Devon




One\) Devon

Introduction

Gy T obed

#OneDevon



Purpose of 5-Year Joint Forward Plan

The plan is structured around three themes: Healthy People; Healthy, safe communities; and Healthy,
sustainable system and sets out our vision and ambition for the next five years and describes the

programmes of work that we will be delivering.

This is a refresh of the Joint Forward Plan for Devon written
in collaboration with partners across our system. It
describes how the health and care sector plans to meet
the challenges facing Devon, meet the population’s
health needs and the strategic objectives set out in the
Etegrated Care Strategy over the next five years. This
SFP reflects the work that is happening across the wider

evon system, in the health and care sectors and beyond,
and demonstrates how this work aligns with the strategic
goals in the Strategy and how it will deliver the required
improvements in health and wellbeing.

The JFP brings together many strategies and plans that
already exist or are in development across the system,
including, but not limited to: Joint local health and wellbeing
strategies, Local authority strategies (eg: adult social care
strategies); Local Care Partnership (LCP) objectives;
Provider trust strategies; Provider collaborative priorities,
AHP strategy and our Recovery plan.

The Devon 12 challenges

1.

oghwh

~

10.
11.

12.

An ageing and growing population with increasing long-term
conditions, co-morbidity and frailty

Climate change

Complex patterns of urban, rural and coastal deprivation
Housing quality and affordability

Economic resilience

Access to services, including socio-economic and cultural
barriers

Poor health outcomes caused by modifiable behaviours and
earlier onset of health problems in more deprived areas
Varied education, training and employment opportunities,
workforce availability and wellbeing

Unpaid care and associated health outcomes

Changing patterns of infectious diseases

Poor mental health and wellbeing, social isolation, and
loneliness

Pressures on health and care services (especially unplanned

6|

care) ‘ &
P




One Devon’s Integrated Care Strategy on a page

Our Aims

Our
Strategic
Goals

Equal chances for everyone in Devon to lead long, happy and healthy lives

Improving outcomes in population
health and healthcare

Tackling inequalities in outcomes,
experience and access

Enhancing productivity and value
for money

Helping the NHS support
broader social and economic
development

One Devon will strengthen its integrated and collaborative working arrangements to deliver better experience and outcomes for the people of Devon and greater value for money

Every suicide will be regarded as preventable
and we will work together as a system to make
suicide safer communities across Devon and
reduce suicide deaths across all ages

We will have a safe and sustainable health and
care system.

People (including unpaid carers) in Devon will
have the support, skills, knowledge and
information they need to be confidently involved
as equal partners in all aspects of their health
and care.

Population heath and prevention will be
everybody's responsibility and inform
everything we do. The focus will be on the top
five modifiablerisk factors for early death and
disability

Children and young people (CYP) will have
improved mental health and well-being

People in Devon will be supported to stay well at
home, through preventative, pro-active and
personalised care. The focus will be on the five
main causes of early death and disability.

People in Devon will have access to the
information and services they need, in a way
that works for them, so everyone can be
equally healthy and well.

Everyone in Devon will be offered protection
from preventable diseases and infections.

Everyone in Devon who needs end of life care
will receive it and be able to die in their
preferred place

The most vulnerable people in Devon will have
accessible, suitable, warm and dry housing

In partnership with Devon’s diverse people and
communities, Equality, Diversity and Inclusion
will be everyone’s responsibility so that
diverse populations have equity in outcomes,

access and experience.

People in Devon will know how to access
the right service first time and navigate the
services they need across health and care,
improving personal experience and service

productivity and efficiency.

People in Devon will only have to tell their
story once and clinicians will have access
to the information they need when they
need it, through a shared digital system
across health and care.

We will make the best use of our funds by
maximising economies of scale and
increasing cost effectiveness.

We will have enough people with the right
skills to deliver excellent health and care in
Devon, deployed in an affordable way.

People in Devon will be provided with
greater support to access and stay in
employment and develop their careers.

Children and young people will be able
to make good future progress through
school and life.

We will create a greener and more
environmentally sustainable health and
care system in Devon, that tackles
climate change, supports healthier
living (including promoting physical
activity and active travel).

Local communities and community
groups in Devon will be empowered
and supported to be more resilient,
recognising them as equal partners in
supporting the health and wellbeing of
local people

Local and county-wide businesses,
education providers and the VCSE will
be supported to develop
economically and sustainably




About Devon

Devon is a complex system, with many different

arrangements across deliver functions and geographies.

Elements of the plan are delivered across a range of e Do
Lynton er Devon-wide partners

. . . . . lifracombe

provision including: Lunay | e
. .y . . ealthcare NHS Foundation Trust

« Two unitary authorities (Plymouth City Council and Foua -

Torbay CounCII) samsapie Voluntary, community and
- One county council (Devon), with 8 district councils, Hartond southettn Lttt
121 GP practices, in 31 Primary Care Networks coundt

Excluding Torbay Council and

 Devon Partnership Trust (DPT) and Livewell South Halsworthy

West (LWSW) provide mental health services —
§Four acute hospitals — North Devon District Hospital wis Tust
mand the Royal Devon and Exeter Hospital, both
l;managed by the Royal Devon University Healthcare Livewell Southwest ‘
OANHS Foundation Trust (RDUH), Torbay and South —
Devon NHS Foundation Trust (TSDFT) and University counci ml

23

Hospitals Plymouth NHS Trust (UHP) Kingsri

University Hospitals
- One ambulance trust — South Western Ambulance e i
Service NHS Foundation Trust (SWASFT)

» Dental surgeries, optometrists and community
pharmacies

» A care market consisting of independent and
charitable/voluntary sector providers

« Many local voluntary sector partners across our
neighbourhoods

One ) Devon

8 |



Developing a sustainable future for oo e
health and care in Devon

61T abed,

9

The JFP describes how the Integrated
Care System plans to deliver health and
care services that meet population need
and are sustainable in response to the
Integrated Care Strategy.

The JFP is underpinned by a three key
themes that reflect the system priorities,
and foster conditions for successful
enabling functions.

Each theme is supported by a series of
programme plans that articulate how the
JFP will be delivered in the short,
medium and long-term

The programme plans encompass both
delivery of services and the
requirements to enable success.

aC
@
o
=
<
T
@
o
e
)

Population Health

Primary and
Community Care

Acute Services

Health Protection

Children and
Young People

Mental Health,

Learning Disability
and Neurodiversit

Suicide Prevention

Healthy, safe
Communities

Community
Development

Communications
and Involvement

Equality, diversity

and inclusion

Healthy,
Sustainable
System

Finance and
Procurement

System

Development

Digital and Data

Research,
Innovation &
Improvement

Estates and
Infrastructure

Green Plan

One ) Devon



0GT abed

10 |

Delivering a sustainable future for health and care in Devon

= In order to develop a sustainable future for A[ﬁf‘[][b)ﬁ{tﬁ@[m

the health and care services in Devon, we
need to recover our system, stabilise

services and deliver long term AChievementS ImpaCt

sustainable improvements.

=  Each programme plan describes: OijCtives

* The programme ambition

« The difference the programme will
make to the people of Devon rerorET Improvement
. . . Short term Medium term
* Achievements delivered in 2023/24 Obijﬁcgirﬁi to objectives to
- Short term objectives to improve perfarmence s
performance and reduce costs costs O
(recovery) Transformation
 Medium term objectives to stabilise Longer term
and improve services o s
- Longer term objectives to transform e

services for a sustainable future
v peanaRtE One %Y Devon



Developing our JFP

Delivering our ICS Aims

Each programme highlights which of the ICS aims it supports,

providing a golden thread throughout the plan.
®
A

Recovery is central to our JFP

There is an immediate requirement to recover both the financial
and performance position for Devon to ensure that we have a
sustainable system going forward. Devon ICB and xx of our acute
hospital trusts are in section 4 of the NHS National Oversight
Framework (NOF4). Exit from NOF 4 will require to improvement in
both financial and operational performance, access and quality

Dl_e\velopment of the Integrated Care Strategy and the Joint Forward
Plan was informed by analysis of extensive public feedback about
health and care (collected across system partners) between 2018 and
2022 and direct engagement in production the plan in 2023 with
Overview and Scrutiny committees, Health and Wellbeing Boards and
system partners including VSCE and Healthwatch representatives.
Programme leads have engaged with relevant stakeholders in the
refresh of their plans.

Improving Tackling Enhancing Helping the of care.
outcomes in inequalities in productivity NHS support . .
ST outcomes. and value broader social The JFP includes how_we are appro_achmg system recovery. All the
health and experience for money and economic programmes have outlined both their short-term ObjeCtIVGS to support
- healthcare and access development recovery and system exit from NOFA.
—
—Q
ﬁ%gagement Statutory Duties
a1

The Joint Forward Plan is a system wide plan, which broadly
describes the services we have in place and will develop to meet the
needs of our whole population as set out in the Integrated Care
Strategy. It reflects an intention to work in collaboration and
partnership to deliver our system ambitions, but it is important to
acknowledge that statutory duties remain with individual
organisations. There are some specific statutory duties that the
Integrated Care Board needs to deliver as part of its statutory
function, that must be met through the JFP, and these duties are
incorporated throughout the plan and referenced in appendix A.

11 |

Onet, Devon



To be updated

The System Recovery Programme (SRP) is committed to exiting
NOF4 measures in quarter 1 of the financial year 2024/25

NOF4 exit criteria

Leadership

Criteria

Demonstrate collaborative decision-making in delivering all the SRP exit
criteria at both system and organisational levels, based on the principle of
delivering the best, most sustainable and most equitable solutions for the
whole population served by the system

Strategy

Delivery of Phase 1 of the Acute Services Sustainability Programme.

aEC
Q
Q

Make demonstrable progress towards achieving national UEC objectives, in
line with agreed trajectories, sustained over two consecutive quarters and
have in place an agreed system plan to sustain this improvement.

Achieve the defined expectations of the National Taskforce.

D
E;ective

Pecovery

Make demonstrable progress towards achieving national elective and cancer
objectives, in line with agreed trajectories, sustained over two consecutive
guarters and have in place an agreed system plan to sustain this improvement

Finance

Develop and deliver a short-term financial plan (2023/24) that is signed off
regionally and nationally

Develop an outline longer-term financial plan that shows non-recurrent
balance in 2024/25, and recurrent balance for 2025/26, that has Board
agreement from all Devon organisations

Develop and agree a Capital Plan that is clearly aligned to system strategic
priorities

Estimated Segment 4 Exit Date : Q1 2024/25
Underpinning each exit criterion is a set of agreed metrics and trajectories which form
the basis of the system SRP oversight and performance management arrangements

12|

Delivery Principles — we will find solutions that \
follow these principles:

Seek solutions that work for the system.

No organisation will knowingly create an adverse impact
on another or the system.

Standardise practice and services where it makes
sense to do so.

Focus on cost reduction, cost containment and
productivity improvements

Recognise that participation will be required at system,
locality, neighbourhood, and organisational level on the
priority areas.

Ensure equitable distribution of funding and outcomes
by locality.

Not make new investments that lead to a deterioration
in the underlying position

Consider financial decisions alongside quality, safety
and any impact on patient experience of care.

Share risks and benefits across the system and ensure
they are fully understood by all parties. /

One$]’Devon



Getting the system in balance — NHS recovery

Financial balance is to be achieved through a system recovery programme focussed on operational, system, clinical and intra-organisation transformation

What needs to be achieved

Three-year financial plan linked to activity, workforce, performance:
i+ 2023/24reported position no worse than £42.3m deficit
i+ 2024/25 c.£30m deficit through use of non-recurrent means

How we will achieve this

i« Used the Drivers of the Deficit analysis as the baseline for planning and Cost Improvement Programme
(CIP) expectations aligned to model hospital, GIRFT and regional benchmarks :

Stretched CIPs from 1.3% recurrent cost out to 4.5% (with system schemes in support)

Accelerating the delivery of system-wide shared schemes

Whole system clinically-led and planned transformation — acute through to community/primary care

Intra-organisation wide schemes and redesign

Operational improvement System wide schemes — targeting ¢c.£60m
cost out —to 4.5% reduced run rate by Q4 23/24

i Stretching the delivery of strategic schemes to be delivered
i across the system. This includes shared corporate services,
i peoples services, clinical support services, enhanced

i primary and community services, outpatient transformation,
estates, mew models of care, procurement, digital, CHC,

i allocative efficiency

|‘§"Moving Trust CIP plans in line with :
¥ national expectations of 4.5% cost out,
: through an initial focus on grip and
control measures introduced by

i summer

3 Ll eGSR g VAl System Performance Improvement

and redesign

i Looking to intra-organisation : : Developing system-wide integrated improvement plans

: opportunities in areas such as: !t at pace through two streams of work, prioritised across UEC
i 1. Single system pathways (Shared i and Elective. Initially beginning with key system issues (e.g.

: PTL, integrated pathway : : frailty) and broadening out to support care pathway
management etc.) i demands (e.g. through a surgical strategy):

i 2. Single system ways of working : i1 Integrated collaborative community and social care

: i.e., redesign of group models, P services — working through in sequence frailty, long

single EPR solutions across term conditions, urgent care; and :
: Devon and Cornwall and ¢ 1 2. Networked acute care — through networked urgent care, :
workforce planning. elective, fragile services, virtual :

Activity and Performance

1. The activity required is challenging given the historic position and will require a clear
Devon-wide clinical plan and new ways of working

2. Delivering on the performance position — or improving it further — will require different ways

of thinking about capital, estates, digital etc (e.g. a cold elective site, single PTL, sub-
specialty centres etc) as stated.

Workforce will achieve a net -2% workforce change against the current establishment.

Metric 2023/24 M12 (Planned)
65+ Week waits 2,956
78+ Week waits 0
104+ Week waits 0
A&E 4 Hours 72%
Cancer Faster Diagnostic 76%
System Financial Plan (£42.3m)
Workforce -2%

One$]’Devon



To be updated

Getting the system in balance — local authority recovery

Torbay

Torbay's approach to adult social care is a collaboration Torbay
Council, Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust, and
our VCSEs enabling a comprehensive and focused approach to
enhancing the well-being and independence of our community.
Our integrated partnership aims to strengthen care and support
and is aligned to Torbay's clear strategic vision of maximising
people's choices and enabling them to live a fulfilling life in their
own community. Torbay's vision is supported by system-wide
transformation and guided by the values of the Adult Social Care
Strategy and the Devon 5-year Joint Forward Plan. To support
the accomplishment of our goals, Torbay has key objectives:

= Increasing independence, choice, and control through

and partnership with the VCSE sector and communities.

Hospital discharge, supported by the expertise of Adult
Social Care, is a seamless and personalised transition
aimed at ensuring individuals return home with the
necessary support, reablement, and community

vG1 obed

resources to foster independence and holistic well-being.

Adult Social Care, transformed by data, technology, and
digital improvements, enhances service accessibility,
efficiency, and personalisation, ensuring a responsive
and tailored approach to meet the diverse needs of our
community members.

" Efficiency and innovation ensuring that Torbay's

resources are optimally utilised, achieving better value for

money while maintaining high-quality services and

enhancing the well-being of individuals in our community.

" In embracing these objectives and vision, Torbay
remains dedicated to the continual improvement of adult
social care services, fostering a community where

strategic shaping and oversight of Torbay's market with a
focus on building independence through support for living

14.1

individuals thrive with autonomy, support, and a collective
commitment to well-being.

Plymouth

Plymouth City Council faces significant financial risks,
given the continuing forecast shortfall, uncertainty about
resourcing from central government, the wider economic
environment and the council’s comparatively low levels of
financial reserves. Savings plans totalling £25.8m have
been developed across the authority for 2023/24, with
further work ongoing around future years. The council is
experiencing significant pressures post-Covid with
increasing acuity of need and cost pressures within both
children’s and adult social care.

A recovery and transformation programme is in place for

adult social care, which focuses on a number of key areas:

o Improving access to advice, information and support
to neighbourhoods, through a network of health and
wellbeing hubs, our community capacity builders and
community assist offer

) Early intervention and reablement to provide enabling
support for our most vulnerable and their unpaid
carers

. Focussed review and reassessment programme led
by Livewell Southwest

. Development of new model of care for working age
adults, including targeted work on transition pathways
and specialist housing provision in the city

. Remodelling of our homecare market to deliver a
neighbourhood model, reducing travel across the city,
supporting our net zero carbon agenda

. Reshaping of our existing care home market to
increase specialist dementia capacity

. Supporting providers of health and care to recruit,
develop and retain a workforce for the future through
our Health and Skills Partnership.

Devon

Our overriding focus is to meet the needs of the young, old
and most vulnerable across Devon and we will work closely
with our One Devon partners to support and develop the
local health and care system, to help support the local
economy, improve job prospects and housing opportunities
for local people, respond to climate change, champion
opportunities and improve services and outcomes for
children and young people, support care market
sustainability, and address the impacts of the rising cost of
living for those hardest hit.

With key local partners we will continue to quality assure,
benchmark and improve how we do things so we can
continue to deliver vital local services and improve
outcomes for the people of Devon as efficiently and
effectively as we can with a focus on strengthening
partnerships and evidencing.

Delivery of the savings and improvement programme will
not be easy, but the level of commitment from teams,
working together as one organisation, and the level of
assurance that has been involved in the budget-setting
process, mean that the 2024/25 budget is as robust as
possible and will deliver best value for the people of Devon.

One ) Devon




Our Joint Forward Plan

Our Vision  Equal chances for everyone in Devon to lead long, happy and healthy lives

Our Aims Improving outcomes in Tackling inequalities in Enhancing productivity Helping the NHS
population health and outcomes, experience and and value for money support broader
healthcare access social and economic
development

GGT eﬁeJi

15 |



One\) Devon

Healthy People

9GT abed

#OneDevon

Population
Health

Mental Health,
Learning
Disability and
Neurodiversity

Children and

Young People

and Women’s
Health

Suicide
Prevention

Health
Protection

Primary and
Community
Care

Acute
Services




/GT abed

17 |

Healthy People

Some of our key challenges in Devon relate to
the health and well-being of people.

. We have an ageing and growing population with increasing long-
term conditions, co-morbidity and frailty, the Devon population is
older than the overall population of England we have a
disproportionately small working age population relative to those with
higher care needs.

. Significant inequalities exist across One Devon, with people living in
deprived areas and certain population groups, experiencing significant
health inequalities as a result. People living in more deprived areas
have poorer health outcomes caused by modifiable behaviours
and earlier onset of health problems than those living in the least
deprived communities. This leads to lower life expectancy and lower
healthy life expectancy in these communities, coupled with higher and
earlier need for health and care services. The proportion of the
population providing unpaid care is increasing, with higher levels of
the One Devon population caring for relatives, both the physical and
mental health of carers can suffer as a result.

. The Covid-19 pandemic has changed the pattern of infectious
disease and along with increasing levels of healthcare associated
infections and the risks posed by anti-microbial resistance. These
diseases have disproportionately affected the most disadvantaged and
vulnerable in our society and contribute further to health inequalities.

" Our population experiences poorer than average outcomes in
relation to some measures of mental health and wellbeing.
Suicide rates and self-harm admissions are above the national
average, anxiety and mood disorders are more prevalent, there are
poorer outcomes and access to services for people with mental health
problems.

To address these challenges, we have set the
following strategic objectives:

. Every suicide should be regarded as preventable and we will save
lives by adopting a zero suicide approach in Devon, transforming
system wide suicide prevention and care.

" People (including unpaid carers) in Devon will have the support, skills,
knowledge and information they need to be confidently involved as
equal partners in all aspects of their health and care.

. Population heath and prevention will be everybody's responsibility and
inform everything we do. The focus will be on the top five modifiable
risk factors for early death early and disability

. Children and young people (CYP) will have improved mental health
and well-being
. People in Devon will be supported to stay well at home, through

preventative, pro-active and personalised care. The focus will be on
the five main causes of early death and disability.

. People in Devon will have access to the information and services they
need, in a way that works for them, so everyone can be equally
healthy and well.

. Everyone in Devon will be offered protection from
preventable infections.
. Everyone in Devon who needs end of life care will receive it and be

able to die in their preferred place

One ) Devon



Acute Services

8GT abed

Our Vision

We will work together across our local NHS organisations to deliver high quality, safe, sustainable and affordable services as locally as possible improving
patient outcomes and experience. We will ensure that addressing health inequalities are a focus of all our work and that the whole population of Devon is able to
access the care they need. We will make sure people access the right service at first time through effective navigation around the care system; people with a
care need should be seen by the right professional, in the right setting, at the right time.

What Devon will see

@

@

Services
stabilised in the
short-term with
increased
productivity,
maximised
capacity and
best practice
adopted and
embedded

Reduction in
waiting times for
elective surgery

Services
sustained in the
medium term
delivering high
quality clinical
outcomes for the
whole population
and consistently
meeting agreed
performance
targets

Faster access to
diagnostics

@

Services
transformed in
the longer term
working as one
joined-up system
of services
without
organisational
barriers and
improved equity
of access for all

Increase in
cancers
diagnosed at
stages 1 and 2

@

Improved
A&E
waiting
times and
ambulance
response
times

Easier
navigation
around our
urgent care
system

@

)

Improved
access to urgent
treatment
centres

Increased
working with
services in
Cornwall to
ensure that
together we
deliver the best
possible services
to patients

One ) Devon



Our objectives

Objectives

Year 1-2

Year 3-4 Year 5+

* Improve productivity and efficiency of all acute services through optimising of pathways and developing a common
and shared workforce model
» Reduce the number of long waiting patients for elective care and return to waits of less than 18 weeks by 2027 by
increasing productivity, maintaining high quality services, reducing health in equalities and maximising elective M M M
g-? capacity in Devon.
Q - . .
@ Stabilise acute services that are fragile M
G Transform acute services to ensure workforce, clinical and financial sustainability M M M
S
* Increase diagnostic capacity including Community Diagnostic Centres |
* Increase the percentage of cancers diagnosed at stages 1 and 2 in line with 75% early diagnosis ambition | | ™M
* Improve A&E waiting times so that no less than 72% of patients are seen within 4 hours by March 2025 ™M
* Improve category 2 ambulance response times to an average of 30 minutes by March 2025 |
* Improve effective navigation around the urgent care system including implementation of a care co-ordination hub and 7
spoke model for healthcare professional
» Enhance the role of community urgent care to manage demand for urgent care through Urgent Treatment Centres M M ™M

One ) Devon



What we have achieved in 2023/24

/
/
Number of people waiting /7
over 104 weeks reduced V4
from 167 to O 7/
o 7/
@ Number of people waiting /7
2 over 78 weeks reduced /
o from 1329 to xx Z  Number of
< / people receiving
/ acute elective
/ care Xxx
/
\
\
\
~
~
~ -

- .y
7 N e New 111/out of hour
/ N\ provider in place
/ \ delivering improved call
/ \ performance targets, call
abandonment rate has
/ \ reduced from xx —to xx,
\ clinical call back and
validation rates have
Implemented Clinical \ improved
Co-ordination hub and
spoke model to support \
the delivery of right \
care, first time for
patients. \

One ) Devon



Primary and Community Care

Our vision is to deliver an integrated model of care across our communities to support all people (including carers and families) to be as healthy and
independent as possible in their own homes and able to access the right care when they need it. This integrated health and care offer, which includes primary
care, community services, social care, the independent sector and the voluntary and community sector, will ensure that we meet people’s needs in a way that matters to
them and that supports them to stay living safely at home in their community, retaining their independence for as long as possible, living the life they want to lead.

What Devon will see

People will @ People will be @

T9T abed

@ People will @

experience a
more multi-
disciplinary.
personalised and
strength-based
approach by
services that
focuses on
keeping people
connected and
supported in

@

receive services
that are aimed at
preventing poor
health

People will know
what services

@

able to access
services on the
same day (when
clinically
appropriate)
when they have
an urgent need

People will be
able to have

)

People will be
able to remain
living at home,
independently
for longer

GP practices will
be more resilient
and able to meet

their own are_available i_n access to clinically
communities their community specialist appropriate
and how to support in the demand
access them community
where

appropriate

One ) Devon



Objectives Year 1-2 Year 3-4 Year 5+

+ Wewill develop a collaborative approach to working across communities. By 2025, we will have effective collaborative
mechanisms in place for primary care, community services, voluntary and community services and independent social care |
providers.

+ Wewill have an integrated approach, neighbourhood approach focussed on PCN boundaries. By 2025, we will have developed
integrated ways of working that encompass primary care, community services, mental health, social care, voluntary and community 4|
services and acute services working as part of a multi-disciplinary team to jointly deliver services

By 2025, We will develop our same day services so they can consistently meet people’s urgent needs and avoid emergency
admission to hospital. This includes pro-actively identifying people at high risk of admission, virtual wards, timely access to general |
practice and community pharmacy services, urgent community response, social care support and access to specialist support.

By 2026, each PCN will adopt an integrated, proactive approach, with a focus on prevention and early intervention. PCNs will use
- population health data to support the identification of the people that are most likely to benefit from this approach.

‘8 By 2025, we will have developed consistent, robust pathways for End of Life and falls and frailty, so people are able to access the
(D right, expert input to support them at home. By 2026, we will have developed outreach models to hospital specialists are M
supporting professionals in the community to look after people in their own homes.

c91

By 2026, people will be easily able to understand what community-based services are available and how to access them. By ) ¥
2024, we will have implemented the consistent use of the Joy App by social prescribers across 100% of PCNs.

» A personalised approach will be utilised across every integrated team, prioritising those population groups who will benefit most ) )
from the approach (end of life, frailty and dementia)

By 2028, we will have resilient, sustainable and high-quality general practice which is able to meet clinically appropriate ) )
demand, offer timely access, operate at scale and have a planned approach to managing change.

* We will maximise the potential of pharmacy services; by 2028 we will have increased service resilience and improved patient
access, safety and quality of care.

» Local authorities will meet their Care Act duties by ensuring a sufficient care market ] ™M
* Innovative extra care and supported living schemes will be developed to provide people with greater independence and support | |

them to remain in their own homes
By 2028 the ICB will have commissioned sufficient dental services to ensure all disadvantaged groups have access to a routine | OI Ig E‘ De g ol I

dental check-up, every 24 months for adults and 6-12mths for children, as well as enough capacity to meet demand for urgent care




What we have achieved in 2023/24

—_—
_ - - |
O.- /
- /
/

Increased ability to offer V4

same day care: virtual /

wards established with /7
Q'?zoo plus beds; 97% of GP 9/
(Q practices offering 35% of /7
2 appointments on the day; V4
o an urgent community 7 Primary care admission
W response service offer 8-8, /z avoidance scheme in

7 days a week (variation / place to proactively

across services still to be  » identify high risk frail and

addressed end of life patients for

. MDT review, medication
\ review and referral to
\ support services
N\
~ ~ _ P

7 - = N e Resilience
N\

V4 support
/ \ programme in
/ \ place for GPs
and increase in
/ \ ‘good’ CQC
\ ratings
\
JOY app to support \
people to find services in
the community being used \
by social prescribers in all \
GP practices
\
\

One ) Devon



Mental Health

Work together to improve the mental health of our population by improving care and support for people with mental illness across Devon; we commit
to improving life opportunities for people who have mental ill health. People with mental illness, carers, staff and our communities will co-produce,
lead and participate to deliver our shared purpose; we commit to engage, listen and act with intent and integrity to improve the mental health and
wellbeing for the people of Devon.

What Devon will see

Adults who have
serious mental illness
can get an annual
physical health check,
and, if they need it,
support to improve
their physical health.

9T abed

People of all ages
experiencing mental
health crisis will be
able to get the help
they need as early as
possible without
needing to go to A&E.

@

People of all ages will
have access to 24/7
mental health advice
and support via 111.

People with an Eating
Disorder will get
timely access to more
onward care and
support

More children and
young people will get
access to timely and
co-ordinated mental
health support

People will have a
timely dementia
diagnosis and
planned onward care
and support.

Adults and older
adults with severe
mental illness will get
help with their health
and social care needs
including housing and
physical health as
close to home as
possible.

@

People of all ages
who need to admitted
to hospital for
treatment of a mental
illness will be treated
in a hospital in Devon
whenever it is
clinically safe.

People of all ages who
need mental health
care get treatment
within 4 weeks of
referral.

One ) Devon



Our objectives

1.) More women and families get help early in development of perinatal mental health need (access to increase from 1,115 LTP
target and wait time baseline to be established in 2024/25).
2.) More adults and older adults with serious mental illness will have a complete physical health check which leads on to each
person having a meaningful action plan and access to follow up care as needed (TBC access in 2024/25 and pilot evaluation
and roll out.)
;E.) More people (of all ages) will have access to treatment within 4 weeks (Community Mental Health- establish baseline and
“(gmprovement plan of 10%, increase IAPT access to achieved the LTP target for 2023/24, 32,474) and a larger proportion of M M M
Lsupport will be delivered by VCSE (establish baseline and improvement plan of 10%).
a.) People (of all ages) experiencing mental health crisis will be able to get the help they need as early as possible. In 2024/25
this includes 111 option 2 ‘going live’ (all age), increasing call handling performance for telephony-based service offers (dropped 7 7
calls and hold times) and increasing access to non-ED crisis response services (establish baseline access levels to non-acute
offer and increase access by 10%).
5.) Devon will sustainably eliminate inappropriate out of area bed use for adults and older adults who need hospital admission 7
for acute mental ill health. (zero new admissions by 2024/25)
6.) People will have a timely dementia diagnosis and planned onward care and support (at least 66.7% of prevalence diagnosed 7
and wait times from referral to treatment/ diagnosis in a specialist team will decrease)
7.) More children and young people will have timely, co-ordinated access to NHS funded mental health support care and
treatment including through mental health support teams in schools. (linked to 3. establish baseline, performance improvement ™M
plan and data quality improvement plan)

One ) Devon



What we have achieved in 2023/24

e Dementia Diagnosis:

Over the last 6-months there has been

1]

NHS Talking Therapies: NHS

99T abed

-

-
-

consistent improvement in the number of
people diagnosed with dementia. Devon

- is convening system workshop to develop

Talking Therapies in Devon

a collaborative response to dementia.

,
/

Early Intervention in Psychosis:
services now have a consistent service
specification and across Devon the
national wait time standard is now being
achieved. Together, we are developing a
system approach to the needs of people
who are in an ‘At Risk Mental State’.

\
\
\

Perinatal Mental Health:
Devon is ‘on track’ to achieve
the national ambition for at least
1,115 women and people giving
birth accessing perinatal mental
health support in 2023/24.

service are achieving 101% of the 7/ _ _
planned access level whilst 7 Improving Access for children
recovery and wait times continue /7 and young people: Between
to achieve the national standards. Ve September 2022 and September
/7 2023 8% more children and
/ young people accessed mental
/7 health services.
© f

Physical Health Checks for People /

with Severe Mental Iliness: e ,

Since 2020/21, access to physical )

health checks for people with severe Inappropriate Out 9“ Area Acute

mental illness has grown by 252%. Mental Health Admissions

Whilst Devon remains ‘short’ of the (IOOAP): Na_'uonally IOOAP hgve

target significant and consistent ¥ o~ been increasing over the last six

progress is being achieved.

months, whilst Devon has continued
to achieve significant and sustained
progress towards eliminating IOOAP

One ) Devon



Learning Disability and Autism

The Learning Disability and Autism Partnership reviewed up to 30 different national strategic documents, Acts and legislation that are associated with the system provision
of health and social care for Learning Disabilities and Autistic People (LDAP). As a system we agreed that for our approach to have value and commitment to the people we

serve, we would reduce those strategies to a number of measurable described and defined pledges. Those pledges will be co-owned through an integrated governed
system - mobilised, monitored and overseen in the Learning Disability and Autism Partnership.

What Devon will see

Our vision is that autistic
people get the support and
opportunities they need to lead
full and happy lives. As partners,
we will work to improve services,
reduce waiting lists, support the
removal of barriers for autistic
people of all ages and their
families/carers, through
improving training and
awareness, such as Oliver
McGowan, provision of
meaningful support, assessment
and diagnosis, early
identification and reducing the
reliance on inpatient care
through community services

/9T abed

@ The empowerment of
ople and families to work with
us as partners in making sure
people get the best care and
support possible. We want to
find more ways to bring this to
life in the work of the innovations
we support. Reaching out to
those communities, that are
difficult to engage due to rurality
and culture, hearing more
balanced views and increasing
opportunities to co produce.

@ Opportunities to

increase the number of our
adult working age community
into meaningful employment

A reduction in health
inequalities and improvement in
health outcomes for people with
a learning disability and autistic
people delivered through actions

and learning.

Collaborative working, with
ystem ownership, shared
outcomes and examples of good
practice and innovation, led by
expertise and clinical knowledge
and experience.

@ Housing and
commodation: A new model
of delivery for people with
learning disabilities and autism,
including those with the most
complex needs. Housing-based
needs share five common
principles of providing the best
living environment; a clear
common pathway for delivery;
ensuring better life outcomes
and making best use of financial
resources to create sustainable
housing and services over the
long-term

Golden thread of reasonable
adjustments to access all
services across Devon

One ) Devon



Our objectives

Objectives

Year 1-2

Year 3-4 Year 5+

» Ensure 75% of people aged over 14 on GP learning disability registers receive an annual health check and health
action plan by March 2024 as well as continue to improve the accuracy and increase size of GP Learning Disability 7
registers.
g-? Reduce reliance on Mental Health locked and secure inpatient care, while improving the quality of Mental Health
L% inpatient care, so that by March 2028 (in line with national target) no more than 30 adults with a learning disability ™ ™ ™
. and/or who are autistic per million adults and no more than 12-15 under 18s with a learning disability and/or who are
o> autistic per million under 18s are cared for in an Mental Health inpatient unit
@]
» Test and implement improvement in autism diagnostic assessment pathways including actions to reduce waiting times
by March 2028
» Develop integrated, workforce plans for the learning disability and autism workforce to support delivery of the
objectives set out in the guidance

One ) Devon



What we have achieved in 2023/24

Developing conversations of
9 Complex Needs and the end

N_atlonal commissioning to end pathway associated
guidance on Mental Heath

I ) - with the LDA Inpatient
e =—- - = \ Sherwt():es for At‘)llj.t'f]t'fj pe(()jp_le PASEREN e developmentsr;)and
G - - as been published and IS V4 N\ community delivery. An early
- / being implemented and / \ ambition for a Devon MDT to
- T T—————— V4 overseen by the system . \ work with Complex Autism
e 4 / \ alongside the specialist ASC
admissions for our 7 7 / \ team.
community to 16 well y / e \
o within our national target / BT
2 of 20 for 2023/2024. We , g / | Housing spedialist HAGT \
® continue to focus on / 2 . / commissioned to support the \
: grow 7730. 20 % of ’
= preventative care. 7 this community have / Devon system to think about \
© / successfully / complex and specific housing
/ undertaken annual / needs and required approach \
/ health checks . This is for _sustalnable models of \
/ over our target last year / delivery. _
and we are confident / This will |r_lclude_ the review pf
National Agreement for \ that we will meet our 75 progress in the |mplementat|on
capital investment of \ % by end of year. of new natlo'na’l’ guidance
£20.5 Million to develop a Q \ ’ Shile (5 [EIE GIREEEE
new Mental Health N . / protocol developed by HACT
~ - and the NHSE national team.

inpatient unit specifically ~ -
designed to cater for our _————

LDA community

One ) Devon



Children and Young People and Women'’s Health

Our vision is to create an Integrated System and Care Model for Children and Young People (CYP) that supports all aspects of their health (including mental health)
and wellbeing, for children and their families so that they can make good future progress through school and life. Our work spans from birth, through transition to young
adults. We will ensure that Maternity and Neonatal care is safe, equitable, personalised and kind, delivered through a positive culture of respect, learning and
innovation. We will work effectively in an integrated and equitable way within and across health, care and education and will achieve this by sharing information,
providing access to care, advice and knowledge and adopting a strength-based approach.

What Devon will see

TOv#, Using our collective
resources, we will create,
inclusive, accessible and
sustainable services and
settings where children can
learn and achieve their
potential in life.

0LT eﬁi

%% We will meet the
requirements of the
Core20PLUSS by
proactively addressing
health inequalities,
working collaboratively
with communities and
the voluntary sector to
shift to a child and family
driven approach, ensuring
that safeguarding is a
golden thread.

Iad

We will ensure safe birth
and optimise the first
1000 days of a child’s
life and enable the early
identification of issues
for children.

We will ensure that
transition for young
peopleinto adulthood
and achieving their
potential will be focus for
every relevant pathway.

Our approach will be
informed by joint use of
high-quality data and
information.

ﬂh We will listen to our
communities to truly
understand the needs of
children and young people
and their families, women
and birthing people.

The needs of CYP with
Special Education Needs
and Disabilities (SEND)
are a specific focus for our
health, care and education
system, so that we can
respond effectively to the
weaknesses identified
through inspection and the
challenges experienced by
our children and families.

We will identify and set steps
for improvement within
these key priorities:

1. Waiting list recovery and
transformation: acute and
community

2. Integrated approach to
support vulnerable children
and young people with
Complex Needs

3. Improve women's health
and maternity care

4. Strengthen our data and
intelligence

5. Embed co-productionin all

our work
Onevy; Devon



Objectives — Children and Young People

Year 3-4 Year 5+

« Services for children who need urgent treatment and hospital care will be delivered as close as possible to home. There will
be a recognition on the potential impact and harm for CYP and their families whilst on waiting lists for paediatrics within acute, ¥
community and surgery procedures. By the transformation of pathways to better prioritise the use of clinical capacity, waiting
times will steadily improve across the next five years.
» Through implementation of the neurodiversity offer by, 2027 children and families with neurodiverse, emotional and
communication needs will be able to access services and be supported across health, care and education, preventing crisis
and enabling them to live their best life (incl. wait list recovery for community services).
» Through our work to improve outcomes for children with long term conditions, we are focussing on reducing health inequalities
by understanding differences for our Core20PLUS5 populations. ¥ ¥
» To address significantly poorer outcomes for care experienced children and young people, we will tackle issues affecting
ar'(‘l‘ﬂess and equity of care.
. will fulfil our statutory safeguarding responsibilities under ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children’ (2018) and respond to
trlg local safeguarding children partnership priorities; to ensure that the health needs of all vulnerable children are identified
akg met by 2028.
=
» Family Hub and Early Help models will be developed across Devon ICS and in each local area by 2026, working with Local
Authorities and other key partners to collaborate, identify and ensure a joined-up approach is taken to meet the needs of babies,
children, young people and families across Devon at an earlier stage through a more holistic approach.
* The Special Education Needs and Disabilities (SEND) of children and families will be prioritised across the Devon ICS. SEND
reforms will be embedded across the three Local Authorities to address the weaknesses identified through the Torbay, Devon
and Plymouth Local Area Inspection’s within the mandated timeframes for each local area.
Objectives — Women’s Health and Maternity Year 3-4 Year 5+
* Through a 5 year maternity and neonatal delivery plan, maternity care will be delivered safely and will offer a personalised
experience to women, birthing people and their families. Maternity and neonatal workforce will be inclusive, well trained and fit
for the future. The Core20PLUSS5 approach for women and birthing people will be implemented as part of the core programme.
+ We will work collaboratively with System Partners to establish and deliver responsive, data led, inclusive and accessible services r
to meet the health needs of young girls and women across their life cycle through local implementation of the national Women’s M O ne ‘ Del\lon
Health Strategy. Women’s Health hubs will be developed and implemented across Devon ICS by 2025. 4




What we have achieved in 2023/24

Achieved a
reduction in
waiting times with
no 104+ week
waits for children
and young people
within acute
settings.

2.1 abed

o /
!

Training has been delivered to
over 1000 professionals
around complex trauma and
the effects on
communication and
language development within
two age ranges; pre birth and
the early years and older
children / adolescents.

\

\

N\

N

Co-produced integrated
neurodevelopmental
assessment pathway
(INAP) which, when
launched, will help to make

the request for assessment /
/ clearer and consistent for /
/ referrers including primary
care, education, parents and /
/ young people.
/
/7 /
’ G /
/7 / Special Education Needs
/7 Developed a and Disabilities (SEND)
4 / graduated response in
/ / Torbay has been
implemented across all
that will inform how / schools, helping children
we commission and provide / and families to get the help
SLT services, getting help / and support sooner.
to children earlier.
/
/
5 R
/7
~ - ”’ Over 500 staff are trained
~ - with the knowledge and skills

to care for children with

asthma, with our first

schools achieving

accreditation through the
Asthma Friendly Schools

programme.

By working collaboratively
with a range of stakeholders,
an antenatal education
model has been developed
to provide free, consistent
and evidence-based
information to support
choice for all women,
birthing people and families
in Devon.

to bring
together our key partners
to share, collaborate and
join up our work to better
meet the needs of babies,
children, young people and
families across Devon.

One ) Devon



Population Health

As the Integrated Care System develops, there will be an increasing focus on improving the health of the population: shifting the allocation of resources
from treatment to prevention, increasing access to services and reducing health inequalities. This will require changes throughout all parts of the system
and, in particular, in the way the ICB carries out its roles as both a commissioner and a system convenor and facilitator. These changes will be in

embedded in the ICS development programme as we move to a longer term focus.

What Devon will see

¢/ T obed

@ Devon ICB will lead
system partners to
increase their focus
on population health
and ensure that all
decisions are made
with an
understanding of the
impact on
population health
and health
inequalities

@ There will be a

co-ordinated
programme of work
across all parts of
the system focused
on improving
population health

@

We will improve
the way that we
share and use
data to support
what we do

@

Population
Health Team who
can support
others to deliver
the programme
and share and
learn from their
experiences

Improved
performance

against Core20+5

targets

@ Everyone working in

Health and Social
Care will have the
skills, tools and
knowledge to deliver
change (including
using the PHM
approach)

@ We will work

together as Anchor
Organisations to
support social and
economic
development

One ) Devon



Which ICS Aim(s)

Objectives

Year 1-2 Year 3-4 Year 5+

Our LCPs and Provider Collaboratives will have the support and evidence base they need to deliver
change at local level and will be empowered to make decisions with their populations on an ongoing
basis

Bnsure delivery of Core20+5 deliverables (including adult and CYP) in line with national reporting

@equirements
Emplement co-ordinated prevention plans in priority areas including CVD, diabetes and respiratory
4Bevelop the ICB and NHS partners as Anchor Organisations by March 2025

Support the implementation of new ways of working focused on population health by April 2025

One ) Devon



What we have achieved in 2023/24

e -—- -— =~ ] /7 RN e The multi-agency CVD
- / N\ Prevention Group has
0 - / / \ been established and
-~ - V4 / \ developed a plan which
p 4 / \ will impact significantly

The PHM Programme has V4 on the use of services as

been rolled out with over /z / \  wellas patient outcomes

400 representatives e V4 / \
g joining Action Learning / /  We have worked across \
Q Sets and taking forward /7 / Devon to improve our
c,i implementation of local / response to High Intensity \
S initiatives 7 The Population Health / Use and ensure that we \

/ Improvement Committee / meet the needs of the \
/ has been established to / most vulnerable members
/ ensure that Population / of our population \
/ Health is considered in
all aspects of system /
\ working /
\ /
S /
~ ~ P
~ -

One ) Devon



Health Protection

Protecting our population from preventable diseases, hazards and infections. This is set within the context of new and emerging threats, including
antimicrobial resistance and climate change. Diseases disproportionately impact on our most vulnerable communities. We also know that some
communities in Devon are less likely to access preventative services, and yet are more likely to experience the severe consequences of diseases and

infections.

What Devon will see

9/, T abed

@

Reduced health care
associated infections.
Working collaboratively
across organisational
boundaries, to drive
forward further reductions
in healthcare associated
infection across the whole
system.

@

Effective antimicrobial
use Deliver the UK 5-Year
Action Plan for
Antimicrobial Resistance
(2019-2024) which has a
strong focus on infection
prevention and control..

@ Improve uptake of
cervical & breast
screening Supporting
vulnerable and

underserved populations.

@ Improved vaccination

uptake

Focusing on MMR, the
4-in-1 pre-school
booster and school-
age immunisations and
working to reduce
health inequalities.

@ 100% offer to eligible

cohorts for influenza
and Covid vaccination
programmes Working
to reduce health
inequalities.

@

A system that can respond
to health protection
incidents Pathways in place
for key pathogens and
communities.

One ) Devon



Objectives Year 1-2 Year 3-4 Year 5+

Reduce occurrences of healthcare associated infections (HCAI) (Clostridium difficile (C. diff), methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus ) ¥ )
(MRSA) and community onset community associated (COCA) occurrences of HCAIs

Ensure effective antimicrobial use in line with NICE guidance and the Start Smart Then Focus principles to optimise outcomes, reduce the
risk of adverse events and to help slow the emergence of antimicrobial resistance and ensure that antimicrobials remain an effective ™ ™ ™
treatment for infection

Providers must demonstrate a 100% offer to eligible cohorts for influenza and Covid vaccination programmes — with particular focus on
Devon’s priority populations (CORE20PLUS5) for children and young people (CYP) and adults and aim to achieve at least the uptake M
levels for influenza of the previous seasons for each eligible cohort, and ideally exceed them where applicable.

U
\Riccine coverage of 95% of two doses of MMR by the time the child is five, with particular focus on Devon’s priority populations | o |
(Ere20PLUSS) for CYP
cine coverage of 95% of 4-in-1 pre-school booster by the time the child is five, with particular focus on Devon’s priority populations | o |
(€Qre20PLUS5) for CYP
Achieve recovery of School-aged Immunisation (SAI) uptake to pre-Covid levels, with secondary aim to achieve year on year improvement
in uptake working towards the 90% target as stated in national service specification with particular focus on Devon’s priority populations M M
(CORE20PLUSS5) for CYP
Halt the decline in cervical screening coverage and then to improve uptake year on year towards a goal of 80%, with focus on first invitation ) ) )

and Devon’s priority populations (Core20PLUSS5) for Adults

Work closely with NHS England commissioner to support the delivery of the upcoming national campaign to increase breast screening
uptake and reduce inequalities coverage (NHS England and provider led) with focus on Devon’s priority populations (Core20PLUS5) for | ™ |
Adults

Addressed the commissioning and delivery gaps identified in the 2022 South West Gap Analysis Action Plan Tool for Health Protection
Frontline Services to ensure that Devon has pathways in place for key pathogens and capabilities and can respond effectively to health | ™ |

protection related incidents and emergencies across different communities in Devon «
4




What we have achieved in 2023/24 e

identify GP practices with
lowest coverage for cervical

Excellent uptake in care ¢
9 home residents of flu and cancer screening .
e ——— COVID vaccinations, — Suppor'F packagt.es for targeted
- - ] increased co-administration, 7 S \ woc:k with pJaCt;lces and h
- - / continued focus on / lun e.rser(\j/.e t‘;? o;ts sulc a;
- - vulnerable populations and / \ CEIMINE ClERlollE CETEe e,
- o / inequalities and success in / \
/ outreach accessibility. J 6 \
The Peninsula Antimicrobial /
Resistance Group has been /7 / \
o established. / / West Devon breast screening \
Q 4 / programme has secured new \
Q Reduction strategies are in 4 / static site in central Plymouth -
= place for healthcare associated / will be available Mar/Apr24. \
~ infections across NHS Devon 7 The multi-agency Devon / \
o 7/ Maximising Immunisation / \
/ Uptake Group has been / a
/ established with an initial focus \
/ on MMR uptake. A dashboard / Q
has been developed to review / The GAAP tool has been
\ data at ICS, locality, practice and / . L developed and measures being
\ <chool level. A new school age immunisation taken to strengthen
\ 7 / f;g‘:?:;;;;z‘gs'i;vp;ace across assessmer.mt and treatment
~ P lationshins being built and pathways in qutbreaks across
~ - relationships being bullt an all target settings.
N —, —m - plans in place to improve

uptake across all
immunisations.

One ) Devon



Suicide Prevention

Our vision in Devon is for all suicides to be considered preventable and that suicide prevention is everyone’s business.
The ambition for suicide prevention is to deliver a consistent downward trajectory in the suicide rate for all areas of Devon,
Plymouth and Torbay so that they are in line with or below the England average.

What Devon will see

Suicide
T Partners across @ L @ i @ People bereaved
A prevention is Community by suicide are
@ Devon, Plymouth : y
S considered awareness supported in
and Torbay , L PP
= : everyone’s and skills in compassionate
~ working together ) _ Y
© business suicide d timel
to support ion i e
wellbeing and prevention is manner
build 'g'd increased
U]: suiciae @ Targeted through
Selcl " suicide suicide
communities. : :
revention for
P prevention @ People are
people at most training

supported at

risk of suicide : ..
times of crisis

One ) Devon



Our objectives

Objectives

Year 1-2

Year 3-4 Year 5+

» Local Suicide Prevention Groups to each have a published annual action plan based on the
national strategy which sets out local delivery priorities for the year
» Local Suicide Prevention Groups to report annually on their suicide rates and their annual
Q‘? action plan to their respective Health and Wellbeing Boards
® Local suicide prevention leads to present local suicide prevention action plans and suicide
t rates for whole of the ICS area to NHS Devon Suicide Prevention Oversight Group
o
» Devon ICS to prioritise provision of appropriate suicide prevention training to relevant
workforces and the wider population to continue to expand system knowledge of suicide
and suicide prevention
» Devon ICS to prioritise the ongoing provision of a suicide bereavement service and a real-
time suspected suicide surveillance system, coordinated across the whole of Devon

One ) Devon



What we have achieved in 2023/24

_ - - - ]
q - /
-~ /
/
Local Suicide /7
Prevention action /7
U plans 2023/24 have g/ ’
& been agreed for P
® Devon, Plymouth and /7
§ Torbay 7  Thelocal action plans
7 have been presented
/ to NHS Devon Suicide
/ Prevention Oversight
/ Group and /
\ have/planned to be /
\ presented to Health /
\ . and Wellbeing Boards »
~ ~ - -

-_— e -—

7 RN a In the last 12 months,
/ N\ Suicide bereavement
/ \ support has been
/ \ provided to 364
/ \  individuals and 14
\ organisations
\

Suicide prevention \
training has been \
delivered to 440
people since 15t April \
2023 \

One ) Devon



One\, Devon

Healthy, safe
communities

ommuni

28T obed

#OneDevon



£gT abed

43 |

Healthy, safe communities

Some of our key challenges relate the wider
determinants of health in our communities

. Devon has complex patterns of urban, rural and coastal
deprivation, hotspots of urban deprivation are evident, with the
highest overall levels in Plymouth, Torbay and Ilfracombe. Many rural
and coastal areas, particularly in North and West Devon experience
higher levels of deprivation, impacted by lower wages, and a higher
cost of living.

" Housing is less affordable in Devon, and the age and quality of the
housing stock poses significant challenges in relation to energy
efficiency and issues associated with excess heat, excess cold and
damp.

" Varied education, training and employment opportunities,
workforce availability and wellbeing is impacting on success later
in life for children, the health of our economy and our ability to deliver
high quality, safe services.

" Access to health and care services varies significantly across
Devon, both in relation to geographic isolation in sparsely populated
areas, as well as socio-economic and cultural barriers. Poorer access
is evident in low-income families in rural areas who lack the means to
easily access urban-based services. Poorer access is also seen for
people living in deprived urban areas, certain ethnic groups and other
population groups, where traditional service models fail to take
sufficient account of their needs.

To address these challenges, we have set the
following strategic objectives:

. The most vulnerable people in Devon will have accessible, suitable,
warm and dry housing
. In partnership with Devon’s diverse people and communities, Equality,

Diversity and Inclusion will be everyone’s responsibility so that diverse
populations have equity in outcomes, access and experience.

. People in Devon will be provided with greater support to access and
stay in employment and develop their careers.

. Children and young people will be able to make good future progress
through school and life.

. We will create a greener and more environmentally sustainable health

and care system in Devon, that tackles climate change, supports
healthier living (including promoting physical activity and active travel).
. Local communities and community groups in Devon will be
empowered and supported to be more resilient, recognising them as
equal partners in supporting the health and wellbeing of local people

One ) Devon



Employment

8T abed

Our Vision

Our vision in Devon is to create a supportive and inclusive employment landscape where those facing significant barriers, can access meaningful employment
opportunities and career development. Focused on empowering the most vulnerable groups, including young people transitioning into adulthood, those with
disabilities, mental health conditions, or other health-related employment barriers, and residents from the most deprived communities, we aim to harness the
health and social care sector as an inclusive employment destination. This approach not only supports those in need of assistance but also strengthens our
workforce, ensuring a healthier, more prosperous community for all.

What Devon will see

@

Youth unemployment
reduced: we will see a
significant reduction in
the number of young
people who are Not in
Employment, Education
or Training (NEET),
especially among those
from complex
backgrounds and health
related barriers to
progression, leading to
more young people
transitioning smoothly
into adulthood with
stable careers and
education paths.

Disability and health barriers overcome:
we will see enhanced employment rates and
career progression among individuals with
disabilities or mental health challenges,
reflecting a more inclusive and equitable job
market.

Inclusive employment: we will see
individuals from the most vulnerable and
deprived communities overcoming barriers
to employment, leading to a decrease in
poverty levels and an increase in
community resilience and economic
stability.

@

Inclusive health and
social care
workforce: we will see
a robust and
diversified health and
social care sector, with
a workforce enriched
by the inclusion of
individuals from varied
backgrounds,
enhancing the quality
and accessibility of
care services.

@

Flexible and
appropriate
employment
opportunities for
carers: We will see
unpaid carers
supported to remain
in employment or re-
enter the labour
market.

One ) Devon



Year 1-2 Year 3-4 Year 5+

Objectives

Seek to reduce level of 16-18-year-olds Not in Education Employment and Training (‘'NEET’) in Devon by 1% by 2027

Reduction in number of individuals with a disability or mental health need who are unemployed compared to the national average
by 4% by 2027

ild on resources developed across the local authorities and wider partners to support more vulnerable people into employment, working closely
ith DWP and wider health partners.

‘%npaid carers will be supported to remain in or re-enter employment
|_\

(0]
ol

One ) Devon



What we have achieved in 2023/24

e -- -—- =~ | /7 N a Delivery of additional
- / \ supported internship
c - / / \ provision across the area,
P / / \ with 100 additional
4 placements supported for
Creation of a new p 4 / \ individuals with a health-
‘Talented Me’ partnership V4 / \ related barrier during the
across Devon, refreshing g V4 / \ VYear
g-? joint working around /7 / Engagement with the \
«Q employment, training and / / Carers forum around
® kil for those who are /7 supported employment and \
5 part of the County’s 7/ Joint work with DWP / additional support options \
O corporate parenting / around additional work / \
responsibilities. / coaches and joint working / e
/ around broader youth \
/ employment thl‘.Ol'.Igh.the / .
Youth Hub provision in / Ongoing work between
\ Plymouth and Exeter. / DWP and ICB partners
\ are health and work-
\ / related provision, with a
~ P / focus on additional
~ - provision and capacity in
S = 2024 onwards.

One ) Devon



Devon’s vision is to foster a thriving community through the provision of high-quality, affordable, and sustainable housing. This vision encompasses
improved health outcomes via enhanced living conditions, increased availability of specialist housing for the most vulnerable, greater independence for
the elderly and disabled through suitable housing options, accessible and affordable housing for key workers and the broader population, and a robust
approach to effectively preventing homelessness.

What Devon will see

/8T abed

Support for people
with health
conditions caused, or
exacerbated, by poor
housing conditions:
Residents will benefit
from better health
outcomes due to
improved housing
conditions. This
includes homes that
are warm, dry, and free
from mould, which are
crucial factors in
preventing health
issues.

Increase in the availability of specialist
housing: The availability of specialist housing
will increase, particularly for vulnerable
groups such as those with complex learning
disabilities and autism. This expansion will
include wheelchair-accessible and supported
accommodation, addressing specific needs
and promoting inclusivity.

More people living independently in their
own homes: There will be a noticeable
enhancement in the independence and
quality of life for the elderly and disabled in
Devon. This improvement will be supported
by a range of suitable housing options and
necessary adaptations, located in sustainable
areas.

@

Effective homelessness prevention:
Devon will see a reduction in
homelessness, supported by
comprehensive systems aimed at
addressing the root causes. These
systems will include strong support
networks, providing essential help to
those in need.

An increase in the supply of
affordable and accessible housing:
There will be an increase in high-quality,
affordable housing, including for key
health and care workers and the wider
population in high-demand areas. This
will help address housing affordability

and accessibility issues. V4
une ] Devon



Objectives

Year 1-2 Year 3-4 Year 5+

By 2025, we will establish processes to systematically identify vulnerable groups with chronic conditions such as children

. o . . : : % % %
and young people with asthma, living in substandard housing and direct them to appropriate support services.
By 2028, our aim is to decrease health issues arising from poor housing conditions. This will be achieved by increasing 7 7 7

ﬂrﬂeferrals of those living in inadequate housing to a variety of health, social, and VCSE support services.

‘%y 2025, we will implement processes to identify vulnerable individuals in poor quality housing on admission and

ischarge. This will improve the efficiency of admission/discharge planning and enhance the referral process for M M M
L-Q'dditional support.

@y 2028 the ICS will work to ensure that Local Plans reflect the needs of older people and those with health conditions,
to support the delivery of suitable housing ™M ™M ™M

We will reduce homelessness in Devon, through the implementation of comprehensive support systems, and the
expansion of support services. Specific targets include:

* Ensuring no family stays in B&B accommodation for more than six weeks.

» Achieving a 10% reduction in the number of households in temporary accommodation. ™M ™M ™M
* Increasing the success rate of preventing homelessness by 30%.

» Offering accommodation to 100% of individuals who sleep rough.




What we have achieved in 2023/24

—-—
_ - - |
O.- /
- /
/
Increased the number of V4
households prevented V4
from becoming g V4
g-? homeless by providing 7/
Q temporary /7
2‘ accommodation for /
8 families impacted by the 7 Costof living and fuel
cost of living crisis /7 poverty campaigns have
/ supported residents to be
/ more energy efficient and to
/ access more cost-effective
tariffs for them. /
\ There are various /
\ community support /
\ programmes such as offering »
N warm spaces; community

spaces that are free or very
low cost to access, that are
warm, accessible and
friendly over the winter.

7 - = N a Plymouth is ahead of target
N\ on delivery of net additional

/ \ dwellings (based on the
/ \ local delivery plan), with key
successes around

/ \ affordable homes, and

\  several areas of the city are
\ undergoing renovation to
Torbay has agreed a strategy \ replace poor quality housing

for suitable and affordable with new high quality
housing affordable homes.

\
\

9\

Devon has improved joint
working with district councils
with a focus on care
experienced and rough
sleeping

One ) Devon



Community Development

Communities are strong, resilient, inclusive and connected, where people support one another in an environment that promotes

health and wellbeing

What Devon will see

06T abed

A collaborative
system that
supports the VCSE
and community
groups to maximise
the health and
wellbeing of their
local

citizens through
people led change.

People have

multiple opportunities
to influence the
decisions that affect
their health &
wellbeing - ‘no
decision about me
without me’

A learning culture that
challenges, examine
and reflect on our
community
development practice,
providing
accountability,
reassurance and
protection

@ Community

@

partnerships have
identified their local
priorities and goals

A strategic framework
as an ICS approach
to building

health capacity

in communities

with communities

@ Cross-

sector partnerships
established to enable
collaborative
working

in communities

Community partnerships
will have Identified
existing assets (incl.
networks, forums and
community activities) so
they can harness these to
tackle gaps in local
provision

Communities will have a
greater sense of
purpose, hope, mastery
and control over their
own lives and immediate
environment

One ) Devon



Our objectives

Objectives
Year 1-2 Year 3-4 Year 5+

By 2028, local communities, and particularly disadvantaged groups, will be empowered by
placing them at the heart of decision making through inclusive and participatory processes and
have an active role in decision-making and governance — ‘no decision about me without me’
By 2028, local communities will work in partnership to bring about positive social change by
identifying their collective goals, engaging in learning and taking action to bring about change
for their communities.
By 2028, a community development workforce will be supported, equipped and trained to

) :
agreed standards, code of ethics and values-based practice
By 2028, Local Care Partnerships will have integrated the role of community partnerships into
their infrastructure and planning to ensure the communities of Devon are an equal partner both
at system and local level

One ) Devon



What we have achieved in 2023/24

-—
|
- - -
O.- /
- /
/
Setting up and developing /7
community partnership /7
ginfrastructure and g /
g relationship building /7
L% including co-producing /
plans and activities with /7
IG\D:’the VCSE sector /
/ Devon-wide Community
/ Learning & Development
/ Steering Group set up and
/ co-chairs appointed to
steer, support and report /
\ on the JFP priority /
\ /
\
~ P 7
~ ~ -

- .y
"7~ 0
/ \ Prevention & Health
/ \ Inequalities funding used
/ \ at LCP level to support the
Community Development
/ \ workforce
\
\
\
LCP arrangements in place \
to oversee and deliver the
work at locality level \
\
\

One ) Devon



Communication and involvement

Our Vision

Through inclusive and meaningful involvement, we will work in partnership with Devon’s people and communities so that health and care
services meet the needs of our population. We will champion involvement through a culture of ongoing conversations and collaboration, so
that we act on what we hear and continue to build trusted relationships with a shared purpose

What Devon will see

Good involvement will directly contribute to NHS Devon'’s ability to deliver safe, high quality and efficient services by:

o
g Improving safety, Improving health Better planning and Confidence and trust
D experience and outcomes and reducing decision making m with the public given a
- perfolrmancg thro_ugh ' ;\eallth |:'|equa:lt|gs as the voices pf focus on transparency
O ongoing an (Of‘t"_‘UOUS % » or local popu _at'O“S patients, service users, - = and the provision of
W _feedback and quality l?y unders@ndmg communities and staff = ' 3 clear public information
improvement. B W  lived experiences and are heard and that about vision, plans
designing services that their insights and progress.
meet people’s needs. influence change.
Understanding barriers
to access which impact i
- on the efficiency agd lmprovinq efficfen(y Improving value for ?::IT::\ngesnlsr:(Ti ::- l:vigt?:
@ sustainability of services and sustainability by money and use of NHS sectiong14245(2) of
and work together prioritising resources = resources as people the 2006 Act. which
in solutions to to where they have O\ have the right services e il 4D 4
address them. the greatest impact to meet their needs ; WT G tc:)meet: clan
based on the needs, which reduces the resurt mds:; ?tantua
knowledge and need for further, :O“S fan f, ays to
Improving eXporinnce e additional care V\rr:ﬂsa?rd?;?g;e ‘::)
accou'ntabilit.y'by ‘ of communities. oFtreatment. relationships, trust
ensuring decisions in and confidence
the NHS are transparent between organisations,

d clear to th blic,
patients and staff, el One e, Devon

communities,



Objectives Year 1-2 Year 3-4 Year 5+

Strategic Communications Group - Develop a system approach to communications, working with professionals from all

system partners to support consistent communications, involvement, collaboration, sharing of best practice, and co- M M M
production
Involvement Operational Group - Develop a system approach, working with professionals from all system partners to

;sg.]pport consistent involvement practice, collaboration, sharing of ways of working and resources and genuine co- M

‘%roduction.

HDevelop the One Devon involvement platform to be the single online space for the One Devon Partnership, focussing on
ngagement and involvement with people and communities, including the One Devon Citizens Panel. This will be M M
achieved by ensuring a Local Care Partnerships are all actively using the platform to support local engagement work

Develop an involvement identity to be used by the One Devon Partnership to raise the profile of and awareness of 7 7
involvement activity undertaken by system partners across Devon

Establish Healthwatch Devon Plymouth Torbay as part of NHS Devon ICB governance to enable them to provide
appropriate scrutiny to the ICB involvement work, whilst continuing to provide insight and intelligence to inform decision |
making at all levels of the ICB.

Work with the Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) and the Voluntary Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) sector, to
. e ) . | M ™M
deliver engagement on behalf of the ICB and to provide insights from, and connection to, local people and communities

Work in partnership with JFP programmes by providing expertise and guidance on working with diverse and vulnerable
communities, building a continued dialogue with all people and communities in Devon, supporting delivery of the
principles for best practice co-production, involvement and consultation, and holding the accountability of adherence to 7 O%e V [Yévon
legal duties around involving people and Overview and Scrutiny Committees (Devon, Plymouth and Torbay) ¢




What have we achieved so far?

People and communities' involvement

e 2020: Devon Ethical
-
L L Framework . & s §~
o B & involved 64 people in the P .
o - - g development of an ethical P
- % framework and clinical .
s ¢
- g guidance for Devon. 3
-® - 5,707 people involved ' & 2023: I:Iealthwatch in ¢
s = 2019: Better Births to inform our Long Term Plan 4 Devon's Emergency Y
in Devon for health and care in Devon. | Y Departments .
Involved 2,267 parents ’ ’ Healthwatch spoke to '
to inform our system-wide Y s 511 people attepdmg one
maternity strategy and y ? oLthe fgu.r EDs in Devon Y
service plans. 1 y about their experiences,
g " 2018 - 2020: Happier and Y which services they used b
Q . Healthier Holsworthy ? prior to attending ED, to .
[9) Ps asked 16,000 people to P help people get to the right Y
develop plans for health and services for their needs.
= 2013 - 2020: Health e @ > social care services. V' '
© and wellbeing services o 2 |
ol in Teignmouth and Dawlish L4 2022: Protecting )
16,000 people asked to feedback PN 4 Elective Care m Y
on a consultation on local health PN V' Involving people with )
and wellbeing services. ¢ I lived experience in 23003 Parifsila .
developi lans f : i i
! 6,000 people in the south ’ taecvk?igglcv%i%ﬁgsli;; Acute Sustainability ‘
¥ west helped shape the ’ {6 carain Devion; Programme
2021: COVID-19 vaccinations ' e prodifemgint of & wai Q ¢ Heard from over 300
Involved 1,800 people across Devon from 11.1 HErvice proylder, V 4 people as part of some
diverse communities to understand how to . i pafclentsd b P 2 early engagement to hear
best support them to access the COVID-19 exalldning Brovics . € 2019 - 2022: Citizens Panel fror:; EEOPLQ IWhO have
vaccine, leading to the development of our 4 : - tac! Used Nosplial Services
Vaccine Ambassador programme, bespoke * &y o g O[)nlei\rﬁgza\r(le?gﬁl X)%Ices about the" experiences
support for people with learning difficulties D A . - i tat 4 lidiveei) to help |nform futurg plans
and shaping our apporach to inclusion in all -mm e Y around hospital services
g oo informing multiple pieces of in the Peninsula.
: work across

the system.

One ) Devon

55|



Equality Diversity and Inclusion

NHS Devon will be a great place to work where staff will feel valued and have a strong sense of belonging. As an organisation we will
champion diversity as our route to innovation and improved performance. We will tackle health inequalities by working hand in hand with
local populations and our partners to understand barriers to care and designing services that have the needs of everyone at their core

What Devon will see

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) are essential components of effective health and social care.

Good EDI practices ensure that services meet people's needs, give value for money and are fair and
accessible to everyone. EDI means people are treated as equals, get the dignity and respect that deserve,
and differences are celebrated. Some specific benefits also include:

961

Improving innovation and value
for money

Improved workforce recruitment
and retention
* An inclusive working environment, -

Improving health outcomes and
reducing health inequalities
* Equality and diversity help us

* New perspectives and different o
ideas that come from a diverse @
workforce support innovation.

* Diversity results in better decision
making and therefore improves
financial performance,

» Efficient services that better meet
peoples’ needs and keep people
in good health can reduce the
need for costly and prolonged care
further down the line,

that encourages everyone to bring
their own ideas forward helps
employees feel valued, appreciated,
and encouraged.

Building our reputation

Equality and Diversity ensures we
meet the aims of the Public Sector
Equality Duty (PSED) of the Equality
Act 2010 which in turn builds trust
with local communities and helps
build our reputation as a positive
and inclusive place to work.

W

overcome barriers to care so we can
design services that meet the needs
of everyone.

Inclusive services provide better
outcomes and experience and
therefore help to tackle

health inequalities.

Delivering better care

When staff feel valued with a sense
of belonging, they are likely to
provide better care to patients.

One ) Devon



Objectives Year 1-2 Year 3-4 Year 5+

Develop inclusive approaches to recruitment that encourage diverse populations to work for NHS Devon so that we can
build a more diverse workforce that is reflective of Devon’s local population with an initial focus on race and ethnicity (4%

to 8%) LGBTQ+ (1% — 3%) and people with a disability (5% — 20%). This will build a culture where our people feel
valued, heard and able to be their best selves at work
Continue to support our leaders to champion the benefits of equality and diversity and represent EDI at a Board,

Executive and Senior Leadership level

Work with HR to further develop an NHS Devon Staff Network that is representative of our communities with a focus on;
%oviding peer support for our colleagues. Creating a reference point when undertaking inclusion initiatives. Seeking
support and resourcing with campaigns

Bentify opportunities through the NHS Devon governance review to embed EDI to ensure we are learning and
@veloping through an EDI lens through the Organisation Change process

ﬁe EDI programme will celebrate diversity, raise awareness of discrimination, and involve our staff and communities on
the EDI priorities that develop through our work. We will do this through targeted and effective integrated M M M
communications opportunities.

Through an involvement campaign, ensure staff recruited via the International Recruitment Hub, are well supported in

their roles and deliver a campaign that celebrates our diverse workforce, tackles racism and builds cohesion in the M M
community

Deliver inclusive involvement in collaboration with the People and Communities Strategy to support the ICB and ICS key
aim of tackling inequalities in outcomes, experience and access.

As part of the Organisation Change Programme deliver inclusive Recruitment training to Executives, Senior Leadership

Team and recruiting managers to ensure people are aware of their biases when recruiting to their teams.

As a system, work collaboratively to agree shared EDI priorities and work collectively on achieving a shared vision, with (h-le " Bev n
an initial focus on the six high impact actions in the NHS England EDI Improvement Plan. 4 ?




86T obed

58 |

What have we achieved so far?

Equality Diversity and Inclusion

o

©

2021 - 2022: Covid-19

Vaccination Outreach

- -
--- ----aaa Programme and - X
- ] & Parliamentary Award
- - % Set up to tackle lower uptake V3 A
- - Recognising the strategic P and vaccine hesitancy among rs L )
L d June 2021: alignment between EDI and diverse and vulnerable groups. ’ june 2023 L )

Nous Review involvement, NHS Devon’s # the programme saw these = Launch of NHS Y

The system-wide Nous Review EDI function was integrated 7 (ommunmc«‘Lo—dougnmg /(‘,"“Q ’ England EDI plan s

was commissioned in response into the communications and ’ services and "Vacanation Q—ﬁ;z rF

to feedback from staff involvernent department Ambassadors’ <h"mp'0""‘9 s A

about racism, discrimination 4 take-up. The scheme was cited ’ L)

and unconscious bias: #s 3 as a national exemplar by the

29 recommendations were 2 4 Cabinet Office and won the ’ charp '

supported by health leaders P national Parlkamentary ? A year-long celebration .

|.,_’dp;: $o.8 chanaa tn : P Award for Health Equity. and awareness campaign Y

appfo:(h t;\ EDI gnd forming 0 @ ’ marking significant cultural

the 'oundauons'of this y @ s’ events throughout the year, |

¢ s ’ such as Black History Month Y

Sratony L 4 and Pride.

# july 2022: NHS Devon’s ’ .
L 4 . c
P Board diversity ’ August 2023
& Equality work during the ’ Launch of NHS
S pandemic and a targeted Devon Equality and

2022: Involving diverse ? recruitment campaign was July 2022: Relaunch DwerSInZl Strategy
communities across Devon followed by a notable increase of the Devon-wide ;0 '"f':lH;?EOUKO";?" |
The campaign sought to 5 in applications from people Ethnic E li o nglan
understand how services could be g from diverse backgrounds for DI Equanty EDI improvement
improved for people from diverse the Integrated Care Board's Network plan
backgrounds. What do you want \ Non-Executive Director roles. NHS Devon invested in
health and care to know about ‘ :dm!hr\lstratvve EUW:':
you? launched online and led to o or the ':‘e‘wg'd tol e'p
involvement work at festivals such “ = :;:‘:’3" and develop its

as Pride and Respect

=
.----.‘

One ) Devon



One\) Devon

Healthy, sustainable system

66T obed

#OneDevon



One\) Devon

Healthy,
sustainable &=

Finance and
Procurement

Research and
Innovation Green Plan

Infrastructure
and Estates

#OneDevon



TOg abed

61 |

Healthy, sustainable system

Some of our key challenges relate to how we
work together as a system

. There is an immediate requirement to stabilise the financial position
and recover activity, to improve operational performance, access and
guality of care. In order to achieve both, we need to transform the way
we work together across our system so that it is healthy and
sustainable in the future.

. The financial challenge facing all our health, social care and
wellbeing partners is significant. Lower salaries and higher housing
costs, with rising bills for energy, fuel. food and other costs in the One
Devon area will increase the impact of the cost of living crisis. People
and communities already experiencing higher levels of poverty will be
disproportionately affected.

. Climate change poses a significant risk to health and wellbeing and is
already contributing to excess death and illness in our communities,
due to pollution, excess heat and cold, exacerbation of respiratory and
circulatory conditions and extreme weather events.

. An older age profile and more rapid population growth in Devon,
coupled with the impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic and current ‘cost
of living’ crisis, are contributing to increased demand for health and
care services. The greatest increased demand is for unplanned care
and mental health services, with those living in disadvantaged
communities and clinical vulnerability likely to be most severely
impacted.

To address these challenges, we have set the
following strategic objectives:

. We will have a safe and sustainable health and care system.

. People in Devon will know how to access the right service first time
and navigate the services they need across health and care,
improving personal experience and service productivity and efficiency.

. People in Devon will only have to tell their story once and clinicians
will have access to the information they need when they need it,
through a shared digital system across health and care.

. We will make the best use of our funds by maximising economies of
scale and increasing cost effectiveness.

. We will have enough people with the right skills to deliver excellent
health and care in Devon, deployed in an affordable way.

. Local and county-wide businesses, education providers and the VCSE

will be supported to develop economically and sustainably

One ) Devon



Finance and Procurement
Our Vision

A financial framework that supports integrated and collaborative working arrangements, through the Devon Operating Model, that will deliver
better experience and outcomes for the people of Devon and greater value for money. We will enhance every patient experience through
delivering maximum value and the best quality service through our collective procurement and supply chain excellence.

What Devon will see

20z abed

Recurrent balanced
financial position by
2025/26.

With a financial

framework that:

* supports collaborative
working

* reflects the Devon
Operating Model and
delegation of budgets
to LCPs and provider
collaboratives.

* promotes innovative
funding models and
pooled budget
arrangements.

@

@

Movement of
funds into
prevention.

A commitment to
shared services,
doing things once for
Devon or the wider
Peninsula where it
makes sense to do
So.

@ Patients will see the
healthcare services
they need are delivered
on time and of the best
quality.

@ Clinicians will be
equipped with the
goods and services
they need to deliver
world-class care.

@ Taxpayer will see the

NHS is achieving value for
every pound spent and
delivering government
priorities such as
sustainability, NetZero
and eradicating modern
slavery.

@ Suppliers will find the

NHS is easier to do
business with, with
opportunities to develop
more innovative solutions
to meet NHS and
government challenges

One ) Devon



unich (cs Aims) _J i

Objectives Year 1-2 Year 3-4 Year 5+
Implement agreed shared service arrangements to increase efficiency and productivity and reduce costs
Delivery of 2024/25 recovery and Cost Improvement Programmes both organisational, strategic
collaborative, and structural
Commence reprioritisation of funding upstream towards prevention and health inequalities
Take on formal delegation of specialised commissioning functions
-dPeliver corporate ICB right-sized for RCA (Running Cost Allowance) allocations
o : : : : : :
u(gDellver the long-term financial plan to achieve sustainable financial balance by system and by
porganisation
¢Reduce total procurement cost by driving ‘at scale’ procurement delivery; enabling greater efficiency and
effectiveness through the potential to standardise and minimise unwarranted variation
Improve supplier management by increased collaboration to leverage scale and value attained through
our supplier base through a single voice for categories

One ) Devon



What we have achieved in 2023/24

—-— - -= " = ] /7 N a Development of system-
c - / /7 N\ wide interpretation of the
- ‘ R A R
- / \ drivers of the deficit’ to
-~ , /7 / \ underpin future recovery
. \
Development of improved /7 /
collaborative working, /7 / \
intra system financial g 7 / \
g-? framework, contracting 7 / Development of long-term \
L% and risk sharing protocols / / financial plan, trajectory to
N / recover and sustainable \
/ where system-wide shared / S-year scenario range \
/ service arrangements /
/ should be developed / \
/ /
\ /
\ /
N\ . _ /
~ ~ -

One ) Devon



Estates and Infrastructure

To ensure that our estates and infrastructure are fit for purpose and located within the right places.

What Devon will see

o @ A redeveloped the @ A community @ A roadmap for estates @ Estates and
g acute hospital services and and facilities activity to facilities expertise
o) estate through the mental health reach Net Carbon working in
N funds available via estate with more Zero by 2040 collaboration
S the New Hospital specialist services across the ICS to
AGIEITITE outside of the Estates and facilities ensure efficiency,
traditional hospital @ contracts that leverage skill sets and joint
setting buying power for delivery
providers on behalf of programmes
the ICS remain optimal

@ Development of
the primary care

to integrate @ One Public Estate
primary care with opportunities are
community service maximised

developments

One ) Devon



Which ICS Aim(s)

Objectives Year 1-2 Year 3-4 Year 5+
Undertake strategic review of the ICS-wide health estate
Develop an investment plan and a five-year capital prioritisation pipeline
Develop a cross-matrix team that can support the delivery of estates and facilities at an ICS-wide level
geliver a public facing ICS Estates Strategy
:&ategorise all of the estate into ‘core, flex and tail’ and agree strategies for each site or development
Spportunity

Prioritise funding allocations while taking advantage of national funding review outcomes and TIF
funding

Integrate provider service departments where possible to create resilience, efficiencies and succession
planning

Commence delivery of the implementation plans that shall support each area of the Estates Strategy

One ) Devon



What we have achieved in 2023/24

_—__-_N
-
—-—

)

Completed data set 9 /
for all assets in 4
Devon y

10¢ abed

/ Production of the
estates capital

pipeline to 2030 /

/ / \ Mobilisation of the

/ \ system sustainability
/ \ agenda
\
\
\

Production of the \

system infrastructure \
strategy \
\

One ) Devon



System development

The Integrated System Development Programme aims to strengthen integrated and collaborative working in One Devon, to
enable partners to implement innovative ways to collectively tackle our shared challenges improving the access to effective
health and care for people in Devon.

What Devon will see

@ System Partners will @ An innovative approach to reset the way we work together and apply @ An |r_|creased role f.or
£ collectively own the delivery of learning will fundamentally change mindsets and improve the outcomes provider pollaboratlves -
@ the Programme, and experience for people across Devon. As a result the Programme undertaking some
N actively involving communities will primarily support recovery of services and care in the short term functions currently
8 and people with lived and achievement of the overarching strategic goal outlined in the perfc_)rmed by t_h? ICB and
experience, and 5-Year Integrated Care Strategy: making b(_atter joint use of
will adopt five core principles - — total provider capacity.
to underpin all of our work
together: @ One Devon will @ By 2026/7 we will have: adopted a
strengthen its integrated single operating model to @ An increased role for
« Learn by doing and collaborative support the delivery of health and Local Care Partnerships —
- Prioritise and implement working arrangements to care across Devon and will bringing partners together
« Shared purpose deliver better experience have achieved thriving ICS status. at ‘place’ to improve
+ Trust & collaboration and population health and
. System focus outcomes for the people reduce health inequalities.

of Devon and greater
value for money.

One ) Devon



Objectives Year 1-2 Year 3-4 Year 5+
» astrong shared purpose across system partners, Local Care Partnerships and provider
collaboratives will support delivery of our Devon Plan achieving thriving ICS Maturity Assessment
standards
© levels of trust and collaboration between system partners, Local Care Partnerships and provider - - -
) ) : ) - - :
« collaboratives will have increased achieving thriving ICS Maturity Assessment standards
re a ‘learn by doing’ approach will be embedded within our culture of improvement achieving thriving
o :
© ICS Maturity Assessment standards
» system partners, Local Care Partnerships and provider collaboratives will be consistently
implementing priorities achieving thriving ICS Maturity Assessment standards
» aunified system focus will be demonstrated by all system partners, Local Care Partnerships and
provider collaboratives achieving thriving ICS Maturity Assessment standards

One ) Devon



What we have achieved in 2023/24

Developed LCP V4
governance 7/
structures, g V4

Y agreed priorities 7/

@ and joint delivery /7
around UEC /

Peninsula Acute
/ Provider
/ Collaborative
/ has undertaken
/ service reviews
around front
\ door services for
\ Medicine,
\ Surgery and
~ Paediatrics.

0T =be
\

~ -

-_— e -— -

- .y
7 N e The Mental Health,
N\

V4 Learning Disabilities and
/ \ Neurodiversity Provider
/ \ Collaborative has led

MHLDN priorities for the

/ \ system.

\
| | \
Primary Care Provider \
Collaborative has
been established and \
is forming its \
partnership working
and development \
priorities. \

One ) Devon



We will have enough people with the right skills to deliver excellent health and care in Devon, deployed in an affordable way.

What Devon will see

o @ Innovative and @ Our Devon 2035 @ Our One Devon @ L s e colebratvet o ey
. . s - ystem work collaboratively to enable our

8 effective solutions workforce vision Workforce % working workforce to move flexibly across sectors
o) that enables the brought to life and Strategy Themes and create new I""."s to meet the needs of
N attraction, informing strategic and Principles . the population and services.
[ERY . . e T We stabilise the workforce by supporting
= recruitment and workforce embedded into 94s  Stability new and diverse career pathways for our

retention of talent planning which will workforce current and future workforce.

H i H Learning & We commit to investing in the workforce
across our health identify new roles plan_mng and . through enrichment of development
and care and ways of service ) opportunities ensuring that quality and
providers, working, informing transformation 1 P safetyis at forefront.

. . We utilise digital technology to support
redu_cmg O_UI’ t?‘Ient Supply and dellvery & Digital innovation and transformation to our
dupllcatlon and plpellnes with ¢ 7 workforce and across all services we
streamlining national, regional - deliver.
processes. and local training

& education %

providers

One ) Devon



Which ICS Aim(s)

Our objectives

Objectives Year 1-2 Year 3-4 Year 5+
o
Q) . . . _ . .
% Objective 1 - Strategic workforce planning embedded at System level. 7
B * Objective 2 - System level attraction solutions in place that source new talent and position Devon System
as an employer of choice. M
* Objective 3 - Development of new roles and new ways of working embedded across Devon ICS. M

One ) Devon




What we have achieved in 2023/24

-— —-—
_ - - |
O.- /
- /
/
One Devon Workforce V4
Strategy developed and V4
launched setting out g 7/
9-? Devon 2035 workforce 7/
@ vision and supporting /
themes and delivery /7
s principles 7 One Devon have designed
/ and built a Strategic
/ Workforce Intelligence &
/ Forecasting Tool (SWIFT)
/ to enable workforce
planning to be completed
\ across providers and at
\ System level. Due to go
N\ live in 23/24 Q4 for health

~ providers and 24/25 for
™~ pc/sc providers

o= Ty
/7 N e Devon careers page
/7 N\ launched to promote
/ \ Devon health and care
/ \ system career

opportunities.
\

\ wmou designed and on
track to be launched 23/24

Work in progress and on \ Q4 enabling mobility of
track for 5-year future workforce across Devon

workforce numerical plan health providers.
to be published end of \
23/24 Q4 for health
providers. \
\

One ) Devon



Digital

Our Vision

Through investment we will make the most of advances in digital technology to help people stay well, prevent ill health, provide
care, better support our staff in their roles and enable the delivery of sustainable, effective and efficient services. People will only
tell their story once, First contact will be digital where appropriate and more advice and help will be available online.

What Devon will see

v T abed

W

Digital Citizen:

Empower citizens to

take ownership of

their wellbeing and
care, through digital

technology and

contact across the
system. Digital will

offer new ways of

delivering care to help
citizens manage their

care at home.

@

@@

25

©
@

e}
[ur}
o)

Electronic Patient
Records (EPR) &
Operational Systems: The
convergence to common
digital solutions that meets
the information sharing and
workflow needs of the
various organisations
across the ICS.

Devon and Cornwall Care
Record (DCCR): DCCR
will allow information to be
available across care
settings and coordination of
care through specific
functionality such as
read/write for key flags and
care plans.

R\ Ve
Y
(]

Business
Intelligence &
Population Health
Management: A
cross-system
intelligence
function to support
operational and
strategic
conversations, as
well as building
platforms to enable
better clinical
decisions. This will
necessitate linked
data, accessible by
a shared analytical
resource that can
work on cross-
system priorities.

@

11

Unified and Standardised
Infrastructure: Levelling-up and
consolidation of infrastructure, to
support future enterprise scale digital
systems such as Shared EPRs, digital
technologies for citizens and also agile
and frictionless cross-site working and
support experience for the workforce.

One ) Devon



Our objectives

Year 1-2 Year 3-4 Year 5+
24/2510 25/26 ~ 26/27to 27/28  28/29+

Objectives

=  Number of eligible citizens connected to the NHS App increased to support national target of 75% of people registered by 2024. M
= Standardisation of GP practice websites achieved within 2025.
= Achieve planned Virtual Ward bed targets by April 2024 across the TSDFT, UHP and RDUH
= EPRsimplemented in TSDFT and UHP by 2026
. %ninsula PACS solution for the clinical network procured and implemented by 2025
. Iﬁninsula LIMS solution for the clinical network procured and implemented by 2025
. Ig(-al-procurement of GP EPR clinical system by 2024
* Remaining core health and care organisations connected to the Devon and Cornwall Care Record by 2028
= Additional functionality of the Devon and Cornwall Care Record scoped and implemented by 2028 M M M
= Develop PHM architecture and reporting by March 2025 M
= Develop an ICS data platform and associated reporting, linked to EPR implementation and national developments including the
Federated Data Platform by 2026 & &
=  Work collaboratively with regional ICS teams to develop the regional secure data environment to support future research M
= Data centre rationalisation subject to business case approval M M M
= Non-pay contract savings ™M




What we have achieved in 2023/24

v Digitising Social Care
programme performed
higher than the national

e ——— -~ P ~“ o Q average and expected to
- | / \ hit target of 80% care
0 - - / / \ home and domiciliary
- / care providers with a
- / \ digital social
y gital social care
v ICS Devon developed /7 / \ TEE@IE _
‘GP in the Cloud’ 7 / \ 4 Suk;:cessfullyl/tblfd f(()jr_
: cyber security funding
_Uremo_te working g ’ / \ v" Successfully bid for
solution for GP locums /7 / v" DPT procured and \ funding t Cvirtual
@ short-listed for a HSJ /7 / imp|emented an Vtmrdmg Oiritlpforrv'r e
award / / Electronic Patient \ teitinsg, F;gm o?e care
|C_D\Devon and Cornwall 7 v Early business case Record. \ monito,ring and digital
Care Record - 7 completed for IT services / v' TSDFT and UHP \ neighbourhoods
hosplces ConneCt6d1 / target Operating model I achieved Sign'Oﬁ of OBC
first tranChe_ o_f_care / v Early business case / for a new Electronic \
homes/domiciliary care / completed for IT Shared Patient Record
providers connected Semies Beclk / v Business case
\ v Digital TEP developed in / completed on expanding
\ DCCR and in pilotstage the Icapab'i"?/ andf
\ X implementation o
N 7 Robotic Process
~N -~ - Automation within the
_—— ICS.

One ) Devon



Research and Innovation
Our Vision

We will work together to promote research and innovation to enhance the productivity of the Health and Care System, strengthen
how we attract and retain our workforce and increase inward investment into the system. By doing this we will improve population
health, prevent ill health and reduce inequalities. As we develop as a system we will spread research, learning and innovation into
other rural and coastal regions in the UK and globally.

What Devon will see

jLY)
2 @ -

research engaged i @ o s
G @ Increased collaboration workforce with an An increased Rapid implementation
N between health and : ) evidence base on of interventions with

increased level of skills hat k
= social care and : what can make demonstrated
~ _ and an understanding of an impact in effectiveness
academic partners the benefits of research improving

across the South West
Region to increase
opportunities for
research and
innovation and make
best use of shared
assets. This will include

and how everyone can
participate

Increased inward

population health,
preventing illness
and reducing
inequalities.

@ Increased alignment
of research and
innovation activity with
the priorities of the
health and care

i i . tem with ifi
streamlined processes investment from @ Increased patient and syste a specific
for governance and the research and bli S focus on population
innovation pipeline commercial public participation in health

' all stages of the
partners

research pathway

~ne$/ Devon



Objectives Year 1-2 Year 3-4 Year 5+
Build and strengthen networks at local, system, regional and national level by March 2025 M

Promote research and increase patient sign-up with demonstrable increase by end 2026 | |

Ensure all system workplans are underpinned by robust evidence of research and innovation by March 2025 |

Eevelop capacity and capability by having an ICB RIl Team in place by April 2024

‘%evelop underpinning structure and governance mechanisms including evaluation and links to Value-Based Approach principles by end of March

\o3

=
(00]

[«

One ) Devon



What we have achieved in 2023/24

We developed a Devon

 m——— T~ -~ ~ e Research Strategy and
- - | / 7 \ shared this with CIOS and
o - / \ Somerset. A delivery
- = / / group has been set up as

- 7 / \ part of the PRIP to

We developed a Peninsula /7 / \ Implement the strategy

Research and Innovation 7/ / \ and Strehngtl;ien our

Strategy with partners /7 / \ research an
Y development
gy across the South West 7/ / \  nirastier
Q Peninsula and agreed 5 /7 / We completed phase 1 of Infrastructure.
c:) priority “missions” to / , tl\Tet Reskearch Engagement \

focus our work /7 : etwork programme
B / \é\/:sseztrgﬁ;:g AL / (REN1) which helped us to \

/ Innovation Partnership / e OUt. IS5 LT e \
/ to support collaborative il I el eoulel ge: \
Ki q / more involved in Research
/ working an The PRIP i / and successfully bid for
; . unding to take this
\ il REN? funding fo ake
: : f d
\ impact in the way we / orwar
\ work and plan 7
~ ~ P
~ -

-_— e -— -

One ) Devon



We will create a greener, fairer and more environmentally sustainable health and care system in Devon, that adapts to and
mitigates climate change and promotes actions to create healthier and more resilient communities

What Devon will see

0zz abed

@

A system that
plays a significant
contribution to the

@

A workforce that
understands the
Green ambitions

@

Data collection
that shows the
current position

A programme
tracker for each
NHS organisation

NHS target to of Devon ICB and across all partners in Devon to
achieve net zero knows how it can enable an
emissions by 2040 make an active understanding of
with an interim contribution. @ A revised and performance and
target of 80% refreshed ICS risk areas.

reduction by 2028-
2032.

A system that
buys locally where
possible and
promotes the
Devon Pound.

Green Planin
2025.

One ) Devon



Which ICS Aim(s)

ClalEeEs Year 1-2 Year 3-4 Year 5+
More Devon ICB staff will make greener journeys to work.
g J y
-Bevon ICB will be a paper free organisation by 2028
<
Nylore products and services are bought locally promoting the concept of the Devon Pound across the
S and its partners

One ) Devon



What we have achieved in 2023/24

e -- - \‘ /7 RN e Additional grant funding
- / N\ from NHSE to promote the
0 - / / \ Green Agenda in Devon.
-
- / / \
g / \

Mobilisation of an ICS- / / \

wide working group 4
-g consisting of all the Trust g 4 / _ \
Q Sustainability and Energy 4 / An external review of Trust, \
< ' / ICB and ICS obligations
@ Managers with P / : \
N consultancy support to / with a summary output of
ﬁ stimulate collaboration 7 An executive level mar_1dat_ory and statutory \

and to start on agenda / training session for the / obligations alongside \

alignment. / system Estates / guidance of what is

4 Directors who in NHS expected from each NHS \
I/ Devon typically hold / organisation within the
accountability for the / ICS.
\ Green Plan work /
\ /
S /
N~ ~ P
~ -

One ) Devon



One\) Devon

Delivering the Joint Forward Plan and
future development

gze obed

Delivering the plan in 2023/24
Devon Operating Model
Governance

Outcomes framework

#OneDevon



Delivering the JFP

Delivery

The JFP will be delivered through system architecture that includes:

. Primary care networks and collaboratives

. Local care partnerships

. Networks

. Provider collaboratives

. System level transformation programme boards

Assurance

Outcomes framework will be used to monitor progress towards the strategic goals

The System Recovery Board will drive delivery of the recovery plan

Delivery of work programme milestones will be monitored through system programme infrastructure
Progress towards delivery of ICS strategic goals will be overseen by the System Management Executive and will report to
the One Devon Partnership

System development will be measured through the ICS maturity framework

Engagement

. Targeted engagement by programmes with people and communities

Annual refresh

. On-going work with system partners and programme leads to refresh each year

y¢g ofeg * *

84 |

von



Accountability

Our Aims

Our Strategic
Goals

Delivery
Programmes

Enabling
Programmes

Partnership

NHS Devon/
Local Authorities/
Programme
Boards

Equal chances for everyone in Devon to lead long, happy and healthy lives

Improving outcomes in population
health and healthcare

Every suicide will be regarded as preventable and
we will work together as a system to make suicide
safer communities across Devon and reduce
suicide deaths across all ages

We will have a safe and sustainable health and
care system.

People (including unpaid carers) in Devon will
have the support, skills, knowledge and
information they need to be confidently involved
as equal partners in all aspects of their health and
care.

Population heath and prevention will be
everybody's responsibility and inform everything
we do. The focus will be on the top five modifiable
risk factors for early death early and disability

Children and young people (CYP) will have
improved mental health and well-being

People in Devon will be supported to stay well at
home, through preventative, pro-active and
personalised care. The focus will be on the five
main causes of early death and disability.

Women and
Children

Mental health, learning
disability and neurodiversity

System Development Workforce

Tackling inequalities in outcomes,
experience and access

People in Devon will have access to the
information and services they need, in a way
that works for them, so everyone can be equally
healthy and well.

Everyone in Devon will be offered protection
from preventable diseases and infections.

Everyone in Devon who needs end of life care
will receive it and be able to die in their
preferred place

The most vulnerable people in Devon will have
accessible, suitable, warm and dry housing

In partnership with Devon’s diverse people and
communities, Equality, Diversity and Inclusion
will be everyone’s responsibility so that diverse
populations have equity in outcomes, access
and experience.

Acute Services
Sustainability

Primary and
Community
Care

Finance and
Procurement

Estates and
Infra-structure

Digital and
Data

Housing

Enhancing productivity and
value for money

People in Devon will know how to access the
right service first time and navigate the
services they need across health and care,
improving personal experience and service
productivity and efficiency.

People in Devon will only have to tell their
story once and clinicians will have access to
the information they need when they need it,
through a shared digital system across
health and care.

We will make the best use of our funds by
maximising economies of scale and
increasing cost effectiveness.

We will have enough people with the right
skills to deliver excellent health and care in
Devon, deployed in an affordable way.

Community
Development
and Learning

Communicatio
ns and
Involvement

Research,
Innovation &
Improvement

Employment

Equality,
Diversity and
Inclusion

Helping the NHS support
broader social and economic
development

People in Devon will be provided with
greater support to access and stay in
employment and develop their careers.

Children and young people will be able
to make good future progress through
school and life.

We will create a greener and more
environmentally sustainable health and
care system in Devon, that tackles
climate change, supports healthier
living (including promoting physical
activity and active travel).

Local communities and community
groups in Devon will be empowered and
supported to be more resilient,
recognising them as equal partners in
supporting the health and wellbeing of
local people

Local and county-wide businesses,
education providers and the VCSE will
be supported to develop

economically and sustainably

Health
Protection

Suicide
Prevention

Green Plan Population

Health




ICS outcomes framework

The framework is available via an interactive
dashboard with ‘drill down’ ability to highlight
inequalities and drive local action

It offers of breakdowns of information at three ICS
‘tiers’ (system, LCP and PCN), two local authority
‘tiers’, and inequalities (socio-economic, geographic,
personal characteristics, clinical factors)

& aligns with other frameworks (NHS, public health,
‘@dult Social Care Outcomes Framework, health and
Wellbeing board)
o
Some narrative (qualitative) measures
Ongoing co-design process with strategic
commissioning partnership to ensure fitness for

purpose

Flexibility in terms of addition of new indicators

86 |

Admissions Following Accidental Fall
Deaths in usual place of residence
Total Carbon Emissions (kt CO2)

NHS and LA Attributable Carbon
Emissions (kt CO2)

Deaths attributable to air pollution
Index of Multiple Deprivation
Access to Community Facilities

Rough sleepers per 1,000
households

Average house price to FT salary
ratio

Households in temp accommodation
Supply of key worker housing

Fuel poverty

One Devon Cost of Living Index
Community/Business investment
Experience of navigating services
Waiting Times

Support from local organisations to
manage own condition

Digital exclusion risk index (DERI)
Unified digital infrastructure

Indicators

Healthy Life Expectancy at birth

Gap in Healthy Life Expectancy at
birth

Under 75 mortality rate from
preventable causes (persons <75yrs)

Global Burden of Disease: Top 10
Causes (DALYs) and Top 10
Modifiable Risk Factors (DALYS)

Children achieving a good level of
development at the end of Reception

16-17 year olds not in education,
employment or training (NEET)

Employment of people with mental
illness or learning disability

Workforce diversity (employment
profile vs Devon by EDI
characteristics)

Uptake/coverage of local authority
Carer Support Services

Unpaid Carers Quality of Life

Carers Social Connectedness

MMR vaccine uptake (5 years old)

Flu vaccine uptake (at risk individuals)

Covid-19 vaccination rates

Children and young people accessing
mental health services

Coverage of 24/7 crisis MH support
Suicide rate
Social Prescribing Uptake Rates

Access to CYP eating disorders
services

Avoidable admissions for ambulatory
care-sensitive conditions

Patient Activation Measures

Access to dentists / pharmacy /
optometry / primary care

Vacancy Rate for ICS Organisations
Financial sustainability

Unified approach to procurement and
commissioning

Community
empowerment/volunteering

One ) Devon



Who is responsible
for what? To be

Governance updated

=  Who is responsible for what — functions and decisions map to follow

= How is the journey going to be managed — system approach to
transformation programme management

= Devon operating model
= How we will know it has delivered?

. One Y Devon



One\) Devon

APPENDICES

8¢e obed

#OneDevon



One\) Devon

APPENDIX A
Universal NHS commitments
Statutory Duties

6¢¢ obed

#OneDevon



Nation

Urgent and emergency
care

al NHS objectives 2023/24

Improve A&E waiting times so that no less than 76% of patients are seen within 4 hours by March 2024 with further improvement in 2024/25

Improve category 2 ambulance response times to an average of 30 minutes across 2023/24, with further improvement towards pre-pandemic levels in 2024/25

Reduce adult general and acute (G&A) bed occupancy to 92% or below

Community health

Consistently meet or exceed the 70% 2-hour urgent community response (UCR) standard

services

Reduce unnecessary GP appointments and improve patient experience by streamlining direct access and setting up local pathways for direct referrals

Primary care

Make it easier for people to contact a GP practice, including by supporting general practice to ensure that everyone who needs an appointment with their GP practice gets one within two weeks and those who
contact their practice urgently are assessed the same or next day according to clinical need

Continue on the trajectory to deliver 50 million more appointments in general practice by the end of March 2024

Continue to recruit 26,000 Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS) roles by the end of March 2024

Recover dental activity, improving units of dental activity (UDAS) towards pre-pandemic levels

Elective care

Eliminate waits of over 65 weeks for elective care by March 2024 (except where patients choose to wait longer or in specific specialties)

Deliver the system- specific activity target (agreed through the operational planning process)

Cancer Continue to reduce the number of patients waiting over 62 days
o Meet the cancer faster diagnosis standard by March 2024 so that 75% of patients who have been urgently referred by their GP for suspected cancer are diagnosed or have cancer ruled out within 28 days
QD Increase the percentage of cancers diagnosed at stages 1 and 2 in line with the 75% early diagnosis ambition by 2028

Diagno%cs Increase the percentage of patients that receive a diagnostic test within six weeks in line with the March 2025 ambition of 95%
L\.a Deliver diagnostic activity levels that support plans to address elective and cancer backlogs and the diagnostic waiting time ambition

Materniﬁ Make progress towards the national safety ambition to reduce stillbirth, neonatal mortality, maternal mortality and serious intrapartum brain injury

Increase fill rates against funded establishment for maternity staff

Use of resources

Deliver a balanced net system financial position for 2023/24

Workforce

Improve retention and staff attendance through a systematic focus on all elements of the NHS People Promise

Mental health

Improve access to mental health support for children and young people in line with the national ambition for 345,000 additional individuals aged 0-25 accessing NHS funded services (compared to 2019)

Increase the number of adults and older adults accessing IAPT treatment

IAchieve a 5% year on year increase in the number of adults and older adults supported by community mental health services

\Work towards eliminating inappropriate adult acute out of area placements

Recover the dementia diagnosis rate to 66.7%

Improve access to perinatal mental health services

People with a learning

Ensure 75% of people aged over 14 on GP learning disability registers receive an annual health check and health action plan by March 2024

disability and autistic
people

Reduce reliance on inpatient care, while improving the quality of inpatient care, so that by March 2024 no more than 30 adults with a learning disability and/or who are autistic per million adults and no more than
12—-15 under 18s with a learning disability and/or who are autistic per million under 18s are cared for in an inpatient unit

Prevention and health

Increase percentage of patients with hypertension treated to NICE guidance to 77% by March 2024

inequalities

Increase the percentage of patients aged between 25 and 84 years with a CVD risk score greater than 20 percent on lipid lowering therapies to 60%

Continue to address health inequalities and deliver on the Core20PLUS5 approach




ICB core functions and statutory duties

Our NHS statutory duties How we will meet our duties

Describe health services the ICB
proposes to arrange to meet needs

Duty to promote integration

Duty to have regard to wider effect of
decisions

Implementing any JLHWS

Financial duties

T
jab)

«Q
Dﬁli?}/ to improve quality of services
w

=

Duty to reduce inequalities

Duty to promote involvement of each
patient

Duty to involve the public

Duty to enable patient choice

o1 |

This Joint Forward Plan broadly describes the health services we have in place, and will arrange, to meet the needs of our population as
set out in the Integrated Care Strategy. Each year we also produce an Operating Plan that provides more detail about the planned
performance of services.

The Joint Forward Plan is an integrated system-wide plan that encompasses a wide range of programmes that will contribute to improving
the health and wellbeing of people living and working in Devon. Each programme describes how system partners are working together to
deliver joined up services.

The Joint Forward Plan is a system-wide plan to meet the aims and strategic goals set out in the Integrated Care Strategy. The strategy is
overseen by the One Devon Partnership which will have the remit to ensure the full consequences of any decisions made are und erstood
There are three Health and Wellbeing Boards in Devon and we have worked closely with all three to ensure that their prioritie s are reflected
in this plan.

The national financial framework sets requires a collective responsibility to not consume more than the agreed share of NHS resources.
Slides 37- 42 outline how we plan to achieve system balance.

Everybody has the right to feel safe and have confidence in the services provided across Devon. We are committed to securing continuous
improvement and will ensure that our services are of appropriate quality and that we have robust mechanisms in place to intervene where
guality and safety standards are not being met or are at risk. We have developed robust metrics to measure the impact of the plan through
our outcomes framework and have a performance and quality reporting function in place. Our Chief Nursing Officer provides exe cutive
leadership for oversight of quality across our system.

One of our system aims is ‘tackling inequalities in outcomes, experience and access’ and two of our strategic goals focus on the top five
risk factors and causes of death and disability. A third strategic goals explicitly states that we want ‘everyone to have an equal opportunity
to be healthy and well’. To achieve this the delivery programmes outline how they will contribute to reduce inequalities, particularly in
relation to Core20PLUSS5 and, in line with the 2022 Armed Forces Bill, with regard to serving military personnel, reservists, veterans and
their families. To support this work, the Population Health enabler programme has been developed.

We are committed to promoting personalised care across all the services we deliver across our organisations. Our approach outlined in the
strategic goal ‘People in Devon will be support to stay well at home, through preventative, proactive and personalised care’. Specifically,
the Primary and Community Care programme describes how it will use the comprehensive model of personalised care to deliver this
ambition.

Our Working with People and Communities Strategy sets out our principles for involving local people. The communications and
involvement enabling programme outlines how we will support delivery leads to ensure people and communities are involved in a
meaningful way.

We support patient choice in our commissioning plans in a number of ways. These include expanding the use of personal budgets through
our personalised care commissioning and the use of the Devon Referral Support Service (DRSS), which supports patient choice at the
point of referral into secondary care.

v



ICB Core Functions and Statutory Duties

Our NHS Statutory Duties How we will meet our duties

We ensure that we obtain appropriate advice throughout the development of plans. This includes from: clinicians (both local and through
regional networks), NHSE (regional and national), the South West Clinical Senate and legal advice. Obtaining advice is particularly
important to us in our delivery of transformation. Our system approach to delivering the JFP means that relevant partners are included on
our Programme Boards and are able to influence and give advice as appropriate, this includes police, housing, education and p ublic health.
We work closely with the South West Academic Health Science Network to ensure we are cognisant of innovation and best practice. The

Duty to obtain appropriate advice

Duty to promote innovation Research and Innovation enabling programme has been developed to ensure all delivery programmes are supported in the delivery of this
duty.
We work closely with the South West Academic Health Science Network to ensure we are cognisant of research and best practice and that
Duty in respect of research we promote research within Devon. The research and innovation enabling programme has been developed to ensure all delivery

programmes are supported in the delivery of this duty.
Our Joint Forward Plan has three strategic goals related to education and training including — school readiness, supporting people to
: .. _access and stay in employment and ensuring we have people with the right skills within our system. The Children and Young people
Dugy to promote education and training deliver ¢ his whilst th | d workf bli line how th il h
& ery programme focuses on this whilst the employment and workforce enabling programmes outline how they will support these
o ambitions.
Our Green Plan enabling programme outlines our clear commitment to successfully deliver targets for all local authorities to be carbon
neutral by 2030 and the NHS by 2040.
A(%aressing the particular needs of Our plan includes two specific strategic goals on children and young people and the children and young people delivery programme
children and young people outlines the wide programme of work.
Serious violence has a devastating impact on lives of victims and families, instils fear within communities and is extremely costly to society.
NHS Devon has a domestic abuse and sexual violence (DASV) strategy that outlines actions to improve the health response to victims and
perpetrators who are staff or patients in Devon. Over the last two years much has been achieved (eg: a network of DASV champions,
Addressing the particular needs of robust DASV policies, commissioning of an Interpersonal Trauma Primary Care service, due to commence in April 2023). Locally,
victims of abuse compliance with the Duty with be monitored through the Safeguarding and Vulnerable People Steering Group, which will report quarterly to
the Quality and Performance Committee and updates regarding Duty activity will be included in safeguarding reports to the System Quality
and Performance Group.
The case study on slide 30 shows how the ICS is working collaboratively to progress this important agenda.

(9] .
Dyiy as to regard to climate change etc

One ) Devon

92 |



One\) Devon

APPENDIX B
Glossary

&b

d

cge ob

#OneDevon



Glossary (A-C)

Abbreviation Meaning

= Accident and Emergency

A&G Advice and Guidance

ABCD Asset-based-community-development
ACE Adverse Childhood Experience

ACS Ambulatory Care Sensitive

A-EQUIP model Advocating and Educating for Quality Improvement
AHC Annual Health Checks

AHSN Academic Health Science Network
Y Antimicrobial resistance
N A pplied Research Collaboration
NCEE A dditional Roles Reimbursement Scheme
A A dult Social Care
RN Bed and Breakfast
I B by Friendly Initiative

Body Mass Index

Best Practice Timed Pathway

C. diff Clostridium difficile

2C Clinician to Clinician

GAS Clinical Assessment Service

CFO Chief Finance Officer

C2C Continuing Healthcare

CiC Community Interest Company
S N HS Cornwall and Isles of Scilly
N Cost Improvement Programme
N community learning and development
VN Chief Medical Officer
eIV Community onset community associated
The most deprived 20% of the national population PLUS the 5 ICS chosen population groups experiencing poorer than average health access, experience and/or
outcomes that may not be captured in the core 20.
N Continued Professional Development
(ol Care Quality Commission
N Clinical Referral Guidelines
I Clinical Research Network
D Community Services Data Set

S N computerised tomography
EN Care and Treatment review
- Community Urgent Care
YD Cardiovascular disease
9Chi|dren and Young People




Glossary (D-I)

Abbreviation
DASV Domestic abuse and sexual violence

DCCR Devon and Cornwall Care Record

Dementia Diagnosis Rate

DMBC Decision-Making Business Case

DNA Did Not Attend

DOS Directory of Services

DPT Devon Partnership NHS Trust

DSR/C(E)TR Polic Dynamic Support Register (DSR) and Care (Education) and Treatment Review C(E)TR policy
Department for Work and Pensions

=T Evidence-Based Interventions

e search engine that uses the advertising revenue from searches to plant trees

Emergency Department

Equality, diversity and inclusion

Sl = ducation, health and care plan

Emergency Healthcare Plan

Energy Performance Certificate

elPdR Electronic Patient Held Record

EOR Electronic Patient Record

E2RR Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response

E.CIA Equality and Quality Impact Assessment

ERE Elective Recovery Fund

G&A General and Acute

SR Getting it right first time national programme, designed to improve the treatment and care of patients through in-depth review of services
N Healthcare company focused on saving lives and improving health by pioneering new technologies for early cancer detection
Haemoglobin Alc (HbAlc) test measures the amount of blood sugar (glucose) attached to your haemoglobin
Healthcare associated infections

== Health Education England

= Higher Education Institution

Health Inequalities

Human Resources

EV/ NN High Volume Low Complexity

AN Health and Wellbeing Board

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies

T-N | ntegrated Care Board (NHS Devon)

T (ntegrated Care Partnership (One Devon Partnership)

T (ntegrated Care System (One Devon)

e - I Tclemedicine service providing 24/7 NHS video-enabled clinical support for care homes nationally

Individual Placement Support

o[Ver TN ntegrated Urgent Care Service




Glossary (J-N)

e Job Centre Plus
=N Joint Forward Plan
TN Joint Local Health and Wellbeing Strategy

JOY app Real-time directory and case management tool that enables GPs and other health and social care professionals to easily refer into local services, helping to create a
more joined-up system for service users.

YN Joint Strategic needs Assessment

R | c2rning and Development

Local Authority

Local Care Partnership

Learning Disability

Learning Disability and Autism

Learning Disabilities and Autistic People

ML | <2 ning from Lives and Deaths (People with a Learning Disability and Autistic People)
M= | ocal Enhanced Services

M=oy | < shian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer (sometimes questioning) plus other identities included under the LGBTQ+ umbrella
Laboratory Information Management System

LMNS Local maternity and neonatal system

LQS Length of Stay

LF A Local Planning Authorities

Long term condition

_Long Term Plan

MDT Multi-disciplinary team

Making every contact count

Mental Health
VY \Viental Health, Learning Disability and Neurodiversity
VRS \iental Health Support Teams in Schools model
Maternity Information System
VY- \ieasles, mumps, and rubella

Magnetic resonance imaging

Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus

Maternity Support Worker

No criteria to reside
== ot in employment, education, or training
N \ e Hospitals Programme

NHS England
N \ HS England and NHS Improvement
N \ ational Institute for Health and Care Excellence
NN \ HS Oversight Framework / NHS Oversight Framework segment 4
National Occupational Standards

National Partnership Agreement



Glossary (N-S)

Abbreviation

NPDA National Paediatric Diabetes Audit
NSS Non-site specific

Ofsted Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills

ONS Office for National Statistics

Outpatient

OPFU Outpatient Follow Up

ORCHA Organisation for the Review of Care and Health Apps
OSC Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Picture Archiving and Communication System
Peninsular Acute Sustainability Programme
Paediatric/Children’s assessment unit
eI P re-Consultation Business Case

Primary Care Network
= P ublic Health England
I Population Health Management
IV P atient-Initiated Follow-Up

Property Service
Patient tracking list

Research, improvement and innovation
Real time continuous glucose monitoring
Referral to Treatment

SABA inhalers Short-acting beta agonists

SN S chool-aged immunisation

improvement

S same Day Emergency Care
S S ocial Emotional Mental Health
S special Educational Needs
S special Educational Needs and Disabilities
S scnior Executive Team
SN system Improvement Assurance Group

SreXes NI S urgery in Children Operational Delivery Network
SN speech and Language Communication Needs
SR speech and Language Therapist
SRS Specific; Measurable; Achievable; Realistic; Timebound

97 |

Royal Devon University Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust

SCORE Culture surveys Anonymous, online tool that can be used to gain insight into a team’s safety culture to help the team identify strengths and weaknesses and start to drive genuine

One ) Devon



Glossary (S-2)

Abbreviation
SOP Standard Operating Procedure

SRM Supplier Relationship Management

SRP System Recovery Programme

STAMP Supporting Treatment and Appropriate Medication in Paediatrics

STOMP Stopping overmedication of people with a learning disability, autism or both

Suicide Safer Communities https://www.every-life-matters.org.uk/suicide-safer-communities/

SW South West

SWAHSN South West Academic Health Science Network

SWAST South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust
THRIVE The THRIVE Framework for system change is an integrated, person-centred and needs-led approach to delivering mental health services for children, young people
and their families.

G Tech Innovation Framework
O T argeted Lung Health Check Programme
o R Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust
(VR Urgent Community Response
(U7 Unit of Dental Activity

U=C Urgent and Emergency Care

x University Hospitals Plymouth NHS Trust
UK Health Security Agency

Value-Based Approach

Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise
Virtual Ward

=V orkforce Race Equality Standard

One ) Devon

08 |


https://www.every-life-matters.org.uk/suicide-safer-communities/

Agenda Item 12

RISK REGISTER AND ISSUES LOG

TORBAY HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD

Version: 1.0
Date: 11 September 2023

Authors: Julia Chisnell, Anne Hawley, Hannah Murphy

Sponsor: Lincoln Sargeant (Director of Public Health)

Risk Register Torbay Health & Wellbeing B&%age 239 Page 1 of 3



Risk Register

The purpose of this document is to record the receipt and current status of relevant programme risks.

Risks identified should present a risk to delivery of key strategic objectives of the Board, for example through delays to

implementation of an area of the Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy.

Definitions of impact

1 Minor — minor impact on timing or delivery of a key strategic area
2 Moderate — moderate impact on timing or delivery of a key strategic area
3 Significant — significant impact on timing or delivery of a key strategic area
4 Major — major impact on timing or delivery of a key strategic area
T
Q
(@)
D .
n  Open Risks
D
© o
Organisations /
= S 3 § b mdmdua_tls Current
z _ _ a = 8= _ _ tasked with Status
X Risk Description £ | Owner = . Resolution to Manage the Risk action to o
9 03 =iy th pen
x o =) ez e e Closed
1 risk
4
Torba Ensure all projects successfully complete. Torbay Council
No further funding to support the Healtr?/& Engaging
1 Torbay Digital Inclusion Network 4 Wellbein 01/06/2022 01/04/2023 Continuation of the Network at a reduced communities South Closed
(DIN). Board 9 scale on a voluntary basis. West
Risk that he |CB decision to stand- Torbay organisations o engage wih the Devon | Torbay & South
2 down and/or d_e!ay Fhe wqu of the 3 Health .& 29/06/2023 13/09/2023 ICB and wider Devon partners to mitigate Devon foundation Open
Devon-wide digital inclusion group. Wellbeing - . . ;
Board the risks and identify appropriate Trust
opportunities to coordinate digital inclusion

Risk Register Torbay Health & Wellbeing Board Page 2 of 3




Risk Register Torbay Health & Wellbeing Board

Page 3 of 3

Organisations /
S S 3 @ b individuals Current
Z o o= g2 tasked with Status
x Risk Description (S Owner Il = Resolution to Manage the Risk i
L= all= LT action to open
= 0 < 5 manage the
14 o a> A Closed
1- risk
4
o Delays the delivery of the local at an appropriate scale.
“digital citizen enablement”
strategy (shared with TSDFT)
e Reduces opportunities to work
coherently at scale across Devon
e Delays or reduces the benefits of
other digitally-enabled services
Opportunistic funding is identified, and Engaging
Torba bids are developed and submitted by DIN Communities South
The voluntary approach to the Torbay Healthy & partners in collaboration. West
L&) Digital Inclusion Network (DIN) is 3 | 01/04/2023 13/09/2023 Open
: Wellbeing . . . .
] unsustainable. Board Individual projects deliver against the
w Network’s and Health & Wellbeing Board’s
(b)) objectives.
N
D
=




	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Devon, Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Health Protection Annual Assurance Report 2022/23
	Peninsula Health Protection Annual Assurance Report for 2022-2023

	6 Torbay Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
	JHWS Appendix 1 - data report
	JHWS Appendix 2 - MH training
	JHWS Appendix 3 - Healthy Ageing Torbay
	JHWS Appendix 4 - MCN coproduction

	8 Joint Forward Plan Update
	Draft Joint Forward Plan 2024
	Slide 1: DRAFT  Devon 5-Year Joint Forward Plan   April 2024
	Slide 2: Contents
	Slide 3: Foreword
	Slide 4: Health and Wellbeing Board Opinions
	Slide 5: Introduction 
	Slide 6: Purpose of 5-Year Joint Forward Plan
	Slide 7: One Devon’s Integrated Care Strategy on a page
	Slide 8: About Devon
	Slide 9: Developing a sustainable future for  health and care in Devon
	Slide 10: Delivering a sustainable future for health and care in Devon
	Slide 11: Developing our JFP 
	Slide 12: The System Recovery Programme (SRP) is committed to exiting NOF4 measures in quarter 1 of the financial year 2024/25
	Slide 13
	Slide 14: Getting the system in balance – local authority recovery
	Slide 15: Our Joint Forward Plan 
	Slide 16: Healthy People
	Slide 17: Healthy People
	Slide 18
	Slide 19
	Slide 20
	Slide 21
	Slide 22
	Slide 23
	Slide 24
	Slide 25
	Slide 26
	Slide 27
	Slide 28
	Slide 29
	Slide 30
	Slide 31
	Slide 32
	Slide 33
	Slide 34
	Slide 35
	Slide 36
	Slide 37
	Slide 38
	Slide 39
	Slide 40
	Slide 41
	Slide 42: Healthy, safe communities
	Slide 43: Healthy, safe communities
	Slide 44
	Slide 45
	Slide 46
	Slide 47
	Slide 48
	Slide 49
	Slide 50
	Slide 51
	Slide 52
	Slide 53
	Slide 54
	Slide 55: What have we achieved so far?
	Slide 56
	Slide 57
	Slide 58: What have we achieved so far?
	Slide 59: Healthy, sustainable system
	Slide 60: Healthy, sustainable system
	Slide 61: Healthy, sustainable system
	Slide 62
	Slide 63
	Slide 64
	Slide 65
	Slide 66
	Slide 67
	Slide 68
	Slide 69
	Slide 70
	Slide 71
	Slide 72
	Slide 73
	Slide 74
	Slide 75
	Slide 76
	Slide 77
	Slide 78
	Slide 79
	Slide 80
	Slide 81
	Slide 82
	Slide 83: Delivering the Joint Forward Plan and future development  Delivering the plan in 2023/24 Devon Operating Model Governance Outcomes framework 
	Slide 84: Delivering the JFP
	Slide 85: Accountability
	Slide 86: ICS outcomes framework
	Slide 87: Governance
	Slide 88: APPENDICES 
	Slide 89: APPENDIX A Universal NHS commitments  Statutory Duties
	Slide 90
	Slide 91: ICB core functions and statutory duties
	Slide 92: ICB Core Functions and Statutory Duties
	Slide 93: APPENDIX B Glossary
	Slide 94: Glossary (A-C)
	Slide 95: Glossary (D-I)
	Slide 96: Glossary (J-N)
	Slide 97: Glossary (N-S)
	Slide 98: Glossary (S-Z)


	12 Risk Register

